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COMMITTED TO CREATING BETTER LIFE

Eof 4R R E A

Each city is full of energy and alive,

growing, buzzing with activity like a hive.

La dolce vita, we shall be thy source,

and nourish industry with bountiful resource.
Our diversified products reduce everyday strife,
our innovative services boost quality of life.

When we achieve infinite fusion of people and city,

then drink we all from the fountain of joy and prosperity.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREBE

To Distinguished Shareholders,

The beginning of a new year symbolizes a fresh and auspicious
start. Looking back at 2021 that has just passed, numerous events
with profound effects have occurred not only from international to
domestic but also from macro to micro. In the face of the constant
spread of the COVID-19 epidemic, the increasingly complex
industry situation and the stringent regulatory requirements in all
respects, the Group has maintained stability rather than seeking
progress while forged against the difficulties, so as to strive to
achieve its annual performance goals and maintain a stable and
promising momentum of development. | am honored to take this
opportunity to review the past and look forward to the future. |
would like to present the achievements for the year of 2021 and
share a vision for the future of China Merchants Land Limited (the
"Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) to all
shareholders.

During the year of 2021, the Group realized a total operating
income of RMB25.921 billion and a profit attributable to owners of
the Company of RMB561 million. Profit attributable to shareholders
per share was RMBO0.11. The board of directors of the Company
resolved to declare a final dividend of HK$0.06 per share, with a
dividend payout ratio of approximately 40%, which was the same as
that of the previous year.

DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS

Sales performance grew steadily, and the in-depth urban
development achieved results. The Group aims to strengthen
its development business by using “one city, one model (—#—
RHR)" as a tool. With continuously effective use of the tool, the
Group pursues excellence in all aspects of its profession to launch
our properties earlier and sell them in an efficient and disciplined
manner, so as to seize the market opportunities, stand out from
the competition and achieve record sales. In 2021, the Group,
together with its associates and joint ventures, achieved aggregate
contracted sales of RMB55.196 billion (a year-on-year increase
of approximately 11%), and aggregate contracted sale area of
approximately 2.3920 million sgq.m. (a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 13%). Among the cities distributed by the Group,
contracted sales in Nanjing exceeded RMB28.0 billion, accounting
for more than 6.5% of the local market share and continued to grow.
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Actively increase land bank to build potential for future
development. In 2021, the Group, together with its associates and
joint ventures, acquired 12 pieces of land with capacity building
area of 2.235 million sg.m., ensuring the quality and sustainability
of the Group. The Group has a proportionate interest of 1.8715
million sg.m. of abovementioned area and holds a majority interest
in 9 of the 12 pieces of land. On the basis of development in
Nanjing with explicit milestones, the Group took full advantages
of the industry-city linkage mode of major shareholder CMSK
and strengthened our market position in Chongging. The project
Xiyong in Chongqging was successfully implemented and became
the Company’s medium-to long-term land reserve.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT IN HONG KONG

In 2021, the Group continued to focus its efforts on the business in
Hong Kong by actively participating in the urban renewal projects
of the Urban Renewal Bureau and paying close attention to the
opportunities in Northern Metropolis, which fully demonstrated the
Group’s new commitment and new action in stepping out of the
"comfort zone” and bravely breaking into the “no man's land”.

In addition, the CM+ apartment hotels operated by the Group in
Hong Kong continued to perform well this year, with an annual
average occupancy rate of 68%, which is about five percentage
points higher than Hong Kong's average occupancy rate of 63%.
In terms of rental unit price, it was also about 109% higher than the
average level in Hong Kong. In terms of RevPAR (Average Room
Income), an important indicator of comprehensive occupancy rate
and unit price, CM+ was 126% percentage points higher than the
market average. In addition to economic indicators, CM+ hotels
shouldered more social responsibilities and took the initiative to
undertake the task of quarantine hotels. It has been qualified as a
designated quarantine hotel by the Government for one to seven
consecutive rounds, and continued to obtain the Certification of
Health and Anti-Epidemic Measures issued by Hong Kong Tourism
Board (HKTB) and Hong Kong Quiality Assurance Agency (HKQAA).

The real estate investment trusts managed by the Group, which
administer five properties in the Greater Bay Area — Shenzhen,
continued to increase in total asset value to over RMB6.7 billion,
contributing annual asset management service income of
RMB18.93 million.
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FUNDS AND FINANCE

In 2021, through effective cash flow control and strict management
of financial risks, the Group continued to maintain a sound financial
position and redeemed due senior notes of RMB1.9 billion.

In addition, the Group vigorously improved its cash flow
management capability, optimized sales outstanding collection
management measures, continuously improved the contracted
collection rate and shortened the collection period. Taking
advantage of LPR anchor-changing opportunity to reduce costs and
increase efficiency, the Group obtained the annual comprehensive
capital cost of 4.6%, which is lower than the average of 4.9% for the
last year. At the end of 2021, the Group's net debt ratio was 65%,
which further took advantage of the Group's capital structure, while
all monitoring indicators of the “Three Red Lines” were green at
the end of the year. Steady capital structure helps the Company to
resist economic cycles.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The year of 2022 is the 150th anniversary of China Merchants Group,
and the centennial is in its prime. In the future, we will seize the
opportunities of the times and the new situation and accumulate
strength for a take-off, to achieve high-quality development
through implementing comprehensive development, elaborately
exploring new industries, and realising technology enabling
transformation.

In terms of development business, the Group will adhere to the
multi-dimensional and strict selection criteria for project selection
and strengthen location selection and deep urban development. As
for the innovative business, the Group shall be good at summing
up and continuously review the results of feasibility research,
thereby gradually straightening out the business model of the
innovation business. In addition, the Group shall pay attention
to market trends, organise research forces to evaluate risks and
benefits, and allocate high-quality resources by means of mergers
and acquisition to capitalised on development opportunities in the
window of policy.

8 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021
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In order to achieve endogenous growth and pursue high-quality
and healthy development, we must strictly control risks and
adhere to the “Three Red Lines” by strengthening de-inventory,
accelerating asset revitalization, refining repayment management
and strengthening cash flow management.

We will also focus on new industries and new technology
applications, and we believe that the industry digitalization will
be the main battlefield in the future. We embrace the trend of
digitalization and strive to address material issues and challenges
in operation and improve our service quality based on customer
demands. By providing digitalized and convenient services we will
enhance eventually our business competitiveness.

We, as an industry pioneer of green building, will continue to
maintain our leading advantage in assembled construction and
promote new technology applications in new projects. Besides, we
will strengthen our industrial investment and services to contribute
to the long-term development of the Company.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, clients and business partners for their
support and confidence, as well as all of our dedicated staff for their
diligence and contribution.

XU Yongjun
Chairman
17 March 2022
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TO PROVIDE COMPREHENSIVE SOLUTIONS FOR URBAN
DEVELOPMENT AND INDUSTRIAL UPGRADING TO UNLOCK A
BETTER LIFESTYLE IN ALL ASPECT
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEAEBERERE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below, save as
disclosed below, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among the Directors. The change
of directors’ information pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) since the Company's
last published interim report is set out in the section “Change of
Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 58, non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd." since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager
and general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015,
he was appointed as the director and general manager of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. ("CMSK"),
an intermediate controlling shareholder of the Company, and is
currently being the chairman of the Board of CMSK.

From December 2019 to March 2021, he served as a director and
the chairman of the board of director of China Merchants Property
Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (B BIEERE FE S RSN GIR
A7), a subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.52).

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University” in Anhui
province in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry
Department of Northwest Institute of Light Industry” (currently
renamed as Shaanxi University of Science & Technology’) with a
Master’s Degree in Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 56, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK.
He joined China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone" as deputy
supervisor of the finance department in 1988 and holds various
positions as deputy in charge of finance department of China
Merchants Group”’, chief financial officer of China Merchants
Logistics Group Co., Ltd.", chief financial officer of China Merchants
Port Service Co., Ltd", chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.” and the financial controller of
finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone™.

*  For identification purpose only
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He was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the Board of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC REIT") (Stock Code: 1503),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019.

In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute
of Communications” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and
Accounting Profession. He graduated from China Europe
International Business School” with a Master of Business
Administration Degree in September 2008.

Ms. LIU Ning, aged 53, non-executive Director appointed on 2
June 2012. Ms. LIU is a member of the audit committee of the
Board.

Ms. Liu has over 16 years experience in the securities industry and
has been the secretary of the board of directors of CMSK since
December 2015. She was appointed as the representative of
securities affairs of China Merchants Property Development Co.,
Ltd (“CMPD") (a company merged with CMSK in December 2016)
in October 2001, and the head of the secretariat of the board of
directors of CMPD in July 2004, and the secretary of the board of
directors of CMPD from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Liu has been a member
of the 9th Listing Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from
September 2016 to September 2018 and a pre-vetting specialist for
the 2nd Corporate Bond Listing of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
from May 2017 to May 2019. She has been appointed as a non-
executive director of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants
Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock Code: 1503),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019. Also,
she is currently a director of China Merchants Property Operation
& Service Co., Ltd.* (HBEBEHREZELRERHBER LA, a
subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.52).

Ms. Liu obtained her MBA degree from the Macau University of
Science and Technology after completing her postgraduate studies
in Business Administration at the School of International Business,
Nankai University in 2000.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 70, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr.
SO resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and
his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an
executive Director.

Dr. SO is the vice-chairman, an executive director and CEO of SUM
Holdings Limited (Stock Code:880), which is listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is a director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed
on Euronext Lisbon and the chairman of the board of directors of
MACAUPORT - Sociedade de Administragdo de Portos, S.A.

Dr. SO was a member of the 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference ("CPPCC"). He is presently the honorary consul of the
Republic of Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR and a consultant of the
Economic Development Council of the Macau SAR Government.
Dr. SO is the president of Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the
board of directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for
Educational Development and Research, as well as a member of the
10th National Committee of China Federation of Literary and Arts
Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Honorary University Fellowship by The
University of Hong Kong in 2005, the Medal of Merit — Culture
by the Macau SAR Government in 2009 and the Doctor of Social
Sciences honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012. He was
conferred as Commendador Order of Merit by the Portuguese
Government in 2014.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance
Professional and a Fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a Doctoral Degree in
Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross University in 2001.

Dr. SO has been appointed as an executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of HIFOOD GROUP HOLDINGS
CO., LIMITED (the shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 442) since 1 December 2021.
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Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 43, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012. He served as a general manager of
the Company since 18 August 2016. He was the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer during the period from 29 June 2012 to 17 August
2016. Mr. YU has served as a director of Champion Apex Limited
since January 2013 and a director of Harvest Allied Investments
Limited since April 2013. Mr. YU is responsible for strategic
development, and to facilitate and implement the operational plans
of the Group.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd." (B & BibZE (EF]) BR A F]) and
Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.” ({2 B A%
B ZE 2 A R A F]) since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of certain
major subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed
as a non-executive Director of the REIT Manager of the China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock
Code: 1503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July
2019.

He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen
University” (EFIKZ) and a MBA Degree with a concentration in
finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. YU is an
accountant of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 54, executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry.
He served as assistant property manager in property agency
department in China Merchants Properties Development Limited
in February 1995 and subsequently he was promoted as deputy
manager, manager, deputy general manager and the current
position of director and general manager. From January 1999, he
acted as general manager assistant in China Merchants Property
Agency Limited and later he was promoted to the position of
deputy general manager and the current position of director
and general manager. From September 2001 to December 2002,
he served as director and general manager in China Merchants
Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited and from September
2017, he also acted as director and general manager in China
Merchants Property Management (Overseas) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor's Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring
in finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’s Degree
of Science in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in
December 2006. In 1999, he obtained estate agents license
(individual) from Hong Kong Estate Agents Authority. In 2010, he
was awarded the membership of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate
Administrators.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 70, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.
WONG is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently
holds the following positions in other listed companies:

e independent non-executive director of China VAST Industrial
Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6166);

e independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1104);

e independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy

Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 757);

e independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, (its shares have transferred of listing from
GEM to main board with stock code 6966 since 17 December
2019);

¢ independent non-executive director of China Medical &
HealthCare Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 383); and

e independent non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 2019).
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In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise

Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm

in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served
as Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private
professional auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to
2017. Dr. WONG was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND
Associates CPA Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG
was elected or admitted:

a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute in September
2002;

a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute in
February 2002;

a fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January
1999,

a member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute in November 2012;

a fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

a fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002,
and

a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration

from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in

December 2010 and a Bachelor's Degree in commerce from a

joint program held by Shenzhen University and Clayton University,

Missouri, USA in May 1990. He also received a Bachelor's Degree

and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Nottingham
Trent University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.
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Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 63, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor's Degree and a
Master's Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University in January 1982 and November
1984, respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in
December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner
of the PRC in October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of
the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of
Architecture and Urban Planning School in Shenzhen University
from December 2000.

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 63, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI was an associate professor of the Department of Finance
and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University before
retirement. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Renewable Energy Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as
“China Technology Development Group Corporation”), a company
listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor's Degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster
University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex
University, UK in July 1995.
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Mr. HE Qi, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 November 2013. Mr.
HE currently is an independent non-executive director of China
Evergrande Group, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 3333) since 14 October 2009. Since 10 September 2014, Mr.
HE has been serving as the independent non-executive director of
Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 265), and also the secretary of
the Distribution Services and Leasing Committee of the China Real
Estate Association. Mr. He had been serving as the deputy secretary
of the China Real Estate Association until June 2016. He was an
executive of the Development Centre of the China Real Estate
Association from 1995 to 1999.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO
DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Details of change

RE S

Name of director

BEEHR

B EE  BEFE66E R-T—=F+—HA—AEZ
EABEARRBIYIIENTESE - AE_TTNF+A+T
Hig  fEEABIAMEMARPEERER(KH
K5 3333)MBUIEATES - BT —NFNA
THE  [AEERBMIM EMARRBIREEESR
AR (D REE : 265) B IEHITES - AP E
EHERERBRENAEZESWER - M4 Y
EIPEEHERSINER  EE-T—~FA
B R —AARFE—ANNFETHBEEHERR
CEEMIBEREMT -

ERESEH S

B FHBEI35BNEHETETHREEBES
BERIED) c EREEH T

Dr. SO Shu Fai
BRI IEiE

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen Albert
FoxiEm L

Mr. YU Zhiliang
REREE

Dr. SO has been appointed as an executive director and the chairman of the board of
directors of HIFOOD GROUP HOLDINGS CO., LIMITED (the shares of which are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 442) since 1 December 2021.
HETE_T_—FTA BRI BEEEEEEERERIA(ARNNEFRR
FrE™ - IRDRER : 442) ZHITEEREBFEEE o

Dr. WONG has resigned as an independent non-executive director of Capital Finance
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8239), with
effect from 1 January 2022.
FTHtTtE_Z__F-A AT aMenERAER AR (—HRERZM ETHAF -
AP RER - 8239) 2 B FEHITES ©

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. YU received annual emoluments of
approximately RMB2,837,373 which were determined by reference to his experience
and responsibilities, the Company’s performance and remuneration policy and the
prevailing market conditions.

HE_ZT_—F+_A=1+—"RHIEFE REEUWRFENEHARKE2837,373T B
e D2 ER KB IBE - NARZ R REFEE A RBITTIOAMETE °

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are no
other changes in the directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the Company’s
last published interim report.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Zhang Tao, aged 53, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang joined Operation and Management Center of CMPD
in December 2012 as deputy general manager, and subsequently
served as general manager of Dalian Company in March 2013,
general manager of Qingdao Company in January 2015, general
manager of Southern Jiangsu Company in March 2016, and deputy
general manager (presiding over the work) of Jiangnan Region
adjunct to general manager of Southern Jiangsu Company and
Nanjing Company from 2019 to present.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Changchun Institute of Technology in
July 1990 and Peking University in July 2000 with a master’s degree
in political economics.

Mr. Zhang Bin, aged 46, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang started his career in August 1998 and joined CMSK in
April 2014, where he served as Deputy General Manager of Nanjing
Company, General Manager of Hangzhou Company, Executive
Deputy General Manager of East China Region, General Manager
of Shanghai Company, General Manager of Ningbo Company. He
is currently served as the General Manager of South China Region
and General Manager of Guangzhou Company since January 2020.

Mr. Zhang graduated from the School of Construction and

Engineering of China University of Mining and Technology in 1998,
majoring in architecture.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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Mr. Zhao Fang, aged 43, is currently the general manager of
Chongging Company and is responsible for developing, managing
and operating real estate projects.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the School of Architecture and Civil
Engineering of Shenzhen University in 2002 with a bachelor’s
degree in architecture and completed a postgraduate course with
master’s degree in architectural design and its theory in 2005.

Immediately after graduation, he joined the Planning and Design
Center of China Merchants Property Development Co.,Ltd. From
2011 to 2016, he was appointed as the assistant general manager
of Chongging Company and the general manager of China
West Premier Housing Development Co., Ltd. and Chongqging
Yizhi Investment Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and was
subsequently promoted to the position of Deputy General
Manager of Chongging Company from 2016 to 2021. From 2021,
he has been the general manager of Chongging Company and the
general manager of China West Premier Housing Development
Co., Ltd.

Mr. HE Junli, aged 44, is responsible for the management of the
property development projects.

Mr. HE joined CMPD in April 2003 as a planning manager for the
Huangjintai project, later was promoted as senior manager in
December 2005. He was a vice development director of Chongging
(Chengdu) Company in May 2008 and was promoted as assistant
to general manager of Chongging Company in February 2011. In
June 2016, he was further promoted as vice general manager of
Chongging Company and also took up the position of a general
manager of Chongging China Merchants Jinshan Yiku Business
Management Company* (EEHE S IUEEREXEEARF]). He
was redesignated as a general manager of Xi'an Company in
September 2017.

Before joining the Group, Mr. He worked in the property
department of Vanke as engineer trainee from August 2001 to April
2002, and joined Sinolink (Shenzhen) as property development
manager from April 2002 to April 2003.

Mr. HE graduated from Southeast University” in June 20071 with a
bachelor degree in professional architectural engineering.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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Ms. Chen Yan, aged 44, is currently the chief financial officer of the
Company. She had held various positions in CMSK, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. She joined CMSK in October 2009
as a senior manager of the finance department until July 2016. She
was also appointed as the senior financial controller of the finance
department of CMSK from July 2016 to May 2017. From May 2017
to January 2018, she was the deputy chief financial officer of the
Company. She has also been the internal auditor of REIT manager
of CMC REIT since December 2019.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from Sun Yat-Sen University Business
School with a Master’s Degree in Accounting and Business Studies
in 2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in the
PRC in 2002.

Mr. NG Ho, aged 34, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 31 May 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Master of Business
degree from Monash University in Australia and is an associate
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He has over 8 years of experience
in compliance and listed company secretarial practice.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEN®WE DN

MARKET REVIEW

While most economies are still struggling with the spread of the
new coronavirus epidemic, China’s economy has been the first
to recover steadily on all fronts. This is attributed to the central
government'’s effective prevention and control of the epidemic.
In 2021, China's GDP reached RMB 114 trillion, an 8.1% year-over-
year increase, making it the world’s second largest economy and
expected to account for more than 18% of the global economy.
During the year, China’'s commercial property sales reached
RMB 18.19 trillion and sales area reached 1.794 billion square
meters, while national real estate development investment was
approximately RMB 14.76 trillion. All three figures grew 4.8%, 1.9%
and 4.4% year-over-year, respectively.

In 2021, the real estate industry experienced robust sales in the
first half of the year, with most real estate enterprises accelerating
the launch of projects and the market atmosphere was heated. In
the second half of the year, the new and second-hand property
market cooled down due to policy restrictions and credit
environment tightening, but the scale of the market can still be
maintained at a high level throughout the year. Even though the
central government and various ministries have continuously
released signals to maintain stability since October 2021, and the
marginal easing of credit policy has been released continuously,
the financing environment for real estate enterprises has gradually
improved, but the marginal improvement in credit environment still
needs to be transmitted to the market side, and it will take time for
mortgage loans and development loans to become available.
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS
Profit for the year

For the year of 2021, profit amounted to RMB1,582,866,000
(2020: RMB1,513,445,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 4.6%. The profit attributable to the owners
of the Company was RMB560,569,000 (2020: RMB701,260,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 20%. Basic
earnings per share was RMB11.43 cents (2020: RMB14.30 cents),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 20%.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was RMB9,738,462,000
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB9,500,926,000), representing a
increase of approximately 2.5% as compared with that of the end of
last year.

Turnover

In 2021, the Group recorded turnover of RMB25,921,416,000
(2020: RMB18,956,418,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 36.7%. In 2021, projects in Foshan, Guangzhou,
Chongging, Nanjing and Jurong, Xi'an and Hong Kong accounted
for approximately 14.92%, 8.56%, 34.65%, 32.82%, 8.74% and 0.31%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.

Gross Profit

Gross profit amounted to RMB4,791,751,000 (2020:
RMB4,719,576,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 1.5%. This was mainly due to the relatively high
proportion of items with lower gross profit margin in the carried
forward income and written-down of properties amounting
to RMB360,538,000 in 2021. The gross profit margin was
approximately 18.5% (2020: approximately 25%), which was
decreased by 6.5 percentage points as compare to the last year.

Share of Profits of Associates

Share of profits of associates was RMB330,551,000 (2020:
RMB195,728,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 68.9%, which was mainly attributable to the
completion of the projects by Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd. (BMNIEKEHEFMZEBRAF]) and Nanjing
Shansheng Property Development Limited (FJ R & & B HER A
fRZx 7)) in this year and the carry-forward of income, contributing
share of profits amounted to approximately RMB189,719,000 and
RMB96,571,000 respectively.
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Share of Profits of Joint Ventures

Share of profits of joint ventures was RMB83,937,000 (2020:
RMB13,942,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 502%, which was mainly due to the completion of the
projects by Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd. (ARE&GBEXER A A)
in this year and the carry-forward of income, contributing share of
profits amounted to approximately RMB82,901,000.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2021, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB9,738,462,000 (2020:
RMB9,500,926,000).

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances and cash was
RMB14,423,276,000 (2020: RMB?,718,815,000). In terms of currency
denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided into
RMB12,840,104,000 in Renminbi, RMB1,338,167,000 in US$ and
RMB245,005,000 in Hong Kong dollars (“"HK$").

As at 31 December 2021, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB36,536,844,000 (2020: RMB19,492,774,000). In
terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt
can be divided into RMB8,070,050,000 repayable within one year,
RMB2,322,576,000 repayable after one year but within two years
and RMB25,853,718,000 repayable after two years but within five
years RMB290,500,000 repayable after five years.

At 31 December 2021, the Group's net interest-bearing debt (total
interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to equity
(including non-controlling interests) ratio (the “Net Gearing Ratio”)
was 65% (2020: 31%). The Group further utilizes the flexibility of
its capital structure and resources in a rational manner according
to project needs. The capital cost of the Group still remained at
industry-low level. As at 31 December 2021, the weighted average
finance costs is 4.6%.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised
via balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group did not enter into any derivative
contracts to hedge the foreign exchange exposure.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to RMB6,561,657,000
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB5,567,473,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, land included in properties for sale
and located in Chongqging, Foshan, Nanjing and Jurong with
carrying values of approximately RMB2,043,820,000 (2020:
RMB3,424,620,000) and investment properties with carrying values
of approximately RMB1,207,206,000 (2020: RMB1,274,083,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB1,802,451,000 (2020: RMB2,222,409,000) granted to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group together with its
associates and joint ventures, achieved aggregate contracted sales
of approximately RMB55,196,000,000 and aggregate contracted
sales area was approximately 2,392,049 sgq.m..

Contracted sales amount by region in 2021 (RMB million)
—Eo-FpwReFEECR(AREAET)
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R-ZZE-—F+-A=+—H AEESEHN
REE B BEREROFERENBARE
2,043,820,0007t (= - =4 : AR¥E3,424,620,000
ﬁﬁdﬁﬂ@%Tfﬁ%%%&&%ﬁﬁﬂ%AE%
1,207,206,000c( —ZE=ZF : AR¥1,274,083,000
T ZIREWME M%%%$EIZﬁHF“AE%
1,802,451,000c( —Z =—FF : AR¥2,222,409,000

TR -
R
AEBEEHERARA B ERA T2 -
X R
BFHE

BE-ZT-—F+-A=+—HILEFE AEHER
HBEANRINAE R ESSRBEERBENAARE
55,196,000,0007T * M FSHE LREIEL 52,392,049

Contracted sales area by region in 2021 (sg.m.)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 50 projects in Guangzhou,
Foshan, Chongging, Xi’an, Nanjing and Jurong, with a primary
focus on the development of residential properties, as well as
residential and commercial complex properties, types of products
include apartments, villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

A breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing the
geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of the
Group in the PRC are set out below. The saleable gross floor area of
properties which had not been sold or presold as at 31 December
2021 ("Land Bank") was 5,406,063 sg.m..

¥ O )

B Hh AE B B 2 7

R-oT-——&+—A=+—0 KEEEEM - 6
L EF - %R mRROAEAGSEE hERE
BE FEETHBEAEMEUAREERALEAY
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o

TEIREEME S 2 L HFEERERAEEIEBEE E
FEZMBUERTIWHEE RZZTE=Z—F+=A
=+—8 RESIKREEZWEBEE 2 IEEEEE
([ LibfEME 1) 55,406,063F 5K -

Land Bank by cities

BT 8D 2 i
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EF )
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Foshan AREaE
o Guangzhou
9.25% EM
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chonggqing
E®

Project Saleable GFA in the future (sg.m.)
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R
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A map showing the geographical location and land bank
of the projects of the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2021
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O )

Property Development Business (continued) FIERE XL (&)

Note: The following table shows the address, existing use, and actual or expected ~— ffif - TRERAEER T - —F+-A=+—HZEZERIEAR
earliest full or phased completion date of the Group's property development ziuit - BEABLRERSGEFOREZ2HA S BEKA
projects as at 31 December 2021. -

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
LY E

Project Existing usage Y%A H

=gz Address 3" BERAE (£/R)

Foshan {11

China Merchants Western side of a planning road, 2l Commercial November 2016

Land Centre eastern side of Guilan Road, BERA LT [EES —E-RFt+—A
BB northern side of a planning road, [E2pstny
and southern side of Haigi Road, S ATBA27 R
A27 Block of Guicheng Street, —HREBR A -
Nanhai District, =R R R
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, —ARENERR AL IR
The PRC BEEERA
China Merchants Xi'an South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan, F Residential and  January 2019
B e 1st Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water Channel in &5 4 #1117 commercial —ZE—NF—A
the south to Fochen Road B R A SR EEREE
in the north, =T yeki]
Southern side of South Jinchang Road, REEREEEE -
Chencun Town, Shunde District, AEHL—R -
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, BN KGE -
The PRC Bl
China Merchants Yuefu Nan Jin Village Committee Lot, R Residential and ~ October 2019
BT Sha Long Road, ERA LT commercial  —ZT—AF+AH
Jiujiang Town, [Ea)E] FEREHE
Nanhai District, ST
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, DB
The PRC MENEEE
China Merchants Yueyuan Plot 1, the western side of Jianshe Yilu, s Residential and  January 2020
e Xinan Street, ERA LT commercial T -TF—H
Sanshui District, =K FEREZ
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, [EEgep
The PRC R EE TR —
China Merchants Xiyuan West of South Cangjiang Road, e Residential and  June 2019
HBREERE North of Sanjiang Road, ERALUT commercial  —Z—HhFXA
Hecheng Street, =R FERBE
Gaoming District, RIEE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, SRR LATE
The PRC =)TRE LA
Time Merchants Tianxi Taiping Industrial District Lot, s Residential and  November 2020
BRBEAE Taiping Avenue, EREEHLT commercial —E=ETHE+—FA
Dali Town, [E2NsE FERMEE
Nanhai District, KIESR
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, ANFERE
The PRC RFEIERMER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE R EE 1% ()
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEEt
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address hut REAZ (#/R)
China Merchants Tianpufu Shuitou Industrial District Lot, 2] Residential and  July 2021
B KRBT Dali Town, ERA®HLT commercial —ZT=—&+ A
Nanhai District, [Ezysa EEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, KIEE
The PRC KT REIER
China Merchants Anzhitinglan ~ The northern side of Jiangwan 2nd Road, A Residential and  June 2020
HEEIETH and western side of Wugang Road, BRAEFLT commercial T -FTFXA
Chancheng District, B FEEEE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, pany it S 1A
The PRC el
Guangzhou &M
Jinshan Valley Fei E Ling, R Residential and December 2020
ETIEAS Donghuan Street, ERE commercial —Z-ZHF+_HA
Panyu District, BT EEREE
Guangzhou City, HRER
Guangdong Province, IR
The PRC btk
Huambo Huambo Business District, R Commercial September 2016
BiE Nancun Town, ERA [EES ZE—RFENA
Panyu District, BEINT
Guangzhou City, HBE
Guangdong Province, FAATEE
The PRC EHE%E
China Merchants Yongjing Wan The northern side of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road i Residential and  July 2019
BREsE and eastern side of the northern extension R 7N A S commercial Z—ZE—NF+tA
lane of No. KS4-4 Road, Sino-Singapore MAEKS3-25R AR B EEREE
Guangzhou Knowledge City Southern LAJE - KS4-45% %L
Start-up Area, The PRC FEAR AR
Guangzhou Tianju Huang Shi West Road, Baiyun New Town, ey Residential December 2021
BINRSE Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, B M = T —F+ZA
The PRC S E AR

—Eo-FER AEREMARAR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O )

Property Development Business (continued) P ER X% (E)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BB E
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address 3 REAR (#/R)
Chongqing EE
Changjiahui Danzishi Nan'an District, H Residential and  August 2021
R5lE Chongging City, ) commercial  —ZZ—F/\H
The PRC MEEETA FEREE
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road R Residential and  July 2021
RET & and northern side of Neihuan Expressway, EE™ commercial —ZE=—%F+A
Banan District, EEE FERMEE
Chonggjing City, BB SR A £
The PRC MIRBREIL A
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F, R Residential and  August 2024
NEAE Lianglu Zone, HEM commercial ZZTZWFNA
Yubei District, ipid FERMEE
Chonggjing City, 7 % 48
The PRC FIRED &
Jin Xing Hui Xiao Qu Eastern side of Yu Ao Avenue # Residential and  July 2017
REE/NE and western side of Jian Bei Si Zhi Lu, EEM commercial —ZE—+tF+A
Jiang Bei District, itk EEREHE
Chongging City, ARAE R A -
The PRC b=l gyl
Yongjingcheng Sub-zone J, a3 Residential and  March 2020
=351 Lianglu Zone, Liangjiang New District, EEM commercial ZZTZTHF=H
Chonggjing City, M LET R s A EEREHE
The PRC JO R
Yundi Xiao Qu Nanping Business Centre, AR E Residential and September 2020
el N Nan'an District, EEM commercial —ZE-ZTEHA
Chongging City, R EEREHE
The PRC ]
Main Urban Site Guanyin Bridge Business Centre, i Residential and December 2020
WHESH Jiang Bei District, HE™M commercial —ZE-TFE+-A
Chonggjing City, i FEREE
The PRC BEEmB
Ideal City Xiyong Area, # Residential and September 2021
B A Shapingba District, EEM commercial —ZEZ=—FHA
Chonggjing City, DITEE TEREE
The PRC FKAE
Park Uptown Shuitu Town, hE Residential and June 2020
NE B Beibei District, EEM commercial —ZE-ZTEXA
Chongging City, JbEEE TEREE
The PRC KL
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

¥ O

FHER X5 (E)

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEEt
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address hut REAZ (#/R)
Nanjing and Jurong R R AR
China Metchants Eastern side of Baosi Road, A Commercial and September 2018
International E City southern side of Jingjiu Road, IEHEAAT residential —ZT—)\FhA
AR BIRER Baohua Town, BEABNRRA EEREE
Jurong City, Jiangsu Province, wAEEA
The PRC
Evian Huafu Western side of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 i Residential and November 2019
REZERF Maigaogiao Street, TTERE R R commercial —Z—hFE+—A
Qixia District, EEE EEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, BREBUBL
The PRC T3E — HA7a
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu i Residential and  September 2018
REEAER and south of Yong Xin Lu, IERAEmRT commercial ZZE—N\FNA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone, B O =R FEREX
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, B NIEREAR
The PRC IKETHE AR
Century Taoyuan Gulou District, Nanjing City, A Residential and  August 2021
HEE 42 Jiangsu Province, The PRC IEEmRmaiER commercial —ZZTZ—FNA
FEREE
Dongwangfu Junction between Hedong Road R Residential and  August 2021
B and Siwang Road, IERAER™ commercial —ZE=—F/\A
Qilin Street Jiuxiang, Jiangning District, LE R BB E N8 FEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, VO] B B P B RX
The PRC
Xijiang Ruifu Xiangxian Road in the east to Yuanten Road in s Residential and  March 2022
ispas: i the south to a planning road in the west to IHEERmAELR commercial ZZTEZZF=A
Zi Chuang Road in the north, DHEERERIAR - EEREE
02 Land Parcel, north of Zi Chuang Road SRAIEE ARG 020 158
and east of Jiangpu Street and Puyun Road, REREK mE
Pukou District, Nanjing City, EReis - mEAE
Jiangsu Province, B EEREIE
The PRC
Ninglong Mingzhu a piece of land, # Residential June 2021
EREZ L east of Rungi Road and south of Tianhuan Road, IEEE R maiER F= —ZT-—FXA
Dongshan Street, Jiangning District, TE R E LS
Gulou District, Nanjing City, TBLRE LA - RIREK
Jiangsu Province, AR B3R
The PRC
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu  a piece of land, Residential May 2022
B R ARGEEE T eastern side of Bisheng Road, KBRS F=E T -FHh
Xijiang Street, Qixia District, ERPmEEE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, SR Al R
The PRC
“EC-FFE BERBEMBARAF
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

XSO 7
EHERE (&)

Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BB E
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address st REAR (#/R)
Yongningfu Yushan Xi Road in the east to Jianshe Road Es Residential October 2021
EENT in the south to an existing in the west to IEREM AT F= —E-——%+A
Guangdian Road in the north, ORI DEEE
Pujiang Street, Pukou District, REMLUAE -
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, [EESE S
The PRC Bk - EEEER
Yonglanyuefu East of Xinpu Road and south of FE Residential December 2021
BT Xinglong Road, Jiangbei New District, IERERmRM F= —E-—F+=A
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, JTAbFTE ¥R AR
The PRC PR AR
Zijin Intelligence Valley East to Tianma Road, South to Benma Road, R Residential December 2021
LEHER West to Xianlin Avenue, and TTERE F= —ZT-—%+=A
North to the current industrial park, mRAMEER
Qixia District, Nanjing City, HEREE -
Jiangsu Province, FAEEGK
The PRC PO (UARAE -
IERREXE
China Merchants Centre - a piece of land, north of Danxia Road Residential and  March 2025
Zhenjing and east of Hengjia Road, commercial ZZEZAF=A
BEBFL « BR Hongshan Street, FEREE
Xuanwu District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, ERERLALE -
The PRC 1B 57 BRIA SRt 1R
Xi'an (B%)
Evian Qujiang South of Jinyang Road, il Residential and December 2019
RERT east of Xinkaimen South Road, PRAEA LT commercial —Z—hFE+-A
north of Chuangyi Avenue and, I = FEREE
west of Xikang Highway, SFELAFE
West Fudao, PR IAR
Quijiang New District, BB KB
Xi'an City Shaanxi Province, o = R P e i DA T
The PRC
Zhenguanfu Northeast of the junction between AREHE Residential and December 2020
BHET Tiangu 1st Road and Yunshui 1st Road, RE—EEHN commercial Z—EZTF+_A
Gaoxin Zone, Xi'an, ER—BE+FRILA EEREHE
China Merchants South of freight line and east of ALBER SR Residential and December 2021
Main Urban Site west Gangwu Road, BiBGARE commercial ZZEZ—F+=A
B xS Xi'an International Port District TSP RE LAR EEREHE
Xi'an Merchants Silk Road South of freight line and east of AREEF AR Commercial March 2023
Center west Gangwu Road, BB AR (SES —E-=F=AR
P BRI Xi'an International Port District TSR AR
Chang’an Xi South of Hangteng Road, east of Hangxin FERFEE LT Residential and December 2022
RLHE Road, north of Hangfei Road and west of T8 22 i R 5 b i e B LA commercial T ZZ-F+=A
planning road, Xi‘an Space Base, A AUETRE AT FEREZ
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC FRREE AL - RIS LAY
Weiyang Xi South of Qiyuan Yi Road and west of Guangyuntan ~ # BEIEFEE Residential and  September 2022
RRE Avenue, Xi'an City, AL THRURE— B AR commercial —ZT-ZZ—FHhA
Shaanxi Province, The PRC EEBEREBIAT EEREZE
Zhen Jing Northeast of the intersection of H Residential June 2023
BB Wei Er Shi Liu Road and Xitai Road, PR LT == = —E-=FXA

Hi-tech Zone, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province,
The PRC
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) B AR (E)
Newly Acquired Land Bank L+ i S
The newly acquired lands over which the Group has a majority gzE—Z——&+—-A=+—H | EFT  AEFBHFK
control for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows: AT ERSRE Y HIT
Total Average
Total land Total permissible land
Projects ER consideration site area area premium
TiAE RIEHER N Fi9h(E
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(AR®TL/
(AR%BET) (F77K) (FK) FHK)
Dongfeng Chemical Plot, BMEHR
Huangpu District, Guangzhou B i3k 1,943 28,317 84,297 23,049
North of Shagongbaoyong, BMNmmErR
Qingsheng Hub Block, EREARRDS AR
Nansha District, Guangzhou Bt Rl R 4,131 59,907 228,126 18,108
No. 2021G24 Plot, Xuanwu District, Nanjing % 2 &2021G 243 % 8,890 214,519 475,537 18,695
No. 2021G26 Plot, Jiangxinzhou Road, ErRmEdE
Jianye District, Nanjing ST0OM2021G265 38 3,790 44,750 125,301 30,247
No. CB2-2-227 Plot, Chanba District, Xi'an 7% )& & CB2-2-227 1% 1,955 53,811 107,602 18,169
No. XXQH-WB05-40 Plot, Qinghan New  FEZ TR F R EEHH
Town, Xixian New District, Xi'an XXQH-WB05-401 5% 1,444 62,712 156,780 9,210
No. AH Plot, Xiyong Zone, BEETHITER
Shapingba District, Chongging Pk AE AHM R 3,250 186,552 310,711 10,460
No. K08 Plot, Dayangshi, EEMAERRE
Jiulongpo District, Chongging AI5AKO8H# 325 12,825 25,650 12,671
No. AH09 Plot, Xiyong Zone, EEMOHER
Shapingba District, Chongging 7ok 48 B AHO9 32 2,005 180,219 362,703 5,528
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Foshan

In 2021, contracted sales amount in Foshan was approximately
RMB2,403 million and contracted sales area was 164,262 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2021, total GFA of the Group's projects in Foshan
reached 1,611,946 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 499,869 sq.m..

In 2021, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Foshan mainly comprised of China
Merchants Xi'an (FAE & =)

Introduction of China Merchants Xi’an Project

Located in the northern part of Shunde, Foshan China Merchants
Xi'an is situated at the bridgehead of Guangzhou-Foshan border,
and enjoys a 1.1 million sg.m. landscape along Binjiang Hua'an in
Chencun. The location of the project enjoys a comprehensive “six
vertical and four horizontal” transportation network, with 30-minute
access to Chancheng district and Guicheng district of Foshan,
Panyu of Guangzhou and the center district of Guangzhou. The
project covers a site area of approximately 69,000 sg.m. with a GFA
of approximately 230,000 sq.m.. Meanwhile, the project has created
a distinctive phoenix-theme garden and is surrounded by scenery.

¥ EIRE )

J5 Hh EE B 3 675 (48)

1L

- —F  BLUZEREESENAARE?2,403
BET AREEMEA164202F K - RZF
——F+-A=1+—8 AEBERGBLTNIEE @7
SEEEIE611,946F 5K » RRAJEREMERK
3£499,869F F7 K o

—TF AREERABE AR KRG EARIEGR
LETR A MHEHE T 2R ERERF

BEBFEEE &,

1L R R BRI R & - HEE R RN
HER - LEMRN110BF KB TIIEFSEHT - HE
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Computerised photos
R

40 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021



BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2021, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB8,712 million and contracted sales area was 256,844 sq.m..
As of 31 December 2021, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Guangzhou reached 2,454,064 sq.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 381,061 sg.m..

In 2021, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Guangzhou mainly comprised of
Guangzhou Haizhu Tianjun (B8R KIR):

Introduction of Guangzhou Haizhu Tianjun (/&5 XE)

The project is located in the Pazhou area of Haizhu District, an
important part of Guangzhou’s CBD, adjacent to the Guangzhou
International Convention and Exhibition Center and looking
towards the north bank of the Pearl River. The project is only one
river away from Guangzhou International Finance City. The project
covers an area of 17,382 square meters, with a total construction
area of 91,131 square meters, floor area ratio of about 5.9, planning
to build four high-rise residential buildings and one high-end
apartments, and supporting a kindergarten.

Project for the extension of Guangzhou Metro Line 8 Fengpu Park
Station, close to the planned Pazhou terminal traffic hub, through
the Newport West Road, Dongpu Bridge, under construction
Pazhou fish tunnel and other convenient connections to the Pazhou
e-commerce headquarters area, Tianhe Zhujiang New City and the
International Finance City CBD. Living facilities, within a straight line
3 kilometers, include comprehensive shopping centers, provincial
and municipal primary and secondary schools and international
schools, tertiary hospitals and other high-grade Supporting
facilities, at the same time, enjoy 1100 hectares of Haizhu National
Wetland Park, Huangpu ancient port site recreation area, the Pearl
River ecological landscape resources. Comprehensive supporting
conditions are very outstanding.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Chongqing

In 2021, contracted sales amount in Chongging was approximately
RMB8,454 million and contracted sales area was 601,186 sq.m..
As of 31 December 2021, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Chongging reached 5,261,412 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 2,314,123 sgq.m..

In 2021, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Chongging comprised of
Chongging Central Avenue:

Introduction of Chongqging Central Avenue Project

Chongging Central Avenue is located in the Central Park CBD
of Yubei District, Chongging, occupying the east golden area of
the Central Park and enjoying the first completed infrastructure in
the area. Also, it closes to 6 horizontal and 7 vertical and 2 rings
of traffic road network, seamlessly connecting with various places
of Chongging. The project is surrounded and supported by well-
developed living facilities and excellent education institutes.

% SEI) 1))
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang

In 2021, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong of
Zhenjiang was approximately RMB27,990 million and contracted
sales area was 882,466 sq.m.. As of 31 December 2021, total GFA
of the Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 3,255,086
sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will amount to 560,968
sg.m..

In 2021, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang
comprised of Nanjing Zhongshan Peak View Fg R & | LIE 5

Nanjing Zhongshan Peak View

The project is located in Qinhuai District, Nanjing, with a total
gross floor area of 231,700 square meters, at the intersection of
Guanghua Road and Youyihe Road, near Metro Line 2, looking
north to Zijinshan Mountain, west to Yueya Lake, and south to
Qinhuai River, which is the origin of Nanjing's orthodox luxury
residential properties, with complete commercial, educational and
transportation facilities in the vicinity. The product type includes
18-storey small high-rise, with two staircases and two households on
each floor and no connecting corridors from north to south, offering
floor plans of about 118, 128, 143 and 170 sg.m..

iy
1)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Xi'an

In 2021, contracted sales amount in Xi'an was approximately
RMB7,613 million and contracted sales area was 486,430 sg.m.. As
at 31 December 2021, total GFA of the Group's projects in Xi'an
reached 2,966,401 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 1,650,042 sgq.m..

In 2021, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Xi'an comprised of Xi'an
International Trade & Logistics Park Project Fa% BIRR BT IE B :

Introduction of Xi‘an International Trade & Logistics Park Project 7§
LB BRI A

The Xi'an Port District project is located in the delta of the Ba river
and Wei river in the northeast of the main city of Xi'an. It covers a
total area of more than 580 mu and is located in the area around the
Olympic Sports Center project in the International Port Area, and
is a large-scale urban integrated development project integrating
offices, hotels, commercial districts, apartments and residential
properties.

Among them, residential and other businesses occupy an area
of 500 mu, which will create an ecological and comfortable high-
quality living community. The buildings include cover high-rise
and small high-rise, stores and parking spaces, with 2-4 rooms as
the main household type. The commercial sector covers an area of
about 80 mu and will build a landmark high-rise building, which will
be integrated with the Olympic Sports Center project to create a
new image of a free and fashionable, ecologically vibrant regional
gateway. The building include apartments, office buildings, hotels
and businesses.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Asset Management Business

Upon the listing of the China Merchants Commercial Real Estate
Investment Trust (“CMC REIT"”) on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 10 December 2019, the
Company has commenced its REIT management business through
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the REIT manager of the
CMC REIT. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recorded asset management services income of approximately
RMB18,934,000 (2020: RMB18,074,000).

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

China's economy is still facing new challenges and downward
pressure due to increased instability and uncertainties in the
domestic and international environment including the COVID-19
epidemic, Federal reserve rates in the United States and Russia-
Ukraine relations, and it is expected that China’s economy will
continue to recover steadily mostly in 2022. Monetary policy may
continue to make efforts to stabilize the economy, strengthen
support for stable employment, finance and foreign trade, and
maintain stable growth in total monetary credit.

It is expected that the general tone of the real estate industry
"houses are for living not for speculation” regulation will remain
unchanged, financial supervision will not be relaxed. The policies
such as “three red lines” for enterprises, “two red lines” for banks
and “two concentrations” for land will continue to be implemented.
According to the “Medium and Long-term Development Dynamic
Model of China’s Real Estate Industry”, China’s real estate market
will maintain a stable development trend in 2022, with sales area
and new construction area expected to decline, while average sales
price and investment growth rate will run steadily.
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PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (continued)

The Group will adhere to the spirit of “continuous innovative
and in-depth urban development”. In response to the rhythm of
market changes, we will seize market opportunities in the process
of industry adjustment to ensure stable business development.
At the same time, we will strictly control our financial resources,
enhance the efficiency of capital utilization and ensure the safety of
cash flow. The Group will continue its prudent investment strategy,
focusing on mainstream core cities, complemented by a high level
of product and service strength to enhance brand competitiveness.
At a time of industry restructuring, the Group will make full use of
its advantages as a state-owned enterprise. In addition, the Group
will continue to explore the potential of quality businesses in Hong
Kong and overseas, actively focus on investment opportunities
in Hong Kong and overseas regions, increase its participation
in quality property development in Hong Kong, strengthen the
Group's existing investment businesses in Hong Kong and create
value for shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.* (FAr BHbE =R
MAER AT (“CMPD") (a company Iater merged with CMSK (as
defined below) in December 2015) entered into a non-competition
deed on 19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4
October 2013 (the “Non-Competition Deed”). On 30 December
2015, the Company, CMPD and China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (AR A IXEERRKRHERA
7)) ("CMSK") Note ' had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation, pursuant to which all the obligations, undertakings,
interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-Competition Deed
were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in replacement of CMPD
as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-Competition Deed in
substitution of CMPD with effective from 30 December 2015. Other
than that, all the other terms of the Non-Competition Deed shall
remain unchanged 2. On 17 December 2018, the Company and
CMSK entered into an amended and restated non-competition
deed which supersede and replace in its entirety the Non-
Competition Deed (the “Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed”), and subsequently entered into a re-amended and restated
non-competition deed (the “Re-Amended and Restated Non-
Competition Deed”) on 21 October 2019, which supersede and
replace in its entirely the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had completed the
major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant to which, among
other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts and all others
rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up and assumed by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
and the shares of CMSK became listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with
effect from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraph under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the

avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to
CMPD in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed, (i)
CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”)
will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing, and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group but
managed by the Group under certain operation agreement entered
into between the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to Chongging
and Xi'an, the Company is considering to cease to conduct Property
Business (other than participating in property-related investments
on a minority basis across the PRC (the “"Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement”)) in and exit from such two cities in due
course, depending on the results of an annual review process;
(iii) CMSK Group will not compete with the Group in the cities of
Chongging and Xi’an unless the Group ceases to conduct Property
Business (other than the Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement)
in such city; (iv) the Group will not compete with CMSK in 46
other cities in the PRC ("CMSK Cities”) except the Group will
have the rights to participate in the Non-Controlling Investment
Arrangement across the PRC (including the CMSK Cities); (v) the
Group will also be entitled to conduct the Asset Management
Business for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai exclusively,
subject to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK Group
in Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing and
Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer 1”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal to
conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”) for other
cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the CMSK Group
has an Property Business as at the date of the Non-Competition
Deed ("Unoccupied Cities”).
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT
Management Business for REITs with underlying properties
permitted to be situated in or come from all over the PRC on an
exclusive basis. In return, the Company (by itself or through its
subsidiaries) are entitled to receive cash and/or units in the REITs.
Other than the inclusion of the REIT Management Business and
the updates to the terms with respect to the Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in Beijing and Shanghai in order to
reflect the situation at the time of the completion of the Proposed
Transfer I, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management Business for
Office Premises in Four CML Cities, Xi'an and Chonggiing plus
Beijing and Shanghai; and (c) Property Business of the Re-Amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed remain unchanged
compared to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed.

For details of the Non-Competition Deed and Operation
Transitional Assets, please refer to the section headed
"Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of
the Company dated 10 October 2013.

For details of the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Four CML Cities, Property Business, Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement, the CMSK Cities, Asset Management
Business, the Proposed Transfer |, the Right of First Refusal and
the Unoccupied Cities, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 10 January 2019.

For the details of the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition

Deed, REIT Management Business and REITs, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2019.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with Re-Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of
the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The Group will continue to operate its traditional property
development business in Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, Jurong,
Chongging and Xi‘an. Upon the annual review of the portfolio of the
Group's Property Business for the year ended 31 December 2021,
taking into account the financial resources available to the Group
at the relevant time and the relevant market conditions, the Group
decides to continue its Property Business in Chongging and Xi'an
for the time being.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group had no plans authorised by the Board for material
investments or additions of capital assets as at the date of this
Report.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, length of service,
working performance, profitability of the Group and current market
conditions.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 962 (2020: 814) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.

A share option scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 27 September 2011 (the 2011 Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who have contributed to the success
of the Group's operations. No grants under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme were made during the year ended 31 December 2021.

50 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

BEAREREAREERRRGE

RABEEH  AEEYEESETEREETEAR
BHIBMEARBENGTE -

REHFMNREERE

AEEDREET ZER - &% BE - REFH -
THERR  AREZBAFRETRAETEE THH -

R —F+-A=+—H AEEAETFEEES
BA962Z(—ZE-—T4F : 814%)B T -

ANRRZE——FNAZ+EARITZREBFK
g ERMERESE([ -2 ——FREREE] 5
ERGHARBEEBRMELERZAERZBAL
RERBLRE -HE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLt
FE UERBE_T——FHRESIROBIRME



ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

REBRERKKXE

This report covers the environmental policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared
in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in
depth with our cooperative partners to improve construction
management and innovate construction technology. We would
consider using materials available from the neighborhood as much
as possible and to reduce the consumption of materials, energy
and water in the course of construction for creating a clear, clean,
comfortable and safe construction environment. Besides, we also
launched a “Harmonious Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively
collect the opinions from the residents who live nearby with an aim
to doing our best to reduce the effects of construction works on the
surrounding natural, cultural and social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with
international organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC,
WWEF to combine each other’s edges to promote the sustainable
development.
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SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The Company has set up a Safety Management Committee.
Each project has established its own safety management team to
proactively promote the standardised management of safe and
civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of
every front line construction workers and back office staff with best
efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check
and introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order
to ensure the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major
equipment safety and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for
green construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model
with combination of “Green Planning”, “
and “Energy Saving through Action” from the traditional technique

application. As early as in 2015, the Company built up a green

Technique Application”

research and development and application system named "“Green
Life+"” and issued the "Green Ranking Guide” and "Energy
Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously promote
the innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation
and pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation
and the habitats in the development zone during the process
of planning and project construction. Through these efforts, we
systematically repair the eco-system which is degenerated or
damaged by project development. In addition, by building the
landscape water system and seedling transplantation according
to location and situations, we can reduce the effects of project
development on local environment.
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

Information on the gender representation of all employees
(including senior management), any plans or measurable targets
set by the Group to achieve gender diversity, and any factors
and circumstances that make achieving gender diversity more
challenging or less relevant for all employees (including senior
management) can be found in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system to
evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to
ensure they have complied with protective measures and have
adequately implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the
rights of construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee

TERRE RERE

Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers’ wages and deposit
the wages in advance
ERTREABDEARARIALEREREZEF  AFLE
RES

Implement real-name system management for
workers, establish an alert mechanism for worker’s
wage and inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s
wage by the construction cooperation units
EMTIAERGERE BT ATERLEHE - £ 5
mEAERTIEMMNTATEZERIERN

Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as
a compulsory check item in the annual review of
qualified suppliers
EXmIRABEBEXNMBIALE  UHEE
REEARBETIELEIR

Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
R EREBLEEMBERDERE - AT AR
AERNEHIEAm

Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site

B TE AL MR IE T b TARSBENTT » BRIS L AR 1E RS
BHBERE

Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of
workers attending for work without receiving the
three-tier safety education
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BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of
the core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply
chain management strategy of balancing between quality and
efficiency. Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’
closed-loop management system and open communication sharing
mechanism between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible
supply chain, to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with
the enterprises in the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF
SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering
process and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of
tendering. We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing
information and have stringently complied with the contracts, and
have safeguarded the basic rights of suppliers with fairmness, justice
and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship
with our suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general
purchasing, annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have
enhanced the comprehensiveness and closed-loop management
for certification, selection, examination and assessment towards
suppliers from different levels and types. We have identified and
fostered possible strategic relation with our suppliers through the
ERP Purchasing Management Platform.
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UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly
report system for key suppliers and have senior management
conducting on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite
outstanding partners to share their sophisticated experience in
order to mutually improve the ability to perform both parties’
duties. Meanwhile, we endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers
with high quality for long-term cooperation. For those suppliers
with high quality, they will be registered in our selected unit
automatically and entitled to higher percentage of payments upon
goods delivered and awarded with public recognition. For existing
issues, we will sort out corresponding solutions one by one.

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build
a comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a
stable growth and development for our employees.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion
path, comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training
system, strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s
development and achieve the goal of enterprise development on
the basis of employee’s development.

EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according
to their own career development direction incorporated with
the position requirement of the Company to realise a win-win
situation on both the Company's development and the employee’s
development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and
accelerating the optimisation of staff training system. After years of
fulfillment, optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff
training system with three main elements, which are leadership,
professional capability and general performance, in order to
provide a favorable platform for staff's development.

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and
the management, the Group requires every project company to
organise different types of face-to-face communication seminar
regularly throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get an instant
responses. Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management
to point out their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars
can strengthen both parties’ mutual understandings and break any
barriers between them.
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OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and
regulations, international practices and business ethics, and fulfills
the theme of the central government and China Merchants Group
— “Three-Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& = &)" to strengthen
the practice of building and establishing the implementation of
responsibility and promote the culture of corruption-free and
prevention and punishment system comprehensively. We will
consciously accept the supervision from relevant authorities and
strive to become a good example of operating in compliance with
the law and with honesty and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture
and research development. The Company has promoted the
compliance works and integration of operation management, so
as to enable the operation of the Company to be in compliance
with the applicable law requirements and contemporary corporate
governance requirements and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness
of our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote
the legal risk awareness while building up the precaution
mechanism of legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in
advance control of legal risks.
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The Group has formulated policies such as “Compliance
Management Regulations”, “Anti-Money Laundering and

|u

Compliance Manual” and “Code of Conduct for Employees”,
and signed “Employee Integrity Performance Pledge” with
all employees and external suppliers to fully implement the
accountability and supervision mechanism for integrity building.
In addition, the Group has also established the “Code of Conduct
for Reporting Complaints”, which encourages employees to report
misconduct and violations of laws and regulations through the
compliance hotline and the compliance reporting mailbox, and
ensures that the information of the reporting party is handled
confidentially. In order to enhance the legal awareness of all staff,
especially frontline staff, the Group conducts thematic training
in line with the requirements of the industry and promotes in-
depth integrity education, including topics such as prohibition of
commercial bribery, anti-competitive practices, commercial secrets
and information security, in order to strengthen the awareness of
responsibility and anti-corruption of all staff.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong that prevent bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering from having a significant impact on
the Group, and complies with international practices. During the
reporting period, the Group did not have any corruption cases filed
or concluded against the Group or the Group's employees.

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a
risk management system on the basis of forward-looking and
systematised comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a
platform connecting to the risk management system of the
professional departments covering operating level and business
level. Meanwhile, we will gradually incorporate the non-financial
risks management systems, including environmental protection and
anti-corruption, into the comprehensive risk management system
and these can further reduce the potential risks in the operation
processes of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRSE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “"Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) are pleased to present to the
shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2021
(the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding,
together with the subsidiaries, are principally engaged in the
following activities:

()  development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties;

(i)  assets management; and
(iii) investment holding.

Details of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance, a fair
review of the Group's business, the principal risks and uncertainties
to which the Group may be exposed, details of significant events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year and insights into the likely future development of
the Group's business (including, to the extent necessary for an
understanding of the development, performance or position of
the Group's business, an analysis of financial key performance
indicators) are set out in the “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT"” and
“ MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this annual
report.

The Group's financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

A discussion of the Group's environmental policies and
performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations that significantly affect the Group, and details
of the discussion of the Group’s key relationships with, among
others, employees, customers and suppliers and others who
have a significant impact on the Group and on whom the Group
depends for its success, are set out in the "ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE" section of this annual report,
the Company's separately published “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”, and this “Directors’ Report”.

Information on compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group is set out in this Directors’
Report. The review forms part of this statement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance
by the Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules")), nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share
capital, had any interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on page 113.

The board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.06 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.046) per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
total payment of approximately HK$294,315,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB225,642,000). The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the company to be held, the final
dividend is expected to be paid on or about 30 June 2022 to
shareholders.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 47 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors consider that the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB1,260,771,000 (2020:
RMB2,360,029,000). Under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on
page 288. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BONDS

Details of the bonds of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
of 2021.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report were:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. XU Yongjun
Mr. HUANG Junlong
Ms. LIU Ning

Executive Directors:

Dr. SO Shu Fai
Mr. YU Zhiliang
Mr. WONG King Yuen

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. XU Yongjun, Dr. SO Shu Fai, Ms. CHEN Yanping
and Mr. HE Qi shall retire at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting ("AGM"). All the above retiring Directors, being eligible,
shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non- executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising
from their offices and execution of their powers, duties and
responsibilities has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
"SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

EENSRITHAERA D E) = H
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RZEZ—F+-A=+—H FSEZTLKARREE
THRABRAARIREMREEZE(EEREBEANZE
ST EFEHFRBEGA([EHFEBEGKRD])EXVEL)
2RO EARDESFHEEREIRS LHAE K
BIEXVEBE T R8N EBEMNE AR R REBHER S
FIBRATI([HRM]) 2w K E (BEREES
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company KAEEBR TR
Percentage of
the Company'’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held EERATE
EENE ERME L BEREE BITRAB DL
SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%

FaRiapd SR /NI P S )

Note: These shares were directly held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”), which is
owned as to 90% by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company, and
10% by Mr. SO Man Cho, the son of Dr. SO Shu Fai. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Skill China is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation

BERSRITHRAERA R TR E K
EEZRG > HEROREFEERZR
KB )

MBS EB AR RGN < A

Approximately

Number of percentage (%)

underlying in the

Shares associated

involved™et corporation

Name of director Nature of interest &l AREEE 2

HEnR EatE igvig - 4= BAE D (%)

XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 359,466* 0.00%
FFKE BEmAAEA

HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 124,000* 0.00%
s EmfEB A

LIU Ning Beneficial owner 148,601* 0.00%
2z BEmAAEA

Note*: These are interests in associated corporation, CMSK, an indirect controlling
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
"DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS", at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

RHESREROREZ 225

R IEFEREMITBRABNARRKERREE 2K
o~ BB REFZBERAR IBREZEMI
FREMSEREREMNEETRER B ZABHRK
FFARHERBEARBARNAEFESFN D 2%
A WEREETEEMAREN  AAR - HiER
A E TP B A B 3k R F B8 A B I R RT S 3K
FEELEE B ZRBRARKF F LR EMEM LR F
EEESHRBEN ZEMTHE -

TERREEMALTRART RO K
RO 2 ERERAR

RZEBE-—F+_A=+—H ' THRARF]DET
FEA 5% e A FRE S B R SR IR IR 5 55 M HA 1K)
FIBIEARFIBETFEZ EELMA -

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of ordinary shares held issued share

Capacity and nature FEEERYE capital
Name of interest Long position Short position  {hARATE BT
£ BORERME wE RE [N
China Merchants Group Ltd. ("CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BEREEARAR([RERER]) B AV/NCIEE =]
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone ~ Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
BB TERZERBRNOER AT HXEHAREE
(MMBawn))
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hRRAEEERAR([HE]) BMXEHAREE
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")

RERBBRAR([HE])
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

As at 31 December 2021, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well. Success
Well is 20% and 80% owned by Good Ease Holdings Limited
("Good Ease”) and Eureka respectively. Good Ease was wholly-
owned by Eureka, which was in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMG
directly or indirectly owned more than 63% of the issued share
capital of CMSK, and CMG is owned and controlled by the SASAC
of the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section "INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of
a contract made by the Company or a related company with
the Director or with a firm of which he is a shareholder or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed "CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS" (except for connected transactions at the
subsidiary level), “"CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
and "NON-COMPETITION DEED" (each if applicable) in this
annual report, there were no contract of significance between any
member of the Group and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
contract of significance for the provision of services to any member
of the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted as at the end of the Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have
interests in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2011 Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 September 2011 for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who have contributed to the success of the Group's operations.
No grants under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were made during
the year ended 31 December 2021. Since the adoption of the 2011
Share Option Scheme on 27 September 2011 (“Adoption Date”)
and up to and including 27 September 2021, no share option has
ever been granted under it.

A brief summary of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is
set out below:

1. Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Group to grant
share options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2.

Participants of the scheme

The Directors may within a period of ten (10) years
commencing from the 2011 Share Option Scheme make offer
for the grant of options to subscribe for Shares to eligible
participants, namely, (a) any full time employee, executive
or executive director of the Company, its subsidiaries or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest; (b) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”); (c) any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth
of the Group, and, for the purposes of the scheme, the offer
may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
eligible participants mentioned above.

Total number of securities available for issue under the
scheme and percentage

According to the scheme mandate limit approved by
the shareholders on the Adoption Date, the Directors
are authorised to grant share options to subscribe up to
106,846,886 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of
issued shares as at the Adoption Date. As no offer for grant of
share options has ever been made under the scheme, the total
number of Shares underlying the share options available for
grant is 106,846,886 Shares, representing approximately 2% of
the total number of issued shares as at the date of this annual
report. As there are no options granted under the scheme and
hence there are no outstanding options under the scheme, the
total number of Shares available for issued under the scheme

is zero.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the Options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each Grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.

Period within which Shares must be taken up under an
option

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option
is granted.

Minimum period before an option can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance and period within which
payment must be made

HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the option within 21 days
from its date of grant.

Basis for determining exercise price

The exercise price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of scheme, be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and

(¢) the nominal value of a Share.

Life of the scheme

The scheme has a life of 10 years commencing from the
Adoption Date and will expire on the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date, namely, 27 September 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

M

OPERATION AGREEMENT

On 30 January 2019, the Company entered into the Operation
Agreement with CMSK pursuant to which the Group will
provide project operational support services to CMSK,
including but not limited to taking charge of land acquisition,
project development and sales, commencing from 30 January
2019 up to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive). CMSK
is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Operation
Agreement was set at RMB 1 million for the year of 2021.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT

On the same date, the Company also entered into the
Property Management Master Agreement with Merchants
Property Management pursuant to which Merchants Property
Management, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CMSK, will
provide property management services to the Group’s PRC
operating subsidiaries, commencing from 30 January 2019 up
to 31 December 2021 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transaction under the Property
Management Master Agreement was set at RMB220 million for
the year of 2021.

Details, including the annual caps, of both Operation
Agreement and Property Management Master Agreement,
please refer to the Announcement of the Company dated 30
January 2019.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@

Reference is made to and as disclosed in the Offering
Circular of the CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 that
(i) CMC REIT was constituted by the Trust Deed entered
into on 15 November 2019 between China Merchants Land
Asset Management Co., Limited (the “CMLAM") (as the
REIT Manager), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Trustee, and (i) following the completion
of the global offering of the units of CMC REIT, Eureka
Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMSK, being a controlling shareholder of the Company,
would become a holder of the units of CMC REIT holding
more than 30% of the issued units of CMC REIT. CMLAM
has been providing the REIT Management Services to CMC
REIT pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed. Since CMSK
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being a
controlling shareholder of the Company, CMC REIT is deemed
as an associate of CMSK under the Listing Rules, the REIT
Management Services provided by CMLAM to CMC REIT
under the Trust Deed constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Trust Deed set for
the year of 2021 was RMB28.86 million.

More details, including the annual caps, are disclosed
in the Announcement dated 28 November 2019 and the
supplemental announcement dated 25 March 2020 of the
Company. On 21 December 2021, the company made an
announcement to provide details of the new annual caps for
the REIT Management Transaction under the Trust Deed for
each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

OPERATION AGREEMENT 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the
Operation Agreement 2022 with CMSK pursuant to which
the Group will provide project operational support services
to CMSK, including but not limited to taking charge of land
acquisition, project development and sales, commencing from
1 January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
CMSK is the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of the
Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT 2022

On the same date, the Company also entered into the
Property Management Master Agreement 2022 with
Merchants Property Management pursuant to which
merchants Property Management, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CMSK, will provide property management
services to the Group’s PRC operating subsidiaries, from 1
January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

Details including the annual caps, of both Operation
Agreement 2022 and Property Management Master
Agreement 2022, please refer to the Announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2021.

On 7 April 2017, Merchants Guangzhou as landlord and
Guangzhou China Merchants — Colisée Senior Care Services
Co., Ltd. (BMNBERFZRZRBERDE]) (“"Merchants
— Colisée Senior Care”) (a company established under the
laws of the PRC with limited liability, which is an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of CMSK), as tenant entered into a
tenancy agreement (the "Tenancy Agreement”) in respect of
a four-storey building located at Block 12, No. 139, Dongyi
Road, Donghuan Street, Panyu District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC (the “Property”), for a rental
term of three years subject to automatic renewal for three
times, the cap of the aggregate of which will be ten years.

The annual cap of the aggregate maximum amount payable
by Merchants — Colisée Senior Care to Merchants Guangzhou
under the Tenancy Agreement for each of the 11 financial
years ending 31 December 2027 and the detail of the Tenancy
Agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
7 April 2017 for information.

The annual cap for the transaction under the aforementioned
agreement for the year of 2021 was set at RMB 6,835,544.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Board has received an unqualified
letter from the auditors of the Company in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules containing the auditors’ findings and
conclusion on the above continuing connected transactions of the
Group, stating that the auditors have not noticed anything that
causes them to believe that any of these continuing connected
transactions: (a) have not been approved by the Board; (b) were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such continuing connected
transactions in all material aspects; and (d) have exceeded the
relevant annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December
2021.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures made by the Company during the
year 2021 are set out in notes 32 to 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as
disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant
to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

e On 28 March 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a term loan facility of
RMB400,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the first drawdown.

e On 16 April 2019, the Company has entered into a facility
agreement with a bank in relation to a loan facility of up to
RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the Facility Agreement.

e On 10 June 2019, the Company has entered into a Facility
Agreement with a bank in relation to a committed term loan
facility up to RMB1,000,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of
3 years commencing from the date of first drawdown.

e On 22 June 2021, the Company entered into the Loan
Agreement with a bank pursuant to which the bank shall make
available to the Company a term loan facility of an amount not
exceeding RMB1,950,000,000. The Loan Facility has a term of
36 months commencing from the date of first drawdown.

e  On 8 December 2021, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with certain banks in relation to a revolving
loan facility in the principal amount of HK$1,600,000,000
(which may be subsequently increased to not more than
HK$3,600,000,000). The Loan Facility has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of the Facility Agreement.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

The following events (among other things) would trigger breach of

one or more of the above mentioned loan agreements:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

76

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
40% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
51% of the issued share capital of the Company;

CMSK ceases to be beneficially interested (directly or
indirectly) in at least 51% equity of the Company or ceases to
have any management control over the Company;

CMSK ceases to directly or indirectly own or hold at least
50.1% of the issued share capital of the Company;

the shares of CMSK ceases for any reason to be listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor) or such listing is
suspended for more than 15 consecutive trading days due
to non-compliance with the rules of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (or its successor) or breach of any undertaking given
to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (or its successor);

the Company ceases to be the indirect subsidiary of CMSK;
or each of CMSK and the Company fails to maintain its listing
status;

China Merchants Group Limited (“CMG") ceases to be the
single largest shareholder of CMSK (beneficially owned,
directly or indirectly, the largest proportionate shareholding or
ownership interest in CMSK from time to time) and ceases to
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least 40% of the entire
shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK;

CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least
50% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest in CMSK;

CMG ceases to beneficially own (directly or indirectly) at least

50.1% of the entire shareholding or ownership interest in
CMSK;
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

(xi) China Merchants Group ceasing to be beneficially interested
(directly or indirectly) in at least 51% equity of CMSK or
ceasing to have any management control over CMSK and the
Company;

(xii) CMG ceases to be controlled by The State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council of the PRC or any other similarly empowered
authorities of the PRC government, or

(xiii) The State Council of the PRC does not or no longer owns,
directly or indirectly, not less than 50% of the beneficial equity
interest in China Merchants Group.

Certain loan agreements mentioned above contain cross default
provisions so that if the Company or any of its subsidiaries commits
a default under any other loan agreement(s) to which it is a
borrower that entitles any creditor to declare any borrowed monies
under such loan agreement(s) due and payable and the amount
in aggregate exceeds US$15,000,000, or its equivalent in other
currencies it will also constitute an event of default under those loan
agreements.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to
the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company and the subsequent internal/
annual report of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate outstanding principal
of loans owed by the Group under the above agreements were
approximately RMB5,988 million.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The composition and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in the section headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT" -
“AUDIT COMMITTEE".

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate
governance are set out in the section headed "Corporate
Governance Report”in this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu audited the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021,
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has expressed its willingness to
accept re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company's total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
XU Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
17 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

iE ﬁg =t Yh i& -

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group")) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's annual

report for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year").

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a sound corporate governance of
the Company is the core to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate
governance purposes, the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "HK CG Code”) contained in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (collectively, the “Listing
Rules™).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations
from code provisions C.1.6 and F.2.2 of the HK CG Code which are
explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report. The Company
will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of its businesses and to
review such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply
with the HK CG Code.

Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings, and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Xu Yongjun, the non-executive director, and Mr.
He Qi, the independent non-executive director, did not attend
the annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company held
on 26 May 2021 due to the other business engagement. However,
there were sufficient Directors, including executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors,
present to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of the Company’s shareholders.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

Code Provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Xu Yongjun, the
chairman of the Board, could not attend the AGM held 26 May 2021
due to other business engagement. However, he had appointed
Mr. Huang Junlong, a non-executive Director as his alternate
director who presided at the AGM and answered questions for
shareholders of the Company.

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture

The Board of Directors of the Company pursues higher vision,
values and strategies of the Company, taking into account both
long-term and short-term corporate values, and requires the
establishment and promotion of a corporate culture of "acting
legally, ethically and responsibly”, which is reviewed and updated
on a regular or occasional basis. For more information on corporate
performance, development and future business strategies, please
refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” sections of this annual report.

Rationale for not publishing quarterly results

The Company publishes quarterly operating data, which includes
key business information such as contracted sales amount and
area. Our reasons for not publishing quarterly results after careful
consideration are:

—  Quarterly reports are not meaningful to the Company's
shareholders;

—  Quarterly reports tend to give a short term view of the
Company's business performance;

—  The Company does not operate on a three-month cycle and
therefore we should not disclose information on such a cycle to
allow investors to judge our performance; and

—  There are costs associated with the preparation of quarterly

reports, including the cost of time spent by the Board of
Directors and management in preparing quarterly reports.
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THE BOARD
Composition

The composition of the Board and the categories of Directors
and the names of the Directors are set out in the section headed
"DIRECTORS’ REPORT" - "DIRECTORS” in this annual report. The
personal particulars of each Director are set out in the "DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE” section of this annual
report, which is also available on the Company’s website.

Diversity

The current Board of Directors includes directors from various
fields with professional backgrounds including real estate, trading,
finance and accounting, etc. Meanwhile, eight of the directors
are male and two are female, aged between 43 and 70, four of
whom have doctoral or professorial degrees, and all of them have
experience as directors of listed companies, which shows that the
current Board of Directors is able to achieve diversity.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the strategic leadership and control
of the Group to maximize returns for shareholders, while giving
due consideration to the interests of the Group's business partners
and other parties. The achievement of the Company’s business
objectives and the day-to-day operations of the business are the
responsibility of the Group's senior management.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company and subject to the relevant laws and regulations, the
Board may exercise a number of reserved powers, including but not
limited to:

- Maintaining and promoting the culture of the company
—  Developing long-term strategies

- Approving various announcements, including financial
statements

—  Undertaking all major investment decisions

—  Authorising significant capital structure changes and material
borrowings

- lIssuing or repurchasing securities of equity companies under
the relevant general mandates

-  Developing and review significant policies, including the
board'’s diversity policy, to ensure that the board has the
appropriate skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
and views required by the company’s business

-~ Reviewing the operational and financial performance of the
business

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the group’s corporate
governance policies and disclosure, legal and regulatory
requirements, risk management and internal control systems,
and recommend to the Board of Directors

- Ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budgets for staff in the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the company

- Overseeing sustainability issues, including overseeing the
company’s materiality assessment with respect to ESG;
ensuring the proper and ongoing implementation of ESG
policies; and promoting a top-down culture of decision
making that incorporates ESG considerations into the
business.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

The Board is in charge to promote the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group
for the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast
of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To
facilitate effective management, certain functions have been
delegated to various Board committees, namely Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each
of which has its own written terms of reference and whose actions
are reported to and monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee is also constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the HK CG Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance policy and the Company’s internal codes for
securities dealing. The Board will review, consider and determine
the appropriate policy for corporate governance of the Company
from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill
and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non-
executive Directors have included the functions as specified in the
code provision C.1.2 of the HK CG Code.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate
the day-to-day operation of the Group in the ordinary course
of business to the senior management and divisional heads of
different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board to senior management include execution of business
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the

Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the

Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
E=g EREESR REZEE FMEES
Number of meeting held during the Year F£RZB{TEEZXH 4 3 1 1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) KB RE(MET) 1/4 - 11 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong wmHELAE 4/4 - - 11
Ms. LIU Ning AEL+ 4/4 3/3 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai HEES L 4/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERTE 4/4 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen BRI E 4/4 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert ToEEL 4/4 3/3 - 1/1
Ms. CHEN Yanping BR#CT AL 3/4 - 71 7
Dr. SHI Xinping LETEEL 4/4 3/3 11 -
Mr. HE Qi MEEE 4/4 - - -
Notes: Mt -
(1) Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend three of Board meetings held (1) BEREKER TEEAREHERFARTHN=ZAEZEY

during the year. Mr. XU had appointed Mr. HUANG Junlong or Ms. LIU Ning to
act his alternate to attend the Board meetings held.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and
decisions reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised
by the Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given
by any Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis,
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate. Guideline is available for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also arranged
appropriate liability insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, an executive Director who has been re-
designated from the chief financial officer to general manager
of the Company since 18 August 2016 is currently responsible
for the Group's strategic development and operational plans,
and in particular, the day-to- day operations of the Company's
business, which are as same as the duties discharged by a chief
executive officer. Therefore, the Company considers that the
division of responsibilities between the chairman and the role of
a chief executive has been achieved within the Company’s written
guidelines.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and
report to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training
course for the Directors at the Company's expenses.

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:
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BEAEENERECHSEELHE - FARHY
BEREEFENRERXN - BREFBLERRNER
KEE - W T HRIE LR RBBEERER
REREANBENMEE -

EXREASMBZEILAARRRSE - ARAHK
MERRHEEZHIRE  BERARRFXN -

ARRE TN ERNEEBRRUREBETISE
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Attending seminars/
Reading materials

SHEERE BEME
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun KB R E v
Mr. HUANG Junlong sl v
Ms. LIU Ning FEL A+ v
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai Lyl 4
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE v
Mr. WONG King Yuen HFRREE v
Independent non-executive Directors BUFBTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert EoxiEEL 4
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRAE 22+ 4
Dr. SHI Xinping SEFFIEL v
Mr. HE Qi AL v
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in
full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply
the Board and its committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board
and each Director have separate and independent access to the
Company'’s senior management for making further enquires where
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director
Ms. LIU Ning (Member)

Most of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Board considers that Dr. SHI Xinping and Ms. LIU Ning have
sufficient financial knowledge and experience to discharge their
responsibilities as members of the Audit Committee. None of
the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its revised terms of reference in
January 2019 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Group's corporate governance,
financial reporting, internal control and risk management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Its key functions include:

reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company's system of internal controls, the
audit reports and management letters issued by the external
auditor and the co-operation given by the Company’s
management to the external auditor;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure
the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and
focus in particular on the changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting
from the audit and compliance with financial reporting
standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and

announcements before submission to the Board for approval;

and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management and reviews the findings of the
internal auditor of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings
in a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact
of the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on
the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
relevant legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the Company'’s external auditor.

The Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021 published on 17 March 2022 was reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held meetings thrice and has
performed the following duties:

- met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

- considered and discussed the reports and presentations by
the senior management and the external auditor, with a view
to ensure that the Group's consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;

- met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
and key audit issues;

- assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control;

—  carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

- reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget; and

- reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company's affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company'’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management
expertise and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s
function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group
has adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on
the criteria established, evaluate and select candidates for the
directorships.

In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship to the Board, the Nomination Committee will give due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to:

(@) reputation for character and integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

in which the Company’s business is involved and other
professional qualifications;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(c)  commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service;

(e) contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the
Board; and

() plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and its board committees in addition to
the contribution by the chairman and each individual director
to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The
performance evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the
structure, composition and size of the Board, the Board's access to
complete, adequate and timely information, Board's procedures
and accountability. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions
to be made. The performance criteria that the Nomination
Committee will consider in relation to an individual Director
include the Director’s industry knowledge and/or expertise, time
and effort dedicated to the Group's business and affairs, work
commitments, attendance and participation at the Board and
Board committee meetings. Each member of the Nomination
Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making
recommendation and/or participating in respect of the matters in
which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular
meeting in a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when
required. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee satisfied that the independence
of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors meets
the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied that there are
no relationships which would deem any of the independent non-
executive Directors not to be independent. The Board is able to
exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide
the management with a diverse and objective perspective on
issues.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects
of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since
September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational
background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service.
In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take
into account factors based on its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would review
the measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress of attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation.
The Nomination Committee is satisfied that the current board
composition has achieved a diversity and would enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and
the committee has performed the following duties:

- reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

- recommended re-election of the retiring Directors after
assessing their contribution and performance, and has
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
The term of appointment of non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors and all the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company do not have specific
terms of appointment. However, all of them are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
("AGM") according to the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect
of accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of
appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. In setting
remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration the pay and employment conditions within the
industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group's
relative performance and their individual performance. The
Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice on remuneration
of all Directors as and when necessary.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms

of reference. Its key functions include:

reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company's
policies and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration as are competitive and
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors and
senior management of the required quality to run the
Company successfully and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

either determining (with delegated responsibility) or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year

and has performed the following duties:

reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors;

and

reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the directors and senior management of the
Company is determined on the basis of their industry expertise
and experience, the performance and profitability of the Group
and with reference to the remuneration benchmarks of other local
and international companies and the prevailing market conditions.
Executive Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the Group's performance and individual
performance.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION FOR 2021

Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration includes
amounts paid to them by the Company. Please refer to note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements for details of the emoluments
payable to each of the directors and senior management in 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision C.1.3 of the HK CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company'’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific
enquiry to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all
Relevant Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period.
In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent
and reasonable judgments and estimates and have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also
warrant that the Group's financial statements will be published in a
timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to
provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and
assessment of the Group's financial position and prospects. The
management currently provides the Board with monthly update on
the Group's performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company's
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in
the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 105 to 112.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 24 January 2019,
pursuant to which in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account
the following factors:

(@) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;

(b) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands;

(c) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(d) the investment and operating requirements of the Company;
and

(e) any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend
Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any
particular amount for any given period.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MATTERS

The environmental, social and governance report of the Group
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited covering the year ended 31 December 2021 will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in due course.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group
and the interests of shareholders and consider the governance
of risk. Annual review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
has been conducted by the management and reviewed by the
Board. The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the
internal control system is inadequate. Review will be made at least
annually to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk
management and the internal control system of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on
each audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their
risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its
internal audit function to an independent accounting firm, Deloitte
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group with a focus on the property business.
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision
D.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2021, no significant risk
was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

*  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.

Rk EERANEBEE ®)

NBEPEIE R AR

EXeARERRAKERTREMARZAEE
7 UHEERRRERARBEE -

NBEIERGRENE EXEITHE -
BRREEE LR E IR -

BREMT &

KN A A B & E A Committee of Sponsoring

Organisations of the Treadway Commission

(COSONZZ—=FERZAAEZERL - ZIER
fREREEER2ERRERBEN - M HRER 5

W RETERERERZBE -

ZIMEIRZ R B FIRANT

o ERERE: AAKEETAMEEREERZ
—ERE IR R -

o ERFE  BERXEIRIZAZR RS ITER
ERAREBR - WANAERRBRZKKE

o ERETH: REEREFHIE
BERRERR

78 - UHRE
2 AERK B IR 2 IS AT o

o EBEMNMBA ARSERMETT
BRI Z BB R SMRIEA o

o EXR: ARTANERZSAXNBHESHE
MIBITMET ZHE R BB -

T —FF% BEREMBRAR 99



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An
effective information platform has been created to enable relevant
and timely information are sent to the Board for decision making.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a
good control environment for handling and dissemination of inside
information. The access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements
are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.
Where necessary, Directors to speak on behalf of the Company
when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2021,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted at least
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management's
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional
services provided by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, is set out as follows:

A% B4R 5 B
RER - ARTRBETED o BRI & 1724
HEBH T HHEIWT

(RMB’000)

(AR®ETx)

Audit services EANZ RS 2,583
Non-audit services IEEAZRTE 1,464
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ B 5 BN 4,047

Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in
connection with the continuing connected transactions review,
reporting accountant for major transactions and internal controls
assessment.

The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review
of the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the
Board has concurred with the nomination of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, for reappointment as independent auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the company secretary, Mr. Ng Ho, undertook at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of
the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings
held during the Year were as follows:

BERRE
EERFABTZREAGZ R THHBNT

WONG
XU HUANG YU WONG Wing Kuen, CHEN SHI

General Meetings Yongjun  Junlong  LIUNing SOShuFai  Zhiliang King Yuen Albert  Yanping  Xinping HE Qi
e N FKE Bk gz 1) RER ERR IXE (G334 £HY (k5]
26 May 2021 N Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y N
“2_-FRAZTKA

(AGM/ R BFXE)
COUNT/ %% 0 1 w 1 1 w 1 1 w 0
N=Absent,” & &
Y=Attended /B /&
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION BRRBE
The Company established different communication channels ARAREBRRLEECELTREBERT - BIF

with shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of
corporate communications (including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars and proxy
forms and other corporate information) required under the Listing
Rules; (i) the general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the respective chairman
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other members
of the respective committees are available to answer questions
for shareholders and stakeholders at the general meetings;
(iii) the Company’s registrars deal with shareholders for share
registration and related matters; and (iv) the Directors and/or
investor relationship team of the Company handles enquiries from
shareholders and investors generally.

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with
shareholders as well as to provide disclosure of information
concerning the Group's material developments to shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders.

AGM of the Company serves as an effective communication
platform between shareholders and the Board. Notice of the
AGM together with the meeting materials are despatched to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20 business
days prior to the AGM.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION (continued)

The chairman of the Board and of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective Committees, are invited to the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders. External auditors are also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 26 MAY 2021. All the
resolutions proposed at these meetings were approved by
shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of the poll results are
available under the “Announcements and Notices” section of the
Company's website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll
in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required
and permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained to the shareholders at the inception of general
meeting to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such voting
procedures. Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on the same business day of the general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also
be convened on the written requisition of any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out above specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There were no material changes to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year 2021.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results
in a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general
meetings on each separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
at the annual general meeting will also be included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are
made available on the Group's website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:
Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B A% B RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
BEREMARRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 113
to 287, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

B ELEE
PREZFESRERMNERHE - RREARHE
HAMBHBRIBECRRERZTAE - ZFFENK
MERGEMBRARLABAREE - MM TE
HZEFEREHEBER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBELRNMAEEER

Net realisable values of properties for sale

AR EY ¥ 2 5 FE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable values
of properties for sale as a key audit matter due to the
management judgement involved in the determination
of the net realisable values and the estimation of future
costs to completion. As at 31 December 2021, the
carrying amounts of the Group's properties for sale are
RMB74,620,484,000, representing 54% of total assets of the
Group.

BB HEEME ISR FERN REREREE - 1A
S TE Al B3R FE KA 5H R TR R AR 55 B IR [E 1) 71
oM —F+-_A=+—H  ESEAHLEEDE
ZEHEBERAREETA,620,484,0007T * 1 EEEEEHLEZ
54% e
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the properties
for sale included:

BRAAHEEMEGENRZFEEE

e  Obtaining an understanding of the rationale of the
management in estimating the net realisable values
and writing down the amounts of properties for sale;

s MEHEREMATERFERMBEATELENENS
AR TR

e  Evaluating the reasonableness of the management'’s
estimation on the costs to completion for properties
under development for sale by reconciling the costs to
completion to the budgets approved by management
and, on a sample basis, examining the signed
construction contracts or comparing the estimated
costs to the actual costs of similar completed
properties of the Group and to relevant market
information;

o FRARAREEFZBRETAANEERELE 2 BEET
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BRELER

AL EIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBLENAEESER

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company conducted a
review of the Group's properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale as at 31 December
2021. Due to a decrease in the expected selling price as
referenced to the actual contract selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of
the Group's properties for sale, located in Foshan and
Chongging, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), are
lower than their carrying amounts. Accordingly, the carrying
amounts of the relevant properties for sale are written down
by RMB1,234,602,000, in aggregate, to their net realisable
values.

WM E M MERMF2FHE R =—F+= A
=+t—H X BRRESH BEEEZAIHEEERTMER
AMEEEERTYRETEN - AR ZEFERNREEEYE L
BEREHNEBIRUMEZAHAERMBHREE T RE X B2
REFET SSEURPEARKME(THEDHEILLS
BzETRAHEEYX 2 ISR FERAREERE - Bt -
METHOEYE ZREED & AHBBRAR1,234,602,000
TEHAERRE -

Comparing a selection of completed properties for
sale with the sum of selling prices estimated by the
management or actual contract selling prices and the
estimated selling expense to assess whether their net
realisable values are higher than their costs;

R E DR TR i E ) S B IR 3 7 (A5 E B KB
SREEIAMMNEER X 2 METHE - LAFHEEA
B FEEE AR

Assessing the appropriateness of the selling prices
estimated by management, on a sample basis, by
comparing to the market prices achieved by the same
project or comparable properties with similar size,
usage and location; and

e RBAREAERF -8B H M E RN ﬁﬁL&fﬁ
EMRAIALBRYE 2 RITMEETLHER - UTHEE
BElE &k

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale by comparing, on a
sample basis, to the actual costs of similar completed
properties of the Group in recent years.

REAREEHE BEERFHEUNERIVEZEEREX
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HRELERE

FEABEREAAEIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBELRNMAEEER

Accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT") calculation

TR EH ([ LB EH )it H 2 ERE

We identified the accuracy of LAT calculation as a key
audit matter due to the management estimation on the
applicable land appreciation value and the estimated
deductible expenditures involved in the LAT calculation.
B LI EH A E 2 ERE R ARRERZER - AR
TIIRET T E S & E TR i A i 1 (E R AT T 40 AR S
B fhEt o

The Group has property development projects in a number
of cities in the PRC and is subject to LAT in the PRC. As
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
the provision for LAT of RMB800,874,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2021.
EEBRTBEREAMEEFMERNEIEE » WEHBMAFR
Bl ) LR ER - MAAR & MBS MKRMTOMEE - AR
800,874,000t 2 L IR ER BB RBE—_FT_—F+ A
=T —HIEFEEGFEBRRPER -
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT
calculation included:

BMBEBL e EENRTE C ERE 2 RF B

e  Obtaining an understanding from the management of
the Group about the basis adopted by management of
the Group in arriving at the provision for LAT;

o W BEEEEE TGS RS E R R
ARk

e Assessing the accuracy of the Group's computation of
the provision for LAT with reference to relevant rules
and regulations with the assistance of our taxation
specialists;

s ZZHBRAERAERBIERBY TIE BEEE
T IRETR B E R H 2D L

e Evaluating the judgements applied by the
management in estimating the amount of deductible
expenditures by comparing their estimates made in
previous years to actual results as well as current year’s
estimates; and

s BEEFERSERKRERFEZAMTETHLER
HEIRE LAt AT HUR B S P R eV 2T - &

#

e  Checking the accuracy of financial information, such
as land costs, borrowing costs and the relevant
property development expenditures, being used in
the calculation of provision for LAT to the Group's
historical financial data.

o BERN BEXEBENELHMBEEPHE LIS ENEE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % BLED RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REMMEBERGES MR RAREZ
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL & (&)

STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the o
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

REEERAFELEQTERZREN - X
REBEESZEREE  BESOHFERESNH
HERNEEZERTHMER - AJges &%
B2 FHEKERNBRERE - MEFISLER
RRFEERTHBARE - HFIANXEED &
SHRRFEAEIBRE MBI A Z BB
EIfMBERARETIR  MBITRMAZER -
B zatmABRERBMEE A RMES 2E
BB RER - A - RRBHARBERATEE
B EEETBRERSE -

HERAMBRRCERER  RERAT(E
BREER)  URGEEMBEREREBEAAR

RIAER 5 R =M -

P ERERNERAXRBED MIEENES
FRNEEZERRE  UARREHBRRE
RER - HMAEEE EBEHT HEE
ZEZTIE - AR Mz ERE R AELY
Bff-

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, HMEREEEB(EPBIE)EXITIE2ralEE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit B R EAXFZEE - ZEF LR BERMREZIAME
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies P Bl 2 R BFESIE 2 (T (A E A BREE ©

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B A% B R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chen Ping Him.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEeBEakREtE2E RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

2021 2020
=2 —F —E-THF
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Hiat ARBTR AREBTR
Revenue Wzs 5 25,921,416 18,956,418
Cost of sales FHE R AR (21,129,665) (14,236,842)
Gross profit ES| 4,791,751 4,719,576
Other income H YA 7 314,198 268,044
Net foreign exchange gains PE UG 25 % 58 53,622 72,902
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHYTH (822,717) (673,586)
Administrative expenses T (277,676) (202,843)
Allowance of expected credit losses on amounts JEYEEE N T R A S DERIE 2
due from associates and joint ventures TEHEEEEEE (262,073) (187,294)
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value BRAHES ABR ([HEATE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") STABRIZERMEEL
AT 10,937 2,407
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o &5 B B A Bl 2 W as 34, 35 - 81,577
Share of results of associates DINEE R B 2 EE 330,551 195,728
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEEDE T EE 83,937 13,942
Finance costs Bl & B AN 8 (691,661) (685,307)
Profit before tax R 75 Al v A1) 10 3,530,869 3,605,146
Income tax expense PS5 X2 9 (1,948,003) (2,091,707)
Profit for the year N S F) 1,582,866 1,513,445
Other comprehensive expense, Hih2MEAX - MBRATEH
net of income tax
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to B g B2 Em s HE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ #HREBINER I FERKEL
financial statements of foreign operations ZEH ERE (36,839) (44,011)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2EBALRE 1,546,027 1,469,434
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ALTREIEREE&HF
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Z =N 560,569 701,260
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR I 2 1,022,297 812,185
1,582,866 1,513,445
Total comprehensive income for the year LARATEEAEER
attributable to: 2HE AL
Owners of the Company iN/NCTEZ YN 523,730 657,249
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR iR 1,022,297 812,185
1,546,027 1,469,434
RMB cents RMB cents
AR S ARE S
Earnings per share &R 13
Basic FHA 11.43 14.30

T 5% HBERBEwARAE 13



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE B R R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
R-ZF=Z—F+=-H=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2021 2020
——fF —TTF
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
BtaE AR®T T ARBT T
Non-current assets FIRBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y - R KRG 14 250,472 272,778
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 61,466 202,910
Investment properties L&Y 16 3,325,468 3,266,458
Goodwill Ea 17 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates RN 18 10,473,161 8,102,901
Interests in joint ventures RNELDDE RS 19 4,611,016 3,551,133
Financial asset at FVTPL BAFEFABZNERMEE 20 117,836 106,899
Other receivables H i fE Y FR I 23 5,465,334 4,583,367
Deferred tax assets BEETIRE B 21 890,870 953,844
25,355,833 21,200,500

Current assets RBEE
Properties for sale A EYE 22 74,620,484 50,168,069
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights Ut B& -t {s5 AREFT 32 & 415,863 444,838
Trade and other receivables 2T K HoAth e U R 23 21,402,156 28,059,097
Contract costs N )N 5 406,749 371,470
Prepaid income tax FEN TS 2,103,294 1,063,094
Bank balances and cash RITHER KRS 24 14,423,276 9,718,815
113,371,822 89,825,383

Current liabilities RERE
Contract liabilities SHBEE 5 27,367,755 23,798,352
Trade and other payables 75 R E M ER FRIE 25 36,316,375 31,289,620
Lease liabilities HEaGE 26 52,519 31,980
Loans from non-controlling interests FEIE IR HE T B 3R 27 515,035 1,722,334
Loans from an intermediate holding company ~ B AT E R 28 2,006,213 1,796,823
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 5,548,802 6,128,418
Bond payable JEHES 30 = 1,900,000
Income tax payable eI FTS R 3,789,978 4,197,466
75,596,677 70,864,993
Net current assets REBEERE 37,775,145 18,960,390
Total assets less current liabilities EERERABERE 63,130,978 40,160,890
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
R-FB-—F+_A=1—H

At 31 December

BR+=—BA=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—fF T -EE
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Mt et AR¥T AREETTT
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Loans from non-controlling interests JEPE RS B X 27 120,472 765,817
Loans from an intermediate holding company — FE#ZR AR ER 28 16,159,990 200,000
Bank borrowings RITEE 29 12,186,332 6,979,382
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 375,967 410,939
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEEE 21 437,620 537,918
29,280,381 8,894,056
Net assets EEFE 33,850,597 31,266,834
Capital and reserves EXRR G
Share capital R& 2 31 39,132 39,132
Reserves (k] 9,699,330 9,461,794
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NANTER AEIEER 9,738,462 9,500,926
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR fE o 45 24,112,135 21,765,908
Total equity A 33,850,597 31,266,834

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 287 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17

March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

F113E287TB 2 iAW MER A EFE 1K 202243 A
17BHERBRETIZREAATEEAREE

YU ZHILIANG
RER
DIRECTOR
EF

WONG KING YUEN
EHIR
DIRECTOR

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

H
n‘/T\

XL LT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARRERAEE
Equity Non-
Share Share Other transaction Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
B&ER5
kx  RtEE AR i XARE REEA i FERRE REREE
RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'0000  RMB'O00  RMB00  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note ii) (Note i)
(ki) (i)
At 1 January 2020 RZF-Z5-f-H 20132 5179352 (2402195 (1,000,097) 47849 7641700 9,505,741 19323826 28,829,567
Profit for the year AEERH - - - - - 701260 701260 812185 1513445
Other comprehensive expense for AEEEMRAERAY -
the year:
~ Exchange differences arising on ~BEENEHAH
translation of financial BRELY
statements of foreign operations EHEE - - - - (44,01 - (44.011) - (44.01)
Total comprehensive (expense) income RERZE(RRA
for the year &% = = = - (4011 701260 657249 812185 1469434
Acauisition of additional interest W — TR B A AR SN
in a subsidiary (Note 35) Em(1:35) = = = (39,066) - - (39.066)  (349.987)  (389,053)
Partial disposal of interest in a subsidliary S SIS
without change of control (Note 34) it E—RREAR
fEm(H234) = - - 2,206 - - 2206 92,700 94,906
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted WEE—FIRB AW
for as asset acquisition (Note 33 BEREAR(HZn) - - - - - - - R
Capital injection by non-controlling interests ~ 3FERIERTE = - - - - - - 176009 176209
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests  [F3E2RERE Rk S - - = - - - - (196534) (19653
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERRE (Hit12) - (625204) - - - - (625204) - (625204)
At 31 December 2020 i S
+-A=t-H 39,132 4,554,148 (2,402,195) (1,036,957) 3,838 8,342960 9,500,926 21,765,908 31,266,834
Profit for the year REEEF - - - - - 560,569 560569 1,022,297 1,582,866
Other comprehensive expense for REERMEARY :
the year.
- Exchange differences arising on -REBNEBHE
translation of financial statements of HRELY
foreign operations EREE - - - - (36,839) - (36,839) - (36839)
Total comprehensive income for the year IEE2ENALE - - - - (36,839 560,569 523,730 1,022,297 1,546,027
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 32) KE-HNBAT
(Wit32) - - = - - - - 97847 297,847
Acquisition of subsidiaries accounted foras W& —FSH B A A1)
assets acquisition (Note 33) N IREE) - - - - - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000
Capital reduction of subsidiaries WBAZ AR - - - - - - - (2,401,766) (2,401,766)
Capital injection by non-controllinginterests ~ JEERIERTE - - - 450 - - 450 1,194,703 1,195,153
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests s ERIER BRIk S - - - - - - - (266,854) (266,854)
Dividend declared (Note 12) BERkE(Hit1) - (286,644) - - - - (286,644) - (286,644)
At 31 December 2021 RZZ-_-%
+-A=t-H 39132 4,267,504 (2,402,195) (1,036,507)  (33,001) 8,903,529 9,738,462 24,112,135 33,850,597
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

%
nJj\

ERERD

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

EHE—

E-—F+ZA=1—HIFE

Notes:

@

Included in retained profits of RMB1,370,026,000 (2020: RMB1,315,219,000)
represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the PRC,
wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net
profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset previous years' losses of the relevant
subsidiary, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The other reserves comprise:

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company arising
from the completion of restructuring in prior years;

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in prior
years as deemed distribution to the shareholder; and

(c) The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and (ii)
the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring contributed
by an intermediate holding company at the date of restructuring,
deducted by the share capital and share premium of China Merchants
Land Limited (the “Company”) at the date of restructuring.

Kt -

(i)

SHARZ RN ARKE1,370,026,0007T (—E-F4F : ARK
1,315,219,0007T ) R EARFEME ([HFE])KZZHEA
Bl ZRTE S o IBIBRBMERER - RABEZIMEBEECER
AEFHBADRBEA  BEBERBEEFNFIBE(RFHRS
SHEBIFEE ) ET A DIRFEEES - BRRBEESTAEER
SHERAM B A RBEFE 2 BEB(NE) - BRIEER - TRIZ
FEEES ARSI

HAbf#ERE

() BEFESHETKAEERBEERZERITDZEMER
=8

(o) BEFEEMAMRESHSERND ZEIEMBRDIRRE
K

(@ (EAZRE: R()I2EHBEZERAFTIEZEEE

BZEBRNEARPZEGBRAZEZR - HREBERE
WAERRR([AAENRERB B2 RAER D EE -
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/-.r\ /\ IE, é AL E ’13—%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—EBEC-—F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES IR
Profit before tax [ %5t AT g ) 3,530,869 3,605,146
Adjustments for: BT
Depreciation of investment properties WEYEITE 148,579 167,433
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BEMRETE 34,576 29,729
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEETE 94,798 23,778
Fair value gain on financial asset at FVTPL RATEFABRZEMEEZ
A ER (10,937) (2,407)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNBE AR Z W - (81,577)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and LEME  BEMRHEZ
equipment B8 (Ueas ) 1 @)
Write-down of properties for sale R AT A S 2 360,538 849,920
Allowance of expected credit losses on amounts ~ JEUEEA DT R A L ERIEY
due from associates and joint ventures TRREEBHERE 262,073 187,294
Finance costs Bh & Ak AN 691,661 685,307
Interest income F B UA (285,726) (240,226)
Share of results of associates DIEE S N T 2 S (330,551) (195,728)
Share of results of joint ventures DIREEDE S (83,937) (13,942)
Unrealised foreign exchange gains, net R E W e H (38,876) (41,225)
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEBHRI I REHS RS
working capital 4,373,068 4,973,494
Increase in properties for sale A i & 5 0 (16,283,795) (1,782,279)
Decrease (increase) in deposit paid for Lk B+ 1 {5 FRARE P 4R & 3R> (32 hn)
acquisition of land use rights 28,975 (444,838)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 2% X b & U R I8 > (3L 0) 473,247 (1,158,994)
Increase in contract costs & AR ANIE N (35,279) (298,528)
Increase in contract liabilities SR EEE M 3,569,403 9,509,504
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables B I5 RE i FE A R IE I AN R4 ) 5,100,554 (732,101)

Cash (used in) generated from operations & (FER)EIRE (2,773,827) 10,066,262
Income tax paid B ATS (3,432,544) (2,571,596)
Interest received BB 93,171 175,440

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

RETH(FERA)MERESFR
(6,113,200) 7,670,106
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B--F _—F-FF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥T T ARBFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFED
Advances to associates BN EN (5,020,838) (10,677,346)
Repayment from associates Bt N AR 6,151,608 4,022,160
Advances to joint ventures A A D TR (922,417) (1,393,237)
Repayment from joint ventures BEPEERN 2,161,743 3,790,616
Advances to non-controlling interests [A) FEE RS A R B R (7,719,137) (8,439,700)
Repayment from non-controlling interests JEIE I RE TR B TR 6,011,241 2,603,048
Advances to fellow subsidiaries BIEEI NGRS (218,990) (1,437,372)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries REWEARER 19,355 841,600
Advances to intermediate holding companies Bl oNCIEAE: (917,225) (766,737)
Repayment from intermediate holding companies I 1Z2R% A 78 20,020 926
Advance to an investee M—2RELHRBK - (2,497)
Repayment from an investee —BREHREN 20,167 -
Capital injection to associates MEERRNEE (1,037,184) (5,917,818)
Capital injection to joint ventures mE&ETETFE (1,798) (130,240)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of ELEBWE—HEHEBA R 33
a subsidiary accounted for as asset acquisition INEEWBARZ
BERLFE (71,072) (111,862)
Cash inflow arising on acquisition of a subsidiary E4 8IS —EHE Q7 33
accounted for as asset acquisition NEEREARZ
BERA 591,529 23,169
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of EFXaHE—HHEAR] 35
a subsidiary resulting in loss of control (CBEUREREHRE) 2
BERANFE - 743,731
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition of EFrENE—HEHREARZ 32
a subsidiary WEMAHE 7,676 -
Dividend received from associates B B2 N a) WERER B, 36,413 =
Dividend received from joint ventures B EPEWEREE 373 126,442
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BE&ERE (12,519) (12,699)
Addition of investment properties BREMFERE (96,818) -
Proceeds received on disposal of HEDE  BE MK E
property, plant and equipment FT{S k18 204 193
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBHREARSFE (997,669) (16,737,617)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B=—F —ETF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE AR®T T ARBT T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEE 2 R0E 10,561,960 3,217,811
Repayment of bank borrowings EBERITEE (7,725,559) (2,873,559)
Advances from associates B 220 A BV 1,915,697 1,682,870
Repayment to associates Bk NG (1,291,672) (329,182)
Advances from joint ventures BEDERN 759,915 660,419
Repayment to joint ventures AEZhEER (232,450) (313,011)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEFE R RS AR 4,835,978 3,744,438
Repayment to non-controlling interests [ FE 22 I 1 258 X (5,038,872) (4,669,252)
Advances from intermediate holding companies AL A BRI E R 20,264,654 10,518,418
Repayment to intermediate holding companies  [A) A% A 7)3E 7K (8,131,734) (2,301,227)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries NI =PNSIE- T 2,285,083 2,923,992
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries EIEES NG (1,304,324) (621,089)
Interest paid ERFE (1,240,356) (1,186,138)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (109,796) (28,828)
Dividends paid EfIRE (553,498) (1,311,734
Repayment of bond payable BERNES (1,900,000) =
Capital contributed by non-controlling interests of ZN 5 [ & /A &) 2 FE3E AL
subsidiaries of the Group BT E 1,127,093 1,056,704
Capital reduction of subsidiaries Bt R Bl 2 B ANHIR (2,401,766) -
Cash inflow arising on partial disposal of interest in 5= #l| I EEE T2 H HE 34
a subsidiary without change of control — A8~ R R A
EERNEZRA - 94,906
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary Ui — &M 8 2 FIHY 35
REIME RS - (389,053)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEFTHRERSFR 11,820,353 9,876,485
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReERERRETHEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS FH 4,709,484 808,974
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUORERERAREEE
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 9,718,815 8,957,799
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE EREgBTE
CHANGES (5,023) (47,958)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRATSRERBEEA -
THE END OF THE YEAR, BRITHERKIRE
represented by bank balances and cash 14,423,276 9,718,815
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5
nJj\

CREE &R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

EHE—

Fo—F A=+ HIFE

GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a
limited liability company and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “"Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
44,

The Company's immediate holding company is Success Well
Investment Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). One of its intermediate
holding company is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holding Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Shekou”), which is
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Merchants Group
Limited (“CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise regulated and
directly managed by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council and is owned
and controlled by the PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

— AR
ARBRRASESEMAILZBERAR - H
BONEEBERXHMBR AR ([BRAHA])E
RET o R E) Z LM F Bt J = B2
HENER [ ARER | —&PHRE -

ARBZETBXEBRBREER  HNBRARZ
EEXRBESINHI TS -

ARRZEEERATDRKEREBRAR(A
REBRAZES([EBRELES ) EMKIZZ
BRAR]) - EEFR —EREZEER AR RBED
AT REERROERAB(HEER (S
RPEARKME((HEDKLZRA - "R
RYEBFRGAARRAB LT) c RRAFZEK
BRERARARBEREEERAR([HERS
Bl FRRERRbEREEAEESEEE
BZESEEVERER FEMGE  HEH
BT AT 3 5 4 o

BMBHRBRAARE (AR FtE - EX
BlZIaE B AR -

W
-
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021
which clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

2.

EREEEEMBRELZN(E
BB HREZED )

WA R A 2 IS S ST BB B IS s
R

RAFE  AEEERRESEMBEHREER
ERTIHHBESSHMAS([EESFA
g )BEMzEIETBAVBREEL - BAE
FIRZE—F—A— A z2ERAKRZFEH
54 | AE 2K

BRY B MEERE165E e Bt A AR B
ZAEFT HEEE

BREMGRELERFINR - M R B —
FAEHERFE395 F R

BBTISIRE LR ET75
BB IEIREAERIE A5 &
BT ERE 2R 165
ZEET

BHN  AEEEABR S EAEETE ZER
MBEREENREZEBE([ZRBE )R =F
“ERARMOBRERE  EREBEERE
FEABRFERESR ETHERE A
PR JZ RS ©

RAFREERAKETREMBERELENHAE
BREMRBEFENTBRARKRER,
REGEVBEREMBBREREEATE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee - Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision,
clarified the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories. In particular, whether such
costs should be limited to those that are incremental to the
sale. The Committee concluded that the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale should not be limited to those that
are incremental but should also include costs that an entity
must incur to sell its inventories including those that are not
incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy is to determine the net
realisable value of inventories taking into consideration of all
necessary estimated costs, not limited to incremental costs
Therefore, the Group's current accounting policy is considered
as consistent with the Committee’s agenda decision.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies®
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates®
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

s w N -

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

The amendments:

update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
("HKFRS 3") so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the "Conceptual Framework”) instead of
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in
October 2010);

add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC) - Int 21
Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) - Int
21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and

add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to
business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2022.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31

December 2021, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty - that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting
policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have

significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 21, for leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities (please
see Note below), the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are
assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets, right-of-use assets under sublease
classified as investment properties and lease liabilities which
are subject to the amendments amounted to RMB61,466,000,
RMB293,337,000 and RMB428,486,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REMBHRRCEREERTRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1 FEMBRR 2 MEELE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Lease (“HKFRS 16"), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets ("HKAS 36").
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

© has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

e  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to financial assets/liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes ("HKAS 12") and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquire (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree's identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of associates and joint ventures is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER ()

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. If the associate and joint venture uses
accounting policies that differ from those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the
associate’s and the joint venture’s accounting policies
to those of the Group. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER ()

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
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previously recognised in other comprehensive income B AIAREEREE B HEHEmE
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified ERAIRGELERBZSRANEER
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or BRENMOBEER(ERENDEAE) -

liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)
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investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes

to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
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would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
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recognised in the consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group; and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A receivable represents the Group's unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 TEDHBRE)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) HEFENNKRE(E)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of ISR M 7 - it 2 s 2 EKIBRIE T
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance HI#E
obligation
Output method EE
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a SERKE K B A) B E B #E B TR & AT
performance obligation is measured based on output 2 HEBRERTELSBERTERPZ
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis BEmRBEEEE S QB T AR 2
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or BT E M RBEB) BERBA « AR
services transferred to the customer to date relative to BE RS BN EEE M RISIE SIS
the remaining goods or services promised under the HZ BRIER -

contract, that best depict the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to ERERERERE  MERNEERERE
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly B ARAETeERENRBENE
with the value of the Group's performance completed to SETKBAEBEARBRANKIBERET
date for service contracts in which the Group bills a fixed HEEER  AXAEEFEAERAAEED
amount for each month, the Group recognises revenue in TRERRAE

the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component FIEEAFEK S

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts REEXZEEE  MRAXFHEEER
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of RIS (N am AR RS R A ) i3 7 2
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed NRERARTPAAEETRERNFEF
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer @ IR B ERRHE B E
or the Group with a significant benefit of financing EAHEINREBELE RZEBRT 848
the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In SHERMEKD - TR E N FABAR
those circumstances, the contract contains a significant ZHHAE KT A A HE 2 HEREE Rt
financing component. A significant financing component BEGE  GHTHFEERMEKD °

may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods or services in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant
interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the
same basis as other borrowing costs.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTHBER#E)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment and motor
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

®  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for sales” respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTHBER#E)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets. The directors of the Company
considered that such adjustment has no material impact
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEEEREAN (B)
Lease modifications HEEH

HIRATER - AEEERHEEERE
RIREBENHE AR

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease o  ZIABIUEBIENER—IANZIEN
by adding the right to use one or more underlying AEENEABAEEESEE &
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an e FHERMBIEM BN SFEEE RS

ElfE NS EHEBER - AR
FEAONERBAMYEBERE
TTRERDEE FHE

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

MARER—IHEBHEEARNEEE SR

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease incentive from lessor by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component. The associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease

components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTHBER#E)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
The directors of the Company considered that such
adjustment has no material impact to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease
(adjusted for any initial direct costs associated with the
sublease) to measure the net investment in the sublease if
the interest rate implicit in the sublease cannot be readily
determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

152 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

HEE)

REFERHNA (E)

RERERS

BRI R ERERSBRETAMEREE
BIZE9SRARR - WHI IR A FERTE ° 1)
FHEREE AT ENFHERE BEEAR
BINHENZR - ARREERSE @ AR
HAREENGATERERTEERTE -

P!

EAKERTALEA ZS’EIAH%I%E
AR SEHARBMIBBIAK - DEH
D2RIBORMELNEREEENRS
BMEIKEMNE  MIFLREBEEENHE

WO HERE MR RTER] SEHERE - Al

AEBERTHEERMANERX(pESHE

iﬂﬁﬁﬂE’JEH%}J?AE&&$M*@;‘+E’V"E
BEHNREF °

HEEN

BRI 5 ?k&{lﬂﬁf—ﬁ’ﬁﬁi%/\ﬂjﬂ’ﬂﬂ“
BE}ESMEEEHAR  BREBRHENR
ﬁz%ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬂ,\ﬁ’ﬁﬂé{ﬁﬁ €

AEE B ERAERB SRR EREER
ERFEOAER - LS R RBLBEHE
AANERAREN IR AAEONEE
R —&F 9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets”. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to written off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is transferred to properties
for sales when there is a change in use evidenced by
commencement of development with a view to sale of the
relevant properties. The carrying value of the property at
the date of transfer is the deemed cost of the property for
its subsequent accounting in accordance with HKAS 2.

154 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

EUBRRCERREERETES

#E&zmg)

32 EESFERE)

REMHE

REMFEARDE S R LEARFHEM R
B2ME -

RENMENTEERERRERAEEELH
AEERBLEHESHHEYE -

KRENENS LKA E  BREMER
IS - NI HERE - REWMERK
AR E & R AT E R RFHRER BT
B - ERMEZBEMNERZBEM
BER  RESIMBEREVDENEG
A E R F I Z B

BREMENAELRES  AAEBEBET
M ERNENERELESRBEYERE -
TEBRERE %% MEREEB PR
HEARBEEGHENFERETRES
#Jﬁ@ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬂ@ﬁ



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Properties for sale

Properties for sale under current assets are properties
(under development or completed properties) held for
future sale in the ordinary course of business. Except for
the leasehold land element which is measured at cost
model in accordance with the accounting policies of
right-of-use assets, properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value is determined based on the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property at cost when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or land for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the commencement of
an operating lease to another party.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities, other than
those classified as FVTPL, are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is not held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “fair value gain on financial
asset at FVTPL” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances)
and financial guarantee contracts which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables is assessed
individually for all debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instruments as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

®* an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per

globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitments is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

e  when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

e when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence of credit-impairment
includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or

issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession that the lender would
not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risk
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTHBER#E)

Financial instruments (continued) SRMTEE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) EHEERER(E)
Financial liabilities ERAR

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,

B S B R PO BB e 3
A -

RBHERAGTEZERAE
TRBE(BREBREMEMNR - IFE

BERENR  HRERIFAER  BHE
FUARRITER) ARRAERN 80X L%

are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the SHAXZRGTE -

loans from non-controlling interests and an intermediate
holding company, bond payable and bank borrowings

effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts A RIRE K

BHEERAOTIRTELARITE AN
BESHELEH  AHEREABNER
RAEARBERIRE TS T B AR 2 AR
RMEXZBKR - WBEREDDNTRA
FEAE - WHREATRERSES

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

e REBEMBMELENFEIREEZ
EiEERERE 0 &

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o VFHERETR(HER)ERBAE
R BT -

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and contract
costs to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment
loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in
accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment
loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is
recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the costs which relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been recognised
as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract costs
are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of
evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTHBER#E)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS require or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other

income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of (other than in a business
combination) assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

176

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated write-down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties
for sale is determined based on the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based on
prevailing market conditions, less applicable selling expenses
and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.

The Group writes down properties for sale to net realisable
value. If there is an increase in anticipated costs to completion
or a decrease in estimated net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this might result in write-down of
properties for sale to net realisable value. Write downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write downs requires the use of judgements and estimates.
If the expectation is different, it will impact the carrying value
of properties for sale in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

The net realisable values of certain of the Group’s properties
for sale, located in Foshan and Chongging, the PRC, are
lower than their cost and a provision of RMB1,234,602,000
have been recognised as at 31 December 2021. Details of
the carrying amount of properties for sale of approximately
RMB74,620,484,000, net of write-down of RMB1,234,602,000
(2020: carrying amount of RMB50,168,069,000, net of write-
down of RMB1,171,760,000) as at 31 December 2021 are set
out in note 22.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
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UNCERTAINTY (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC, of which the
implementation varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC. LAT is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the land appreciation value.
The Group determines the land appreciation value as the
proceeds of sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right, borrowing costs
and the relevant property development expenditures.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
properties are delivered to the buyers, at the time when the
final amounts of LAT payments have not been approved by
the local tax authorities in the PRC. The Group recognised the
LAT based on management'’s best estimates on the applicable
land appreciation value and the estimated deductible
expenditures. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the period in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets of RMB890,870,000 (2020:
RMB953,844,000) mainly in relation to tax losses and LAT have
been recognised at 31 December 2021 as set out in note
21. The utilisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. The directors of
the Company determine the deferred tax assets based on
the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group for coming
years during which the deferred tax assets are expected to
be utilised. The directors of the Company will review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end of the reporting
period. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are less than expected or there is a downward revision of
estimated future profits, a reversal of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the period in which such a reversal takes place.
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5. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

5. W=
REBRAFE 2 W AT
2021 2020
—E-—f —EFTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

By types of goods or services

% K n 2 AR B AR 2

Asset management segment BEEED A

Asset management services income BEEERBBA 18,934 18,074
Properties segment WD

Sales of properties for sale HERHHEY 25,591,850 18,629,867

Properties operation income

mELBERA 45,087 32,454

Rental income from investment properties

BREMENBS WA (HZ10)

(Note 10)

265,545 276,023

25,902,482 18,938,344

25,921,416 18,956,418

By timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Over time i

Wzt FERR A B BT
S — e 2h

25,591,850 18,629,867
64,021 50,528

Revenue from contracts with customers (Note) HEEFEAS LMW (HEE)
"EMENHES WA

Rental income from investment properties

25,655,871 18,680,395
265,545 276,023

25,921,416 18,956,418

Note: Revenue from contracts with customers are mainly derived from the PRC
except for RMB18,934,000 (2020: RMB18,074,000) related to the operation
in Hong Kong.

The Group enters into a sale and purchase agreement at the
stage the construction of the properties is still ongoing. Upon
completion of the negotiation with the customers, the Group
receives certain percentage of contract value as deposits
from customers and recognised as contract liabilities under
HKFRS 15. The Group may provide guarantee to banks in
connection with mortgage granted to the customers to finance
the advanced payment to the Group and the directors of the
Company consider the amount of consideration allocated to
this performance obligations not significant and no transaction
price is allocated to this performance obligation.

Bt - RERBEETMMARK18934000L(=F=F
F: AR¥18,074,0007T) 50 - BEMKEERIREF
B o

AEERMEERNEETHERIIZEE D
& TNEEFERE - AKEATFEMAE
WEENETADLERES - WIREFEH
BHREENFSRERR/ANEE - AREH
R AEPR B MIZBMARITREHEER - N
BNRAAREEELNER ARBFEERE
PEZMENETHRESBELTEKR - BY
BEXHEREOIEENBORME -
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REVENUE (continued)

For contracts entered into with the customers on sales of
properties, the Group recognises the revenue from sales of
properties for sale at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the completed property.

Contract costs

sk )
R EMEMEEFITIMANTS A%E
REBTYLEERTEE SRR ET
BB RS EEDIE Ty
7 RS o

BRI

2021 2020

—EB-—F —TTF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREETTT

Incremental costs to obtain contracts EEAS LM ER AN 406,749 371,470

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers entering
into sale and purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under construction at the reporting date.
Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which revenue from
the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
contract costs amortised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB319,577,000 (2020: RMB72,942,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the costs capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

5. W& ®)

Contract liabilities BHAEE
2021 2020
= —ECTE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of BRIEEYFEZ S
properties 27,367,755 23,798,352
As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to RZZE_ZF—FA—H ABHEEAEARE
RMB14,288,848,000. 14,288,848,0007T °
Contract liabilities are classified as current as they are MENBBERINAEE —REEEHNE
expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating HAlgsBEARY -
cycle.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRHEINAFEAIRREAEEANEEZ
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward Wa e R o
contract liabilities
2021 2020
—B--F —T-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Revenue recognised that was included in the HRHEAHLEMEFAFINENE
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of Biasr 2 BERER Y=
the year in respect sales of properties for sale 17,687,170 12,415,851
Leases HE
2021 2020
—B--F —T-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
For operating leases: MELSHEmMS -
Fixed lease payments & E M E R 265,545 276,023
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. The CODM is the Company’s
executive directors.

For the management purpose, the Group is organised into
different property projects engaged in development and sales
of properties, property leasing and assets management in
various cities within the PRC, each of which is considered as
an operating segment by the CODM. For segment reporting
purpose, these operating segments have been aggregated
into two reportable segments: (i) Development and sales of
properties and property leasing (“Properties Segment”); and
(ii) Asset management for office premises and shopping malls
("Asset Management Segment”), according to the nature and
similarity of their products and services, the customer type
or class, the method of products distribution or providing
services, and the regulatory environment, which give rise to a
more meaningful presentation.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

2 HAR
AEBERNBBHMBERELABSRLL D
o ZRARATEEDBREREBERRE
(ERBEBERREAPEERES D H RT
RHEREMEHRBHAREES I 2 ABHRE
REETLH - TBEBREERA QAN
TEF-

RBTEEMBEN  ARERIDRETEEE
WHRENERBEREE VMEEEREEE
ENTRMERE  SBEBRIBEERRE
BR—AKEDH - BT OBBRENEDN - 12
RZEEEDBHNEMRMRBHESZ RAE
% BPRISER - HEEmRIEERED
TAUREERE  HEAHRUTHMERNZ2
BoRS - (VMERBELBEERMERE(TWED
1) RVBRAENERBYESNEEE R
(TBEEENHM])  UREEEEENER -

D EBUk e KA
NTRIZAERNBED BE D 2 AR B W E
NEBDT

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES I LY E Sk we
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AR®T AR¥ T
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ_—Z=—f
TZHA=t—HLFE
Segment revenue pan= L G
— external customers — N 18,934 25,902,482 25,921,416
Segment results DEBFELE 10,867 3,992,979 4,003,846
Unallocated net foreign exchange gain &9 B0 [E X K555 55,171
Unallocated income RO B A 53,386
Unallocated expenses ROBEZ (53,123)
Unallocated finance costs RO BB & A (528,411)
Profit before tax 6 B BT v ) 3,530,869
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH MEDE ma
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARETT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ_-_ZE_-FF
+ZBA=+—RHLFE

Segment revenue D EB U R

— external customers — NERE 18,074 18,938,344 18,956,418
Segment results DEPFELE 10,962 4,144,956 4,155,918
Unallocated net foreign exchange losses 7k % Bt/ i, &5 18,% 58 (72,131)
Unallocated income ROBUA 51,364
Unallocated expenses AOB S H (47,191)
Unallocated finance costs RO RLE KA (482,814)
Profit before tax R 75 AT 2 A1) 3,605,146

There was no inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of unallocated corporate costs, certain
finance costs, certain other income and certain net foreign
exchange losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

85 2 A3 ) BRFE S o

WS B BRI 2 AR EE;
BEMAR - HBEEEE S BELBHERD
RAFMA  EFREKAS  EFRERAR
ETERBRTEREL RN - HPAEE
EERFEEEREERIERERIEREY
EEEE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEER &)
Segment assets and liabilities DEEENEE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities NTRIZAZH|MREEDHE D 2 A EEEE
by reportable and operating segments: KaES
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M MEDH wa
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
At 31 December 2021 R=FB=—%+=-HA=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 85,277 127,788,530 127,873,807
Goodwill 5k 160,210
Other unallocated assets H kOB EE 10,693,638
Total assets BERE 138,727,655
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,324 68,545,527 68,551,851
Other unallocated liabilities H koA E 36,325,207
Total liabilities BE®EH 104,877,058
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH M5 e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 31 December 2020 (restated) R-E-_ESF+=-A=+—H
(FEE5)
Segment assets DEPEE 28,076 99,794,838 99,822,914
Goodwill S 160,210
Other unallocated assets Hib RO EE 11,042,759
Total assets BEME 111,025,883
Segment liabilities DEPBE 8,580 55,866,952 55,875,532
Other unallocated liabilities HEih R DAL BE 23,883,517
Total liabilities BE®EE 79,759,049
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

. all assets, other than goodwill and assets of the
investment holding companies, are allocated to
reportable and operating segments; and

e all liabilities, other than bonds payable, loans from an
intermediate holding company of the investment holding
companies and bank borrowings of the investment
holding companies, are allocated to reportable and
operating segment.

Segment assets and unallocated assets as at 31 December
2020 have been restated by RMB7,341,000,000 for consistent
presentation of those balances of the current year.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets.

DEER (2
DBEERAEE)
REEHBRARRDSBESEERMS -

s MBEE(MTERBERKREZRARE
E)ODPEEF2RELENH R

s MBREBE(IBEEMES  REZERAQF
ZHEERARERRREZER QD ERT
EE)ONEEEA 2MBMEEDED

R-ZE_FF+-_A=1+8 " 2HFBEENED
Bl & EC B A ARE7,341,000,0007T @ ARF
AAFEZSHEHNENAR -

Hitb D #BE
AT ED B M EER D BB EMTRT M2 FUA e

b

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEED LY Skl ma

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ=-E=—4f
+ZBA=+—RHLEEE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEENE (ME)

Interest income FEMA

Depreciation of property, plant and W BEMERETE
equipment

Depreciation of investment properties KEYEITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE

Write-down of properties for sale OB ATt S Y

- 3,909,694 3,909,694

- 232,354 232,354
7 34,569 34,576
- 148,579 148,579
- 94,798 94,798
- 360,538 360,538
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information (continued)

DEE R (#)
Hfth 5 BB R ()

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH MEDEB aNe)
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZ_-Z=-FF
+TZA=+—HLEFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ERBEENE (M F)

Interest income FEKA

Depreciation of property, plant and M BEMRETE
equipment

Depreciation of investment properties KEMENE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE

Write-down of properties for sale WOR RIS 3

11 6,260,059 6,260,070

148 216,532 216,680
4 29,725 29,729
- 167,433 167,433
- 23,778 23,778
- 849,920 849,920

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and non-current other
receivables.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from
the PRC, including Hong Kong. No single customer of the
Group contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for
both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax assets and financial instruments) are located in
the PRC.

Geographical information

The Group’s Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi'an, the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations. Assets
of Properties Segment and Asset Management Segment are
presented based on the location of the assets.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

Revenue from
external customers

6. PEER &)
IR ER (&)

Segment assets

REIBEF 2 W= DEEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
=B "T-THF ZB-—fF —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR®T T ARBT T
Foshan 1l 3,866,389 2,256,500 23,124,732 12,512,447
Guangzhou EM 2,218,805 3,273,038 10,122,253 14,201,823
Nanjing and Jurong EREAR 8,507,651 6,260,611 23,500,158 37,671,676
Chongging EE 8,981,974 6,844,746 47,721,601 22,451,407
Xi'an itkoa 2,264,952 255,343 22,388,256 11,045,427
Hong Kong &8 81,645 66,180 1,016,807 1,940,134
25,921,416 18,956,418 127,873,807 99,822,914
7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hilg A

2021 2020
=B=—% —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBFIT
Bank interest income RITHEHA 98,150 78,084
Interest income on amount due from associates NI NN 165,587 64,786
Interest income on amount due from joint ventures JEUA & (> 25018 2 A B4 A 6,919 97,356

Interest income on amount due from JE UK SR AR e ok 703 2 F B U
non-controlling interests 12,729 -
Interest income on amount due from a third party ~ fEUR—& 5 =H 08 2 | BUA 1,392 -
Interest income on amount due from an investee B —ZREHRZIEZ A B WA 949 -
Government grants BT B 5,817 6,247
Others Eih 22,655 21,571
314,198 268,044
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMA
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Interest on: F & -

—bank borrowings - R1TEE 698,948 811,909
— lease liabilities -HEaE 15,350 16,649
— loans from an intermediate holding company - —XEEZEKRAG 2 ER 397,118 140,304
— loans from non-controlling interests - RS B 153,652 162,660
—bonds - &% 88,129 87,400
Total borrowing costs BEBE KA 1,353,197 1,218,922

Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying i : B &N L AEBIREERANZ
assets oHIE (661,536) (533,615)
691,661 685,307
Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development BANMTEE27 28 ~ 29X 30FTHEEE  EEANMEA
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of AIHEERRPYEEERARSEEZS

respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29 and 30. KM KRETE -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FrEHiRIY

2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTHF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

The income tax expenses comprise of: FTiSHifZ 81 :

Hong Kong Profits Tax BB 2,567 2,160

PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") B EAEB( XS]

— Current year - REE 918,228 812,711

— Underprovision in prior year - BAFERETR 23,714 =

Withholding tax expenses TAHIBF 239,944 1,477

LAT + B ER 800,874 1,044,035
1,985,327 1,860,383

Deferred taxation (Note 21) FEIERIA(Aat21) (37,324) 231,318

1,948,003 2,091,701

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is 25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less estimated deductible expenditures
including cost of land use right, borrowing costs and the
relevant property development expenditures.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020. The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements.

1R B Z S B ([ EFERE ) R
$FTGBURE D - 5P B MR 2 M
AR ZEE D EFSHBE A% - o - A&
EEETHPEERARA 2P EEE—BE
3 5P R 2 R 5% 510% 2 T 4R A
851 -

S (B R S B (DB 2 F/S3K0R
kA AR (B E I E R (R
A RATB AR R BIR)) A FI0%E0%H)
BB U -

BE_ZT-—FR-_ZT_FTF+A=+—H
WEFE - BAEFEHIRGTERTRFIE16.5%
FE o ARFESZRE - BITHASHmASIFT
BRZSEHGETBERERMELTER
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BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FriSHim< @)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REZREH L EGEE Bm XM ER R
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or RABRBRNRFERAT

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
=E-—F —T_FHF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Profit before tax B B Al e A 3,530,869 3,605,146
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) R25%(ZFZTF : 25% ) FT1SHt
(Note) MEAE 2 HE A T) 882,717 901,287
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax N HIF 2 X 2 s E
purposes 246,700 211,270
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes HERT 7 Ut A 2 Tl 75 57 2 (117,028) (88,110)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously — B)FRBERER 2 FHIEEE 2 5
not recognised 2 (8,985) (423)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEE B 2 B2 161,119 203,326
LAT + I ER 800,874 1,044,035
Tax effect of LAT THIRER Z B2 (200,219) (261,009)
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETR 23,714 -
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  RHER A T L ik =48 7 BiFS 2
not recognised 203,625 250,154
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary  B)FBERER 2 AIHNB R Z5E >
differences previously not recognised s & (54,766) (157,872)
Dividend withholding tax expense A& B TR F L (24,516) (10,063)
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions ~ HAh /AR TR E 2 F £ 34,768 (894)
Income tax expense FriS iz 1,948,003 2,091,701
Note: 25% represents the tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Hiat : 25% RAKBARIMD EBAERDERR 2 BE -

Group is substantially based.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BRBE AR A

2021 2020
—E_—F = R
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging  BREpNGE R (G %) T 51&
(crediting): HBSH
Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ EERMAZ(RREEZESHH) :
remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances 4 & H hEEL 418,318 387,200
Pension scheme contributions RIR@ T EIER 40,101 21,305
Total staff costs B IR 4E%E 458,419 408,505
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under and & : B &N AR HEZERESD
for sale L) (278,851) (218,202)
179,568 190,303
Gross rental income from investment properties BEMELES WA (M 5E5)
(Note 5) (265,545) (276,023)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred, excluding 8 @ FTELAZ AERKERAX
depreciation (TEERE) 144,177 171,927
Less: Depreciation of investment properties o REWENTE 148,579 167,433
27,211 63,337
Cost of properties for sale recognised as expenses  HERER X 2 AIH L EYHEK A 20,776,436 13,857,762
Depreciation of investment properties WEYETE 148,579 167,433
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 94,798 23,778
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BB REETE 34,576 29,729
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN & 5,045 4,047
Write-down of properties for sale (included in cost of #is Al H & 93 (5 AR
properties for sale) HEYER ) 360,538 849,920
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE MR EEIE
equipment (Yea) 1 @8)

— = —

—= =

—FF HEREMBERAF
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1.

192

ten) directors were as follows:
For year ended 31 December 2021

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2020:

(a)

1. EEBRIEE 2 HN

ENSgENTEZ(ZE_2F : +R)EF
ZBZFHMOT
BE-Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE

Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong

Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total

HEERE REREKE BEHRRELE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T

A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: . BTESE:

Fee paid or payable in respect of a MIERARRRIHE
person’s services as a director, ME AR EEM
whether of the Company or its REZREZE

subsidiaries N ERMEE - - = =
Emoluments paid or payable in HEBALTERS
respect of a person’s other services AR B K E A
in connection with the management BRREBATR
of the affairs of the Company and its H HMRE 2
subsidiaries AN/ ANERT)

Other emoluments: HebFm -

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 33 1,082 33 1,148
Performance related incentive IR AR SRR 3k

payments bonus (Note (i)) TEAL(H1 7)) = 1,755 = 1,755
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFIFH B

contributions - - 2 2

Sub-total NET 33 2,837 85 2,905
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

EE=

11.

E-—F+ZA=1—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(@) (continued) (@) (&)
For year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) BE-_ZT-_—+=-A=+—HLEE
(%)
Mr. Huang Mr. Xu
Junlong Yongjun  Mes. Liu Ning Total
EHYEEE FKRKEXE glEy+ e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT AR®T R
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. kHTES
Fees paid or payable in respect of RIEARRR R ENEB
a person’s services as a director, ARERMRMEZ
whether of the Company or its FRis 2 Bk AL
subsidiaries ik 33 33 33 99
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
FxERLT RENRZE EHFEEX [AELE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥BTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®T:
C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BYFHITE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: E:
Fees paid or payable in respect R (=Y. N/NE]|
of a person’s services as a BEATRM
director of the Company B 2 B4
KNS 112 112 112 12 448
Total emoluments #2557 3,452
—E-—FER BERBMHAERAT 193
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued) (a)
For year ended 31 December 2020

(%&)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

BE-_Z-_ZEF+-A=+—HLEFE

Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
HEEELT RERKE BBRRELE HEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A BTES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of a HEBALTIEAR
person’s services as a director, NCIEELI=PN
whether of the Company or its RAIEEMRMEZ
subsidiaries BR7% 2 Bk pE
e = = = -
Emoluments paid or payable in LEBMALERER
respect of a person’s other services ZaRNETEIA )
in connection with the management BRRIEBFTRE
of the affairs of the Company or its M2 EMRSE 2
subsidiaries =AY ANEA
Other emoluments: H fth ZrBM -
Salaries and allowances e MoEBL 34 1,022 34 1,090
Performance related incentive IR AR SEE T 3R
payments bonus (Note (i) TE4T (BE5EG)) = 1,451 = 1,451
Retirement benefits scheme RIRREAIGHEI MR
contributions - - 2 2
Sub-total Nt 3 2473 3 2,543
Mr. Mr. Xu
Huang Junlong Yongjun  Ms. Liu Ning Total
mEESEE FPOKELLE BEL+ #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT NS NS NS
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. ¥HTES:
Fees paid or payable in respect of REBALIERRAR
a person’s services as a director, FHMBLRAES
whether of the Company or its iRt RG22
subsidiaries N EMNES 34 34 34 102

194 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE
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BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N EBREEZFHFM =)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued) (@) (&)
For year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) BE-Z-ZEF+-RA=+t—HLEE

(%)

Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen

Albert Yanping Dr. Shi Xinping Mr. He Qi Total
FoxEHFT BRENAZLT LEFTEL  [AEE4E HEt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT ARET:R

C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BYFHITE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: 5
Fees paid or payable in respect HBEBALIE
of a person’s services as a RANEE
director of the Company ERTRMEZ
B2 B4
HENEER 115 115 115 115 460
Total emoluments 48 3,105
Notes: KieE -
(i)  The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the (i) EBEATREARRERE -

individual performance.

(i)  The Company does not have any chief executive for which the (i) ARAARBEMITRAR(EBERZBATESE
functions are carried out by all the executive directors. 1) e

(iii)  There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed (i) AMEFERN BEEFBUREXREREETHS
to waive any remuneration for both years. ZRHE

(ivy  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as (iv) AEEBEREAESZNHM - AERE AN
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation ARE B 2 RE SR B E o

for loss of office.
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BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'’ . EEREEZHM @)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) The five highest paid employees of the Group during the (b) AFEEARKELEESFMALTHBIE—
year included one director (2020: one director) whose F(ZEEF: —R)EF - HHHN L
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11(a) MHEE11(e)HKE - REERTHE(ZF
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the ZEF  NE)EeFMA T ZHMEFED
remaining four (2020: four) highest paid employees are as I
follows:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AR¥EFTT

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EAEREMER 4,121 3,489

Contributions to retirement benefits schemes RARtEF|ET2IH K 454 272
Discretionary and performance related 15 M 2= 2R AR B 22 B 3k

incentive payments 6,574 6,129

11,149 9,890
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11.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ N EBEREEZFHM =)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(continued) (b) (#&)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five NEBEER T A RELZ RS A+
highest-paid employees as inducement to join or upon EB o MEAEMAFRINARE B>
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. #E B S Ve S E R B o
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BREHMNFLATEHE

Number of employees

EEAHY
2021 2020
—E--F —ECTEF
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") 2,000,001 to 7R ([ 7% 1)2,000,001 7T £ %% 2,500,000
HK$2,500,000 (2021: approximately T(ZZZ—F : HARKE,660,001TE
RMB1,660,001 to RMB2,075,000; AREE2075000 i —E-ZFF : YAR
2020: approximately RMB1,779,001 to #1,779,001 T E AR #2,223,7507T)
RMB2,223,750) 1 2

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 (2021:
approximately RMB2,075,001 to
RMB2,490,000; 2020: approximately
RMB2,223,751 to RMB2,668,500)

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 (2021:
approximately RMB3,320,001 to
RMB3,735,000; 2020: approximately
RMB3,558,001 to RMB4,002,750)

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
(2021: approximately RMB4,150,001 to
RMB4,565,000; 2020: approximately
RMB4,447,501 to RMB4,892,250)

7B #2,500,001 7T E 7 #3,000,0007T (=&

——F : YAREH2075001 TEARE

2,490,0007T i —E=FF : HARK

2,223,751 T EARH2,668,5007T) 2 1
75#4,000,001 7T & % #4,500,0007T (= F

——F  HARE3 320,001 TEARKE

3,7350007C i —E=_FF : YARE

3,558,001 L& AR #4,002,7507T) = 1
755,000,001 T £ #5,500,00070 (=&

——F : HARKEL,150,001 TEAREE

4,565,0007T i —E-TF : YARKE

4,447,501 L& AR #64,892,2507T.) 1 -
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HE—F—

12.

13.

—F+=A=+—HIFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a final dividend of
HK$0.07 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2020 (2020: HK$0.14 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019) was declared and paid
to the shareholders of the Company. The aggregate amount
of final dividend paid from share premium of the Company
during the year amounted to approximately RMB286,644,000
(2020: RMB625,204,000).

Subseqguent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of HK$0.06
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.046) per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

12.

13. BIRE

iz B
F@§f$:*¢+_ﬂ:+*ﬁtiﬁ PN

AEIEREE-ZZT-_TF+-_A=+—HILHF
FZX%&Qt% ﬁh%%okafjfj
fi& & @h%%mmﬂ WA R B REIR
RER BB L AR 286,644,000 (==
—ZTHE . AR®625,204,0007T) IR ERNB A
AR = EIRS o

RBERHEEERR  ARRESCERBRN
FRABZE T _—F+_A=t—HBLEFREZ
RER S S RB0.067T (FEERK ARKO0.046
JT) v R ARBRERNRERERR KNG 4t E
& IAIEE °

Al
ARAEE AN G RERBRN TR T 5B
HE

2021 2020
—2-—-F —T-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Earnings BZF
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per  stE&REARZEF| 2 2 F|(BIAA
share, being profit for the year attributable to B A A EEFEAREF])
owners of the Company 560,569 701,260
2021 2020
—EC-—F —ER-RF
Number of shares R7EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ & & E A B F 2 38 4% hniE F
the purpose of basic earnings per share HE 4,905,257,860 4,905,257,860

No diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE_F_—F+-_A=1—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE
Owned Leasehold Motor Office
properties improvements vehicles  equipment Total
FEENE HENXEEEL "E BAZRME st

RMB'000 RMB*000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARBTR  AR®TR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR

(o(0}1) KA
At 1 January 2020 n-_ZE-FTF—F—H 28,453 299,583 8,320 18,299 354,655
Additions NE - 7,170 2,097 3432 12,699
Disposals HE = - (1,054) (2,010) (3,064)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) U — KB A 71(f13233) - - = 107 107
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35)  HE&E—FHBA I (#:235) = = (252) (192) (444)
At 31 December 2020 and RZE-EF+-A=1+—H

1 January 2021 &=—F-—-%—HF—H 28,453 306,753 9,111 19,636 363,953
Additions NE - 7,448 1,414 3,657 12,519
Disposals HeE - - (1,852) (1,585) (3,437)
Exchange realignment B A - = = (31) (31)
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—%+-f=1+—H 28,453 314,201 8,673 21,677 373,004
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-_ZTF-—F—H 8,291 38,092 5,864 12,465 64,712
Provided for the year FEREE 1,026 23,970 1,536 3,197 29,729
Eliminated on disposals PR - = (968) (1911) (2,879)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35)  tHE&E—FRME AR (A7:235) = = (240) (147) (387)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZE-ZTF+-A=1—H

1 January 2021 k=E-_—%—f-H 9,317 62,062 6,192 13,604 91,175
Provided for the year EREE 1,026 29,991 844 2,715 34,576
Eliminated on disposals PHER - - (1,726) (1,506) (3,232)
Exchange realignment [ 1 R - - - 13 13
At 31 December 2021 RZB-_—E+-fF=+-H 10,343 92,053 5,310 14,826 122,532
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—%+-f=1+—H 18,110 222,148 3,363 6,851 250,472
At 31 December 2020 RZBE-_FEE+-A=1-H 19,136 244,691 2919 6,032 272,778
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

(continued)

The Group's owned properties are erected on land located in

the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into

account of their estimated residual values, at the following

rates per annum:

Owned properties 5% or over the lease terms of FTiEE Y%
the relevant land, if shorter

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease terms of HEMREE
the relevant properties

Motor vehicles 15% - 20% HE

Office equipment 15% - 20% MRERME

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

15. EREEE

ME - BERSRE )

AEEMHEENYEERNTE LML

REE B KE B E MG R
BERZEATEMNEUEROETENE ¢

5%k (fH#RE) 1RAAE

T

ek e

15%—20%
15%—20%

Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
TH RAEF RE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETTT AREETTT ARBETTT
As at 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 61,466 = 61,466
As at 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZEF+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 202,669 241 202,910
For the year ended 31 December ®BZE—-Z-_—f+=-A=+—H
2021 IEFE
Depreciation charge eEEH 94,557 241 94,798
For the year ended 31 December &HZ-Z-—ZHF£+-HA=+-—H
2020 IEFE
Depreciation charge heEZHA 23,279 499 23,778
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 15. EFREEE2)

2021 2020
—E=-—% —E T4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Expense relating to short-term leases BREEBREEN 5,215 6,271

Total cash flow for leases (excluding leasehold FER &R EEB (TR A HEEY
lands for properties for sale) FEoHEE ) 130,361 58,019
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRREE 95,080 194,413
For both years, the Group leases various offices and vehicles RREFEE  AEERSEZEARAEMTE

for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 20 years (2020: 3 months to 20 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor
vehicles and office equipment. As at 31 December 2021
and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the right-of-use
assets amounting to RMB69,283,000 was transferred to
investment properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total cash outflow
for leases is RMB19,841,700,000 (2020: RMB4,542,360,000),
including RMB 14,210,000 (2020: RMB22,318,000) paid for
leased properties under subleases and RMB19,827,490,000
(2020: RMB4,520,042,000) paid for acquiring leasehold lands.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants to the
Group.

REHLZE - tAEANME - HIZAMERE
RIEZE20F(ZZB-FF : 38 A E205F ) 7]
7 o HEGRIREREERER - BREZED
[ {6 SR R MR A = 7088 AR B I R T AT R A
MEER  AEEEEAGNNEERETR
HIATENITHA -

rEESEHITLEBIERRAZTRENRE
HEE RZZE-_—FK=_T=_ZTF+=A
=+—H  SHESNHES E KRR S E
HEX NG HAHEEHREED -

BHE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HIFE " FH
HEEEARY69,283,000tE EHEEREYE -

BE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—RHItEE  HE
IR & A% A AR 19,841,700,0005T (= F
—Z4F : ARM4,542,360,0007T) © BIEFHE
HTIHWHEEYESFH AR 14,210,0007T (=
T_TF : AR®22,318,0000T) Rtk ERE
+ 3 Y A R #19,827,490,000 T ( — T =&
& AR#4,520,042,0007T) °

T thn % N 8 [F) A 55 (B e DN AEART 2240
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various apartments and retail stores
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years (2020: 1
to 15 years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease

16. IREWZ

contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee REF)) o

exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result

AEBBRELEHELHZEAETRETER
o mASES A - HEE; @?ﬂ,ﬁﬂ*Q?%'l
FISE(ZE_FF  1215%F) » LHEAEAR
BHEEEEREEVIEHAERN - KEBHHEE
EHNEEMSEBER(WEBEATFEEREE

AN &= B30 4 (R 70 B 22 Bk R SN Rl e

of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in ARBHENNEBRERNERD ﬁﬁ%’i .ﬁ'
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The B - AEEGHNITTREFBREERERRE &
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/ HAREHATAERSEEMERNER -
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.
Total
BEr
RMB’000
AR¥TT
CosT ey
At 1 January 2020 RZZE_ZTF—H—H 4,314,563
Transfer from properties for sale EeoEHEmE 107,145
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35) & — Rk E A A (FizE35) (793,842)
Exchange realignment PE W FH 2 (63,874)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZBZZF+ZA=+—HK
—E-—4%—H—H 3,563,992
Addition NE 96,818
Transfer from right-of-use assets EOFRAEEE 142,010
Transfer to properties for sale EEOHHEYE 7,535
Exchange realignment PE W FH 2 (29,580)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZHA=+—8H 3,765,705
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R E
At 1 January 2020 RZE-_ZTF—HA—H 249,245
Provided for the year FARE 167,433
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35) i — R B A A (BT E35) (115,636)
Exchange realignment B o FE =8 (3,508)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZEZZTF+-A=+—HBEK
—T——4%—HF—H 297,534
Provided for the year FARE 148,579
Transfer to properties for sale ER AR EYE (3,937)
Exchange realignment PE W A= (1,939)
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+=-H=+—H 440,237
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—FEt+=-_HA=1+—H 3,325,468
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE_ZTE+-_HA=1+—H 3,266,458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REYIZ (@)

The Group's investment properties are erected on land
located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December
2021 of RMB3,613,600,000 (2020: RMB3,671,600,000) has
been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out on the
respective dates by Cushman and Wakefield Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer, not connected to
the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair values of investment
properties of RMB1,089,000,000, RMB62,000,000,
RMB1,334,600,000 and RMB1,128,000,000 (2020:
RMB1,089,000,000, RMB85,000,000, RMB1,334,600,000
and RMB1,163,000,000) corresponding to the investment
properties owned by the Group with carrying amount of
RMB2,936,162,000 (2020: RMB3,088,160,000) in Nanjing,
Guangzhou, Chongging, the PRC and Hong Kong
respectively, are determined based on the income approach
and direct comparison approach. The fair value based on
income approach is determined by taking into account the net
rental income of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with due allowance
for the reversionary income potential of the leases which
have then been capitalised to determine the fair value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value based on direct
comparison approach is determined by assuming sale with
the benefit of immediate vacant possession and by making
reference to comparable sales evidence as available on the
market.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
had changed the use of certain properties, of which had
commenced the operating lease to outsiders during the year.
Accordingly, it results in a transfer from properties for sale to
investment properties.

AEBREMEEZNPEARFE LM E

KBEMEZATFTER_E_—F+_-_A=+—
HA ARES3,613,600,000c( —E=T4F : AR
#3,671,600,0007T ) * Jhik BN &£ (B ) 4R B E 2
BYABREEGEMBERITERAQ RN
% B EAFT e EE S -

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H FBER &
N EEREAREVMEATESAEARE
1,089,000,0007T A K #62,000,0007T * AR
& 1,334,600,000 & & A K % 1,128,000,000 7T
(ZZ=—Z4F : AR¥1,089,000,0007T + AR¥E
85,000,0007C * A R #1,334,600,0007T & A R
#1,163,000,0007T) © NEEFTHEE HEEIREY
EMEAEEAARE2936,162,000t(—E ==
& . AR#3,088,160,0007T) @ ZE A FE IR
WAERBELBEEE - RIKAETENA
FEDETR—BEVERGEBERAER, =
RIBEMS LAIRRZ AR AFEEE @ I
RZEHREZERRABNIEEE BE - B
EHEERERAEENMLE R T AEARIA
EBEAFE - REAELKBETENAFEDIR
REAARERTERATHEL2EmE LiRd
WA BB HEREMETE °

HEZZ-_ZF+-_A=+—HIFE - F&
BEEXRETMENRE - EFRNFREINR
ATRIREHD - At - REHWAHHEY
XBRREME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

17.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during both
years. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, Nanjing, Chongqing,
the PRC and Hong Kong, used in the prior years. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

As at 31 December 2021, investment properties with
carrying values of approximately RMB1,207,206,000
(2020: RMB1,274,083,000) have been pledged to secure
bank borrowings amounting to RMB622,600,000 (2020:
RMB780,000,000) granted to the Group (see note 29).

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

16. REWZ &)

AEBMGEMEZ ATFERFIR=ZFT=Z—F K
—ZE-TF+-A=+—"HBAE=F - FME
FEAN G AFERHZHBEER - BREFE
REEEN R EERESREMEMRA
ZIEERMITEREE - BT EMEZATE
B ZEWMEEBRMCRAZAEES A&ER
® e ETIREMENAFEDEFE - AWM
Bfte BT EHERA - MMl eEEtE -

RZE-—F+-_A=+—08 HAEEZEMR
BREE L AR 1,207,206,0007T( - - T4 :
AERE1,274,083,00070) 2 I EWE - URLET
NEE 2 RITEE ARBE622,600,0007T( ==
— T4 . AR#780,000,0007T ) 1E H 1R (R M
£¥29) o

PR EYMRRIA T ENRAEREAEIE

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of lease terms or HETHNEFT HHEIS2SFRE 28RS
building 25 years &
GOODWILL 17. 98
RMB'000
AR® T
COST AND CARRYING VALUE AR REE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and 31 RZZE-_TF—F—H —ZT-_ZTF
December 2021 +=—B=+—BKk=—TE=-_—F+=-A=+—H 160,210

Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to
the group of CGUs comprising the Properties Segment, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in
prior years.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount
of CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill
based on the profitability of the CGUs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE_F_—F+-_A=1—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEE N B 2 &
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Costs of investments in associates KEEE N A Z A 10,115,242 7,581,098
Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividend S{h I BE& 345 - BB WRE
received 357,919 521,803
10,473,161 8,102,901
Details of the principal associates as at 31 December 2021 and RZB_—FRZZBZZF+_HA=+—HZ
2020 are as follows: FEBERAFBHINNAT
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
AEEREYL
ARER R/ EEHH il ERERRER L FERERLA  TERE

02 W A
—E--% -F-FF —E--F _E-FF

% % % %

Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Company Limited* i AR#200,00000072 xER

ENERESERRAR

Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate Company The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 3 34 34 Property development
Limited* i A& %200,000,0007T NEER

EMBNEERRAR

Nanjing Shizhaoguansheng Property The PRC RMB250,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Cormpany Limited* fh AR %250,000,0007C EL

BRERERERARAA

Gezhouba Nanjing Property Company Limited* ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000 30 Rl 30 30 Property development
("Gezhouba Nanjing") i ARA50,000,0007 VELHE:

Bl BREXARAGIEN &R

Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng Property Development The PRC RMBS0,000,000 31 3 31 31 Property development
Co, Ltd* E NRHES0,0000007 UES

B ERERHERRAT

Xian Wocheng Property Development Co,, Ltd*  The PRC RMB10,860,000 3 3 3 33 Property development

XA 2R EREERAT hE AR10,860,0007 NEER
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R BTSRRI R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE QA 2R ()
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
AEEREL
ARER AL/ EEHY R BRERRRRILA FERERMA  TEEH
2021 2020 2021 2020
“¥--F CF0TF CRo-F CEC0ER
% % % %
Plenty Thrive Investment Limited British Virgin Island  United States dollars ("USS") 25 5 25 25 Investment holding
REREARAR EBRIEE 86,900,000 and property
86,900,000%7 development
REBRENRER
Joy Origin Holdings Limited ("Joy Origin") Hong Kong HK$10 30 El 30 30 Investment holding
HEEEERARA(HR]) &k ERI07T and property
development
RERRRIZER
Nanjing Shansheng Property Development Limited*  The PRC RIMB9,000,000,000 2 2 20 20 Property development
BREREHEREARAT G AR9,000,000,0007 NEER
Xixian New District Wenmao Properties Limited* ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 30 50 50 Property development
("ixian Wenmao") (Note i) F AR10,000,0007T NEER
BRI ERR AR ([ FRUK ) (M)
Guangzhou Eslite Real Estate Co. Ltd * The PRC RIVIB340,000,000 25 % 25 25 Property development
BMmEXERAA e AR 840,000,007 VELHE
Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate Development Co. The PRC RMB490,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Ltd * (*Guangzhou Kuangrong’) e ARE490,000,0007 NEER
BNRREHERERRAR(RMER))
Nanjing Zhaoying Real Estate Development Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB143,100,000 21 2 2 21 Property development
ARRERHEREARAR e AR%143,100,0007T NRER
Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co. Ltd* ("Foshan The PRC RMB3,250,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
Qinghao") (Note i) H AR3 250,000,000 MEER
lmEEERARAR ([ fLEes ) ()
Nanjing Shixin Real Estate Co. Ltd * The PRC RIMBB00,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
BRTLEHEERAR H AR %800,000,0007T VELHE
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e B R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2 xR ()

Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
AREREYL
ARER R/ E%08 K BRERRRGILA FERZRLA  TERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
“§--F T CRC-F CICER
% % % %
Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co. Lt * The PRC RMB1,225,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
RATRERARRAR P ARH1,225,000 0007 NREE
Nanjing Huayao Real Estate Co. Ltd.* (Nanjing The PRC RMB4,000,000,000 45 45 45 45 Property development
Huayzo") il AR 4,000,000,0007 nEER
HRERRHERRARLA(HREE))
CITIC Jinshi - China Merchants Shekou Shopping ~ The PRC RMB134,500,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Center Private Fquity Investment Fund* el ARH134,50000070 NEER
hEeR-AEEN-BEELREETE
Cheer Smart Investment Limited* Hong Kong HK$4 25 = 25 - Property development
ERRERRAT 3 BB NE%R
Nanjing Hejing Longyue Decoration Co., Ltd* The PRC RIMB2,000,000 20 - 2 - Property management
BRAERNKHARAA hE AR%2,0000007C NELR
Guangzhou Zhaoying Real Estate Co., Ltd * The PRC RMB100,000,000 3 - 30 - Property development
BNRREHERRALLA hE AFRH100,000,0007C NELR
Nanjing Zhaoyu Decoration Co., Ltd * The PRC RMB2,000,000 27 - 2 - Property development
ERARKHARAT hE AR%2,0000007C NE%R
Nanjing Jusheng Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd* The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 - 51 - Property development
ERRERREREARAT hE AR#100,00000072 VELHE
Nanjing Zhaojin Hongxin Real Estate Development  The PRC RMB1,080,000,000 25 - 25 - Property development
Co, Ltd¥ PE ARH1,080,000,0007 UESH
ARRRIARHEREERAT
Nanjing Qiuzhen Decoration Engineering Co,, Ltd*  The PRC RMB2,000,000 49 - 49 - Property development
BRKEKHIRARAA hE AR%2,0000007C NELR
Foshan Nanhai District Fengshang Real Estate Co.,  The PRC RMBA07,000,000 3 - 33 - Property development
Ltd* G ARH407,00000072 VELHE

BmEEREEELERRAT
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

*

Note i:

Note ii:

Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only.

The Group is able to appoint one out of three directors in the board
of Xixian Wenmao and relevant activities of Xixian Wenmao require
consent with more than half of the directors in the board of Xixian
Wenmao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant influence in
Xixian Wenmao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an associate of the
Group.

The Group is able to appoint two out of five directors in the board
of Foshan Qinghao and relevant activities of Foshan Qinghao
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board
of Foshan Qinghao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant
influence in Foshan Qinghao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an
associate of the Group.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method

in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion

of the directors of the Company, Guangzhou Kuangrong,

Gezhouba Nanjing, Nanjing Huayao, Foshan Qinghao and

Joy Origin are material associates of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. Summarised financial
information of the Group's material associates are set out

below, which represented amounts shown in the respective

associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with

the accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. Rt NE 2 X (&)
Guangzhou Kuangrong B i &%
2021 2020
—B--F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®BTE

Current assets MENEE 1,512,641 2,725,382
Non-current assets EmEEE 76 98
Current liabilities mEAE 142,949 1,642,879
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - 100,015
Revenue s 2,031,274 -
Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income FRaF(EE) &

(expense) for the year EmezmkA(FR) 387,182 (14,509)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXZ2F 2B ERBZHERNEMNERER
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in FREEHREHTINT :

Guaugzhou Kuangrong was set out below:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ET-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETRT

Net assets of Guaugzhou Kuangrong BMNEEE 2 EEFE 1,369,768 982,586
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 7\ 5 [ B4 [ )1 AR 45 7 B TERE 25 LU )

Guaugzhou Kuangrong 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AN B PR N AR S 2 2 AR TN (B
Guaugzhou Kuangrong 671,186 481,467
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BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REFE NR 2 xR (®)

Gezhouba Nanjing EM BER
2021 2020
—EB-—F —TTF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Current assets mEEE 1,513,587 2,311,888
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,664 3,436
Current liabilities mEAR 898,675 1,876,576
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 1,971 =
Revenue Wz 786,849 2,844,691
Profit and other comprehensive income for the 4 )% Fl & E b 2 E A
year 175,857 363,746
Dividend received from associate during the year F & B 5 & 2 7] WEUIE B - 174,195
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information X2 HBEMBEENEMN FEREm
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in 2 EREEHBRHTINT ¢
Gezhouba Nanjing was set out below:
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Net assets of Gezhouba Nanjing EN BERZBEERE 614,605 438,748
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in = REBEFFEFEEN BEREGEERT
Gezhouba Nanjing 1 30% 30%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBEFFEEN PRERZEREE
Gezhouba Nanjing 184,382 131,624
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Nanjing Huayao

18. REEE N R 2 xR ()
) AR S

2021 2020

—EBC-—F —E-THF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Current assets MENEE 10,296,718 7,381,865
Non-current assets ERBEE 93,025 1,221
Current liabilities mEnafE 3,990,824 3,376,659
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 2,432,102 10,000
Revenue Wz 852 35

Losses and other comprehensive expenses FAEBEREMEERY

for the year (29,610) (2,437)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Nanjing Huayao was set out below:

EXENZHBENMZEARNEREEER

FREEHRRETIOT

2021 2020

B T oEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Huayao FRERE EEFE 3,966,817 3,996,427
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in A& B A4 fg R S 1R e A 1ERE RS L 1

Nanjing Huayao 45% 45%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in NPT R B R s 2 ARTHI(E
Nanjing Huayao 1,785,068 1,798,392
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REFE NR 2 xR (®)

Joy Origin R
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Current assets RENVEE 11,447,751 11,569,046
Current liabilities mEBE 5,990,620 2,750,157
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 2,052,135 5,409,236
Revenue g 1,092 -

Losses and other comprehensive expenses F B K H A 2 E R 2

for the year (4,657) (600)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information

presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in Joy EHREFIWT

Origin was set out below:

EXENZHBEERMBEN T SR 2 RE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTRET ARETT

Net assets of Joy Origin R BERE 3,404,996 3,409,653
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 7<= B A3 451 S 1 A #E#E 25 Eb 451

Joy Origin 30% 30%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Joy — ZN£2 B Fr i S 2 2 BREIE
Origin 1,021,499 1,022,896
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2 xR ()

Foshan Qinghao #8115 A
2021 2020
= —E-EE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T AREET T
Current assets MEEE 5,751,535 3,250,199
Current liabilities mEIaE 2,504,736 1,713
Revenue WS = —

Losses and other comprehensive expenses FABEREM2EA

for the year (1,687) (1,514)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Foshan Qinghao was set out below:

B2 B AR R R a2
PR B RESI T -

2021 2020

B —E-FF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Net assets of Foshan Qinghao BB 2 BEFE 3,246,799 3,248,486
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in 2N & A48 | L 5 A 8 G RERE 25 L 171

Foshan Qinghao 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in RNEB AT ILB I w2 BRE(E
Foshan Qinghao 1,623,400 1,624,243
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate,
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually
material and are accounted for using the equity method are
set out below:

18. REFE NR 2 xR (®)
AEBMPNERITE L FEARIZEREAEY
B NRIER Z ERRBER NRAEAES

FIEAT

7

2021 2020
=—F "T_TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TT ARBFT
The Group's shares of profit and REED R R EEBLALREE
total comprehensive income 103,641 95,747
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRIEEAIE N AR
interests in immaterial associates BRI (E 4% 5,187,626 3,044,279
19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REELEER
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Costs of investments in joint ventures WEESEE KA 4,493,472 3,478,899
Share of post-acquisition results, FE(RUEB R 245 - IR E WS
net of dividend received 117,544 72,234
4,611,016 3,551,133
Details of the principal joint ventures as at 31 December 2021 RZB-_—FR-ZBZZBF+-_HA=+—HZ
and 2020 are as follows: FTEAREDRE $|$ZZDT
Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
rEEREL
AGCEL RY/ /&% iR ERERERELA R ERLP) IERH
2021 2020 2021 2020
“--F CZTCRF ZB--F 0 ZECEE
% % % %
Nanjing Aojian Property The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 6 6 6 6 Property development
Company Limited*
ERAREXARLA R ABR#2,000,000,0007 VES G
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BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & ¥ 2w (#)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
rEEREL
RAER RY/E%4% AR ERgEERESLY FrisR B LBl IERH
2021 2020 2021 2020
e e e
% % % %
Nanjing Zhaoyang Property ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 46 44 46 46 Property development
Development Company
Limited*
ERABELERRARA T8 AB#20,000,0007 UES
Nanjing Huilong Real Estate ~ The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 B8 3 33 33 Property development
Company Limited*
("Nanjing Huilong")
AREERMERRAT HE ABRH1,500,000,0007 ES G
()
Foshan Dingtu Property The PRC RMB1,100,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
BURBFLERRAR HE AE#1,100,000,0007% PSS
Guangzhou Xinhe Property ~ The PRC RMB100,000,000 34 3 34 34 Property development
Development Company
Limited.*
BNHaRHERRREAR & A5 %100,000,0007 MEER
Nanjing Hongweisheng The PRC RMB765,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Property Development
Co., Ltd.* ("Nanjing
Hongweisheng”)
BRMARAEREERAR  TE AR %765,000,0007 mEER
([mamakgia))
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan The PRC RMB3,000,000,000 34 3% 34 34 Property development
Property Development
Limited* ("Nanjing
Shengxiang Yuan”)
RREEERMERSERAR & AE#3,000,000,0007% PSS

([AREER))
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEE 2R &)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
rEEREL
NEER RY/ &% ARA EREERERLA igstied: didil IEXH
2021 2020 2021 2020
== “3-%F  ZEC- Z3I%%
% % % %
Chongging Hanzhi The PRC RMB440,000,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd.*
ERREABRNEREERAA HE AR 440,000,007 NEER
Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd*  The PRC RMB10,000,000 14 14 14 14 Property development
BRERERERAA i AB10,000,0007 VESTS
Nanjing Tiesheng Business ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 55 55 55 55 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
BRERERERRRAT f ABR#10,000,0007 VES
Nanjing Ximao Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB20,000,000 13 13 13 13 Property development
HREXEXERAT ik AE%20,000,0007T EZ
Nanjing Zhaohui Place The PRC RMB10,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
BRAEABERARAT i ABR#10,000,0007 VES
Guangzhou Runjia The PRC RMB50,000,000 30 30 50 50  Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
BNEREXARAR G AR#50,000,00070 NEER
Guangzhou City Suiyun The PRC RMBA40,000,000 25 25 25 25  Property development
Property Limited*
BMTREEXERAA e ARH40,000,00070 NEER
Foshan Baohua China The PRC RMB20,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Merchants Real Estate
Company Limited*
BURERZELERRAT  F ABR20,000,0007 VESS
Nanjing Yuening Property The PRC RMB50,000,000 33 3 33 33 Property development
Development Limited*
ARfERNEREERAR @ ABR#50,000,0007 VES

216 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & ¥ 2w (#)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
rEEREL
NEER RI/E$8% R ERRRRRELY igstied: 1idil IEXH
2021 2020 2021 2020
SR “F-¥E CBo- ECEF
% % % %
Nanjing Jinhua Real Estate ~ The PRC RMB79,800,000 19 24 19 24 Property development
Development Limited*
BRBEERERAR H AR%79,800,0007T WEER
Nanjing Yuelin Property The PRC RMB12,000,000 20 20 20 20 Property development
Development Company
Limited*
ARUARMEREERAR @ AB#12,000,0007 VES G
Chongging Wanzhao The PRC RMB4,900,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Real Estate Co. Ltd.*
ERERERARLA R AERH4,900,0007C YESES
Foshan Merchants Shangxian ~ The PRC RMB30,000,000 40 - 40 - Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
FURBHERRERRAR BB A5 %30,000,0007T nEER
Foshan Merchants Xiangshun ~ The PRC RMB101,000,000 51 - 51 - Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
BUABHERRERRAR & AR 101,000,0007 IS
Foshan Zhaorui Real Estate ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000 34 - 34 - Property development
Co., Ltd ¥
BUARESEARAR R ABR#50,000,0007 YESES
Foshan Merchants Puhai Real ~ The PRC RMB3,300,000 36 = 36 - Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
FURFFERRERRAR BB ARH3,300,0007C nEER

T —FFR HBEREMARAR
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEE 2R &)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of company operation share capital held by the Group power held activity
rEEREL
NEER RY/ &% ARA ERERERELY igstied: didil IEXH
2021 2020 2021 2020
== “3-%F  ZEC- Z3I%%
% % % %
Foshan Nanhai District The PRC RMB407,000,000 33 - 33 - Property development
Fengshang Real Estate
Co., Ltd*
flmmEREERNEERAR RE B %407,000,0007C NERRE
Nanjing Yueyi Decoration The PRC RMB2,000,000 20 - 20 - Property development
Co., Ltd.*
ARt hREHER AT e AR%2,000,0007 IEZ
Nanjing Jinda Decoration The PRC RMB2,000,000 25 - 25 - Property development
Co., Ltd.*
ERBERHARLA i ABR#2,000,0007C YES
Guangzhou Zhaoying Urban ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 - 50 - Property development
Renewal Investment
Co,, Ltd*
BMNBRRATENRAARAR B AB#10,000,0007T VESS
Foshan Merchants Yinyue Real - The PRC RMB50,000,000 40 - 40 - Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
UAERARBERRAR  E AB%50,000,0007T NEYRE
Foshan Nanhai District Meijing  The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 25 - 25 - Property development
Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.*
BUTESEXERHERE  TE AB2,000,000,0007 VES
BRAT
* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. * FEE T RXEE - EH2E -
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & ¥ 2w (#)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method SEPERZEREVBRREAERIEA
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion I o RABIEERE  REBEEZT_—FKk=
of the directors of the Company, Nanjing Huihe, Nanjing TEFF-_A=1+—HIEFE BMRESE
Shengxiang Yuan and Nanjing Huilong are the material joint EARREREREREEORAEBRZEREE
ventures of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021 ¥ AEESEREGLPECVBERBESR
and 2020. Summarised financial information of the Group's T (BEREASE ST HRRECSEE DR
material joint ventures are set out below, which represented EUEMERAZ TR o

amounts shown in the respective joint ventures’ financial
statements prepared in accordance with the accounting policy
of the Group.

Nanjing Huihe ERES
2021 2020
—EB-—-F —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T AREETTT
Current assets RENVEE 3,151,655 8,175,796
Non-current assets EREEE 85 8,404
Current liabilities TENARE 1,600,107 7,213,109
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the i EERBEZSBERIENTIER ¢
followings:
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
Cash and cash equivalents HeRERIESER 451,463 485,144
Revenue s 5,940,523 -
Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income FRaA(EE) REmEEKIA
(expense) for the year () 580,542 (773)
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Nanjing Huihe (continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

19. REEDLE RS #)
ARES (&)
Lt FREFBIEATIER ¢

Ht

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ET-EF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥EFTTT
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 22 22
Interest income F B WA 4,874 1,478
Income tax expense FTiSHiF 2 207,734 -
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXE2IHBERBEERERE SRR L
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in REELREIIAT
Nanjing Huihe was set out below:
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFIT
Net assets of Nanjing Huihe EREAZEAERE 1,551,633 971,091
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in  REB A R & A A EZER LG
Nanjing Huihe 14.28% 14.28%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REBEFFERESER ZREE
Nanjing Huihe 221,573 138,672
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan MRAREE
2021 2020
——F —TTF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Current assets RENVEE 12,310,499 12,283,325
Non-current assets FEMENE BE 63,733 29,556
Current liabilities mEAE 7,996,666 8,698,657
Non-current liabilities ERSEFE 1,304 700,380
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & ¥ 2w (#)

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan (continued)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the

FAREEEE)
FREBEERBEZERABRENATIER

followings:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Cash and cash equivalents BENERIR4SIER 726,919 538,680
Non-current financial liabilities ERBEeRaE
(excluding trade and other payables) (D EIE R K B At FE T FRIE) 1,304 700,380
Revenue Wz 1,135,826 -
Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income FREA(EE) REaEEmKIA
(expense) for the year (ZH) 234,918 (41,344)
The above profit for the year included the followings: FRERNBRFBEATIES
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Interest income FlEW A 156 389
Depreciation and amortisation YrEE M 5,374 232

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan was set out below:

EXENZHBENBEERNAREEEER
ZAREELRREZINT -

2021 2020

B T -EE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan HRREREY EFE 4,376,262 2,913,844
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 784 B Fr#5 R R % & B A #E

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan BEES LB 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBMIFARREREDRZ

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan AREE 1,487,929 990,707
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Nanjing Huilong

19. REELEZET @)
R EfE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETHF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBET T

Current assets 1,884,322 1,883,248

Non-current assets 813 11,339

Current liabilities 262,834 270,501
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the i EERBEZEBEENTIER ¢

followings:

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T AR®ET T

Cash and cash equivalents RekERBEEER 63,631 145,813

Revenue s
(Loss) profit and other comprehensive
(expense) income for the year WA

20,613 2,167,288

FARBER)ENREM2E(H)

(1,785) 113,683

The above profit for the year included the followings:

P ERENBEATIAR -

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —ET-EF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFIT

Interest income F B WA 746 2,800
Income tax expense i - 29,391
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Nanjing Huilong (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Nanjing Huilong was set out below:

19. J\J-/\‘\/\'L*/\%Z* ﬂ_ﬁ (%)
e R BEFE ()
EX 25 HBE B RN R E RS
FREESREINWT

2021 2020
—E_—F —ETTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Net assets of Nanjing Huilong A R R 2 B EFE 1,622,301 1,624,086
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 7 £ [B] A 4% 55 R FE £ 7 5 R 25 L )

Nanjing Huilong 33% 33%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in REEMFEREREER < REE

Nanjing Huilong 535,359 535,948

The aggregate information of the Group's interests in joint
ventures that are not individually material that are accounted
for using the equity method are set out below:

AREBRMERIT S I AERRIRESEARZ
AECEER CELERFIIMT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETET

The Group's shares of losses and AEESHEBEREZE X HE5E

total comprehensive expenses (78,247) (9,4006)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBERFERGETEERZ

interests in immaterial joint ventures BREERRE 2,366,155 1,885,806

20.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

The amounts represented the Group's investment in 15%
equity interest in the registered capital of an unlisted company
incorporated in the PRC, which is engaged in property
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a fair value gain of
RMB10,937,000 (2020: RMB2,407,000) has been recognised.

20.BAFEFAESNEMERE
B EREARERN —RETEEMR 0
EH AR RAMN15%REN IR E - KA
HEYEBR -

HE_T-_—F+_A=+—HLEE B
AARH10,937,000 A FERF(ZE-Z
& . AR¥2,407,0007T) °
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21. IRIERIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MR EMIEIRRAKRNZSME - & TEREEHE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BERAFEDKHEN - UTAREHBSES
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred DT LAERI B Rk 2
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:
2021 2020
—EBD-fF —ETF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥®TT ARBFT
Deferred tax assets RIERIBEE E 890,870 953,844
Deferred tax liabilities RIEF BB E (437,620) (537,918)
453,250 415,926
The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) NTARRENBRBELEHEEE(BE)RE
recognised and movements thereon during the years: g
Temporary  Temporary
differences ~ differences  Temporary
Fair value ondeposits relatedto  differences
Temporary adjustment receivedin  rightofuse  related to
differences onproperty  Dividend  respectof  assetsand allowance
on LAT Tax under  withholding  pre-sale of lease ~for expected
provision losses ~ development tax properties liabilities creditlosses  Others* Total
aRRE
THBER BhRE HEREE  MESES
Rz ECELEY) Dtz EREE. ERAREE
ERER  REER AVESE  RERAR  ERER  EREE  LEREE Hipr it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARRTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTRL  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMER
At 1 January 200 737016 79004 (115360 (260286) 188,776 12412 5,602 - 647,244
Creat charge)to proftor loss (Note ) BRI )(Hi29) 141488 (@) - 10,063 (160,349) 3069 56438 B31720) (23131
At 31 Decemoer 2020 RZR-RET-A=1-H 478,504 U733 (1153600 (29023 28428 15,531 02040 (2871721) 415926
(Charge) credittoprofitorloss (Note 9) PB4 &k A 329) (123,154) 79,226 = U516 (28,428) 2890 48966 33,308 37,3
At 31 December 2021 [ S g 755,350 113959 (15,3600 (225,707) - 18421 111,000 (204419 453250

*

Others mainly included tax effect of temporary differences arising from

contract costs and deduction of construction costs of certain property

development projects.

224 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

*

Hih X ZBEE THRMERBEEL 2 & KR ERZER
AMBEEZERZRIRBEHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5
nJj\

A
[=|

B %% ¥Rk MY RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

EHE—

21.

22.

Fo—F A=+ HIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB2,046,022,000 (2020: RMB1,120,582,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such losses of
RMB455,836,000 (2020: RMB138,931,000) at 31 December
2021. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining RMB1,590,186,000 (2020: RMB981,651,000)
as at 31 December 2021 due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of RMB502,651,000 (2020: RMB490,017,000) as at 31 December
2021 that will expire in five years from the dates they were
incurred. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary differences of RMB894,941,000 (2020:
RMB660,041,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings and
RMB1,234,604,000 (2020: RMB1,171,760,000) attributable to
the write-down of properties for sale. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

21.

IRIERLIE ()
R-BE-_—F+-fA=+—8 A&£EHE
RE R IEEE L A R 2,046,022,0007T (=
T T F . AR%1,120,582,000 7T ) @ A
T H % ET - B FEIE A RKA455836,000
T(ZE=_ZTF : AR¥138,931,000T) ' B
KRB F+-_A=+—BHEREELER
BEE - AR A TR R AOHEFI R - B
MR-BE-—F+-F=+—BIEERBETA
K% 1,590,186,000 L (—Z T T F : AR¥
981,651,00070 ) ERELEREEE - R=_F
——F+t A=t HNAERREEES
BB ARBES02,651,000(Z T F : AR
#490,017,00070) R EE AR A F &I
o EL T8 ] AR PR HAAS EE o

R=ZFE=_—F+=-_A=+—8  "&EBEHBRE
R T AR B = EE A R 894,941,000t (=
T—TF . AR¥660,041,00070) ¢ T ER A
REBAAREBEELEZEMNMEFERAS - M
AR ®1,234,604000c(ZZE=FF : ARK
1,171,760,0007% ) Bl &5 A& 72 7] 4 1 & 91 2 2 Ml
$H o B3 AT AT TERI R s A AROR - HR Il AR RE R
RIEBIHEE o

PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22 At EYE
2021 2020
—E-—5 —E T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREET T
Completed properties for sale B T A &Y 12,363,278 9,268,866
Properties under development for sale At EERPYE 62,257,206 40,899,203
74,620,484 50,168,069

T —FF% HERBMARATF 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BTSRRI R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued)

22. A HEYE (#)

RMB’000

ARBTF T
Analysis of leasehold lands: HET b2 DM :
As at 31 December 2021 R=TB=-—F+=A=+—8H
Carrying amount SRmE(E 47,843,892
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZB-2BF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount AREE 34,507,576
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—E-——-+=-A=+—BHLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HE LIRS IR LA 19,827,490
Additions NE 24,210,917
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZE-ZHF+-A=+—-HLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HE IR m AR 4,520,042
Additions RE 4,075,204

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under
HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation, after
taking into account of residual values, and any impairment
losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2021 is carrying value of approximately
RMB37,423,223,000 (2020: RMB20,738,443,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued) 22. At HEME (8)

As at 31 December 2021, land with carrying values of
approximately RMB2,043,820,000 (2020: RMB3,424,620,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB1,179,851,000 (2020: RMB1,442,409,000) granted to the
Group (see note 29).

As at 31 December 2021, the directors of the Company
conducted a review on the net realised value of the Group's
properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale. Due to a decrease in the expected selling
price as referenced to the actual selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of the
Group's completed properties for sale and properties under
development for sale, located in Foshan and Chongging
(2020: Foshan and Chonggqing), the PRC, are lower than their
carrying amounts by RMB360,538,000 (2020: RMB849,920,000),
in aggregate. Certain properties under development impaired
in prior year was sold during current year, the respective
impairment of RMB297,696,000 (2020: RMB352,579,000)
was written off. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying
amounts of properties for sale amounted to approximately
RMB74,620,484,000, net of write-down of RMB1,234,602,000
(2020: carrying amounts of approximately RMB50, 168,069,000,
net of write-down of RMB1,171,760,000) in the PRC.

RZBE-—F+=-A=+—8 A&£HEHZEMR
FREELS A ARK2043,820,000c( - F
&0 NR¥3,424,620,0007T) 2 13 0 AEIR T
AEB ZRTEEARK1,179,851,00070 (==
—TFE . AR1,442,409,0007T) fEHER (R
Hi53E29) o

R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—H8 AQARES
RAEENAHLERRPYERATHLE
ERTIYENFERFEETEND - BARS
ZEENEEREDENERESERBUDE
FEHEEMGHASE TR AARESE
ERAEEMAFEHBLEER(ZSE_SF -
HBLEREE)METAHRLEERTITYWERA
HEEERPMEZAIZER FEEARLE
M B K A R # 360,538,000 (=& — T4 ¢
AR #849,920,0007T) - AF LB RMENE T
BRPVEECRAFEELE - BEBEKR
AR 297,696,000 L (Z T =T F : AR
352,579,000L) e R—_ZE-——F+-_A=+—
H PRI HEENENEEENARE
74,620,484,000 7t ( #1 B& A R ¥ 1,234,602,000
THHMBR(ZZE-_ZF : REAEHNARE
50,168,069,0007¢ + 1Bk A K ¥ 1,171,760,000
TCHIHOR)
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. 5 R H AU IR

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

Trade receivable (Note i) ST FEWGRIE (M ati)
— contract with customers —HEEFHEL 24,317 92,552
— operating lease receivables — AR TH & W FR TS 1,102 12,974
25,419 105,526
Other receivables H th fE W R IE
Other prepaid non-income tax HAnFE(T IEAT SRS 1,774,708 1,903,410
Other receivables and prepayments H Ath FE Y SR TE K TR AN FROR 1,398,876 635,264
Amounts due from intermediate holding JE U 7 12 R R R IR (B aii)

companies (Note ii) 324,704 766,942
Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEU IR N e 2 R IE (Mt 5t v)

(Note v) 15,262,146 13,584,804
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note i) & U [F Z KB A 72038 (K1 57ii) 639,382 643,873
Amounts due from associates (Note iii) JRE MBSt i X B R IE (B i) 3,685,360 8,128,328
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) JEW & & R (M7t iv) 3,746,653 6,844,894
Amount due from an investee JEIL & 5 T8 10,242 29,423

26,842,071 32,536,938

Less: Amounts expected to be received after R TR —F R W E FRIR

one year:
Amo):,mts due from associates (Note iii) JE LBk 45 A RIFRIB (Mt aiii) 2,896,454 4,583,367
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) fEUR A & EFIB (M aEiv) 2,568,880 -
5,465,334 4,583,367
21,376,737 27,953,571
21,402,156 28,059,097

Notes: BiaE
(i) Asat 1 January 2020, trade receivables from contract with customers () RZZEZZF-F—HB REREFENMEBELGK

amounted to RMB6,857,000.

Trade receivables mainly arise from properties operation income and
rental income from the Properties Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally within
30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management.

Considerations in respect of properties leasing are paid in accordance

with the terms of the rental agreements and invoices, normally within 30
days from the date of invoices.

228 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

a3 AR #6,857,0007T °

EBRERAETZELBMED BOMELERARMA
ZWA °

AREEEBHEPZEEH—RAB0ANA - AKE D
KBRS E R EL KR - R EEERR - &
REEABEHEBAILE -

W) R E 2 A EAR R AR B AR B 155 o IR B R — AR B
% 0 HIRE 30 A AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

0] (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23 EB R EMEWRFE &

BeE : (&)

RS B A B IR M O S TSSO B
SHFMT -

2021 2020

—B-—fF e L8

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

0 - 180 days 0%180H 18,097 102,877
181 - 365 days 181HE365H 3,672 675
Over 1 year HBiA—F 3,650 1,974
25,419 105,526

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are customers with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB155,000 (2020: RMB2,649,000) which
are aged over 30 days and past due at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group
assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records to consider adequacy
of allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.

(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2021, amounts of
approximately RMB615,748,000 (2020: RMB2,234,876,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 4.75% to 8% (2020: fixed rate
ranging from 6% to 8%) per annum and repayable on demand or within
one year. The remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand for both years.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2021 and
2020, the amounts of approximately RMB1,996,051,000 (2020: Nil) are
unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 8% (2020:
N/A) per annum and repayable over one year. The remaining amounts of
non-current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over

one year for both years.

(iv)  Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2021, amounts of
approximately RMB5,482,000 (2020: RMB1,590,275,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 5.7% to 6% (2020: 4.9% to 7%)
per annum and repayable on demand or within one year. The remaining
amounts of current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand for both years.

The non-current receivables as at 31 December 2021, amounts of
approximately RMB616,391,000 (2020: Nil) are unsecured, interest bearing
at fixed rates ranging from 5% to 7% (2020: N/A) per annum and repayable
over one year. The remaining amounts of non-current receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one year for both years.

(v) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2021, amounts of RMB997,052,000 (2020:

RMB624,332,000) are denominated in HK$.

(vi)  Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are

set out in note 38.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

7 55 I8 3 75 e WK TR A 4 ) BR T 48 78 A R #51155,000
T(ZZEZFF : AR%2,649,0007T) © BRie #8830
B RREPREEEEBE  mMAKELREHRE
EIREE AEBENBEZEOR BRI SEE
BRAMEKRFAZERESR  IRAENREHRE
HEHEBRS B -

ZEeBAEER  REWARERER -

RETE=——F+-A=+—"BHnRSHELRKIERN - AR
##)615,748,0007(ZF = FF : AR¥2,234,876,000

TL) BEEE - LA TS%E8%(Z T =T F ¢ lmﬂf
6%ZE8% ) MEE FH R B RAREK
g - RMEFER  REEBRIENE é’%%ﬂ}t’k#
RERIREREE -

E/\\fszi))_i 777¢+ A= + EE’]?E/AL@WE
WHRIEA » AR¥EA1,996,051,000(ZE T4 « &)
BEEIR - DA6%ZE8R(ZT_TF : TEMA)METEF
MEEFEREREREREIN —FAEE - RMEFE
W FEMB UK IR SRR B - R RIRERE

°

il

RZF_—F+-_A=+—BANRPEKRIERN A
R#495,482,0007T (=2 =24 : AR¥1,590,275,000
TO) R - LAST%EOK(—F—F5F  49%ET%)
BEEFFI R B RBREREEIN —FAEE - 1
MEFEAR - REBERFANERDEER - RERIZ

NEZBEZ—F+-A=+—HHERDEKFTIEA - A
R¥#616,391,000L(Z 2T : &) REER - K
5%E7%(—F=FF : TEM)MEEFMEFTERR
—FREE - RMEFER - FFRBEEKBENEHRS
BT RERN—FRER -

ZEBAERR  REWEREREE R_T=—F
+=ZRA=+—8H" i%%’fiﬁ)\ﬁm%wzosz,oooﬁ(:%:
T AR#624,332,0007T ) A HEEHE

T R B AR 2 R E R A B SR A ESS o
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24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The
bank balances carry variable interest rates from 0.1% to 1.9%

(2020: 0.01% to 1.38%) per annum.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group

to which they relate:

24 BITHEBRREE

FENFEETR o

NAEEHAE

RITAHBRIESEEReMNREHEA=@EA
FIATZRERITER °
T01%E19%(ZE=_FF : 0.01%=21.38%) 2

RITAERIRERN RN

BIEEEMINEBEZR
TR ERSHTWT

2021 2020

—B-—F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

Denominated in HK$ LAS BT E 98,701 19,704

Denominated in US$ AETTEHE 1,338,069 331,213

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ZH R HMEARRIER

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

Trade payables (Note i) 2R R I (M) 12,106,363 5,339,157

Other payables H A fE SRR

Other non-income tax payables H At IEFTIS B I 17T IE 2,885,110 2,443,252

Other payables and accrued charges (Note iv) b fE < 518 K fE 5+ 53 52 (Hativ) 2,955,210 3,025,823
Amounts due to intermediate holding FET B R Rl I8 (A aii)

companies (Note ii) 5,658,637 11,034,540
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE1SF SE45E S ek 25 K R (B i)

(Note iii) 3,868,582 2,325,799
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note ii) FEST R B B A Al kI8 (B atii) 3,243,633 2,466,999
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note ii) BT & &R IE (Hatii) 2,096,973 1,454,728
Amounts due to associates (Note ii) FE ST B N B3R IE (MY atii) 2,539,832 2,237,287
Dividend payable FEIAR B 962,035 962,035

24,210,012 25,950,463
36,316,375 31,289,620
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Trade payables arise from Properties Segment comprise construction
costs and other project-related expenses which are payable based on
project progress and the average credit period of these trade payables
is 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
date, at the end of the reporting period:

25. ¥R EMENTE 2)

ik -

(i)

WIS B2 N A B IR R SR AN R E IR B AR R
Fx  DIRBABEESN - ARSFEBERNFRZF
BIEEHR60R - ARBEHENBRREZRE « M
RRAARNFIREEEERRA -

AT ARERE BRAE B RER A B EZ EBEAR
KRBT

2021 2020

—E-—F T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBF T

0to 60 days 0Z60H 5,145,845 2,573,702
61 to 180 days 61%180H 5,141,906 550,292
181 to 365 days 181Z365H 950,704 1,409,736
Over 365 days HBiB365H 867,908 805,427
12,106,363 5,339,157

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2021, amounts of RMB244,347,000 and RMB642,492,000
(2020: RMB192,981,000 and RMB417,000,000) are denominated in US$
and HK$ respectively.

Included in the other payables and accrued charges of approximately
RMB681,350,000 (2020: RMB1,536,291,000) are amounts due to financial
institutions under supplier factoring arrangement entered into by the
Group, construction materials suppliers and the financial institutions
offering the supplier factoring arrangement. As at 31 December 2021,
amounts of RMB5,392,000 and RMB181,000 (2020: RMB5,437,000 and
RMB165,000) are denominated in US$ and HK$ respectively.

(iv)

ZEEREER - REWRRERKER -

ZeEAEER  REWEKREREERE R =_—%F
+=ZA=+—8 " ©8AARY244,347,000t K AR
#642,492,0007C (=T =T 4 : AR#192,981,0007T &
AR#417,000,0007T) 5 BIAFETT RS EEHE -

HoAth JE A 30R K BT 7 32 7R 49 A R #5681,350,0007T (=
TTF : ARME1,536,291,0007T) RANEE - FEEH
Bt R R RE RS RBERT L 2 e
BREZHFETENSREENTR - R_F=—F
TZA=+—H 28R ARKS5392,000T kAR
181,0007L (Z T =4 : AR5,437,0007T & AR
165,0007C) 2 BIPASS T R B ¥ EHE ©
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
2021 2020
—EBEC-—F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEERE
Within one year —ER 52,519 31,980
Within a period of more than one year iR — RN R B BRI A
but not more than two years 55,217 35,640
Within a period of more than two years B3R PR £ B N R R T F AR A
but not more than five years 47,992 104,525
Within a period of more than five years 838 A A 272,758 270,774
428,486 442919
Less: Amount due for settlement with A 128 A RB A E R IR
12 months shown under current liabilities (RmaBEsR) (52,519) (31,980)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A& 2| B H B 508
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBBEYIR) 375,967 410,939
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to HEEEBERERANINETIESERNESR
lease liabilities at 4.70% (2020: ranged from 4.75% to 4.9%). 470%(—ZE=FF : N F475%E4.9%) °
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27.LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING 27. FFEREmE K
INTERESTS
Amounts represent loans from non-controlling equity holder EHESHEEARTMNB AR IFERERTE
of subsidiaries of the Company. AERK -
The maturity of the loans from non-controlling interests are 3H Hyjié mERNIBBERAERSERBZEM
based on respective loan agreements and are analysed as d WZZDT :
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-EF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥EFTT
Within 1 year —F R 515,035 1,722,334
Between 1 and 2 years —ZERE 51,390 729,257
Over 2 years 1B 1B R 69,082 36,560
635,507 2,488,151
Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown B R —FE AR ER A
under current liabilities (RREEaBIIR) (515,035) (1,722,334)
Amounts due after 1 year shown R—F & HaRIE (R IERE
as non-current liabilities BEIIR) 120,472 765,817
Analysis of loans from a non-controlling interests denominated EERERESIREREEFHANIERE R
in currencies other than the functional currency of the BEEMAINE B EHEZ DT ¢

respective entities of the Group to which they relate:

2021 2020

—EB-—-F —E-TF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBETTT

Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 100,472 655,078
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Details of the terms of the loans are set out as below:

27 FERERER (#)

BRI FBDT

Effective
interest rate
per annum 2021 2020
BERFRZE —E-—F —E-—T&
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Fixed-rate loans LA P E 5 E
denominated in: EBE :
RMB AR#E 4.75% to 6% 535,035 1,833,073
(2020: 4.75% to 6%)
4.75% 2 6%
(ZB=FF : 4.75%%6%)
us$ E7T 4% (2020: 4%) 100,472 655,078

4% (ZZ-FF : 4%)

635,507 2,488,151

28.LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the current
portion of loans from an intermediate holding company are
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on
demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the non-current
portion of loan from an intermediate holding company was
unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2024
(2020: repayable in 2022).
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29.BANK BORROWINGS 29.4R1T1EE

2021 2020

—EB-—-F —E-TF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREETTT

Bank borrowings, unsecured (Note i) IR TREE (M) 15,932,683 10,885,391
Bank borrowings, secured (Note ii) EERRITEE (H 7)) 1,802,451 2,222,409
17,735,134 13,107,800
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities B DlEARHEE SR (5,548,802) (6,128,418)
Amounts classified as non-current liabilities SfEAERBBEZERE 12,186,332 6,979,382

Carrying amount repayable:* JEERBRE(E :

Within one year —FE R 5,548,802 6,128,418
More than one year but not more than two years ~ #i8— %18 N BB E 2,271,186 5,528,555
More than two years but not more than five years BB (B B i@ F 9,624,646 1,450,827
More than five years BilEA 290,500 =
17,735,134 13,107,800

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

The Group's bank borrowings were subject to variable-rate
interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People's
Bank of China and Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements
or fixed-rate interest stated in borrowings’ agreements. The
effective interest rates on the Group's bank borrowings ranged
from 1.48% to 4.99% (2020: 4.0% to 4.99%) per annum.

Notes:

(i) Amounts of RMB3,040,482,000 (2020: RMB3,330,344,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately
RMB126,992,000 (2020: RMB326,105,000) that are guaranteed by the non-
controlling interests and by the Company.

(i) As at 31 December 2021, land with carrying values of approximately
RMB2,043,820,000 (2020: RMB3,424,620,000), shareholding of a
subsidiary with carrying values of approximately RMB185,702,000 (2020:
Nil) and investment properties with carrying values of approximately
RMB1,207,206,000 (2020: RMB1,274,083,000) have been pledged
to secure bank borrowings amounting to RMB1,802,451,000 (2020:
RMB2,222,409,000) granted to the Group.

(i) As at 31 December 2021, amounts of approximately RMB2,101,710,000
(2020: RMB2,158,186,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

(iv)  As at 31 December 2021, amounts of RMB3,837,550,000 (2020: Nil) are
denominated in HK$.

e BIERFRIR T ABN B R 5k 9 2 R TE S8 3K B B R o

REBZETEEERSAZEBEERZBHE
BARBITREZ AREEEERNEREE
SRITRZEFRBF R ([FHBRITRZEFRBFE])
BEMRZ ZEHE RN EERHTI EE SR
B - AEBBITEEZ BEFFRNT1.48%
BL9IB(ZZEZZF  40%ZE4.99%) °

Witz -

(i) S ARKE304048200T (Z 2 =FF : AR
3,330,344,0007T ) & B B E B & B 2 B & A R B R
([HRAIERIT ) 2 SRATIEE - WO - ARARABAHOARE
126,992,000 (= =24 : AR¥326,105,0007T) 5
HIFERERSRAARERZEE -

iy R-ZTE-_—F+-A=+—0 AEEZHEHFR
HEL A AR2043820,00T(ZFE=-FF : A
R #3,424,620,0007T) 2 £ - BREIEHNAARK
185,702,0007c (ZZ T4 : &) 2 B R A AR #E K& AR
HEAAARE,207,2060007T(ZE=FF : ARK
1,274,083,0007T) 2 EME - URETFAEE 2R
TEREEAR1,802451,000(Z 224 : AR
2,222,409,0007T ) EH 1R ©

iy MZB-—F+-A=+—H ' HAEK2101,710,000
TT(ZZE=FF : AR¥2,158,186,0007T) )& REH B
I AR o

(ivy RZZT-—F+=-A=+—H " AR%3,837,550,0007C
(ZZ2=2F : @)NSBEUBEIE -
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30.BOND PAYABLE

During the year 31 December 2021, the bond with aggregated
principal amounted to RMB1,900,000,000, interest bearing at
4.6% per annum, was fully repaid. The Company did not issue
any new bond in the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

30. B HES
HE-TE-_—F+-_A=+—HLEE A%
%8 5 A R #1,900,000,0007C ~ R FEFL4.6%
ATENEFEREER - ARAREBEEZZT

T FRZZEZEF+A=+—HILEFEY
BEATIEMFES ©

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. IR
Ordinary share capital of the Company RAR) 2 ERARARA
Number
of shares Amount
R BB |
HK$’'000
BT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BREES0.01 T2 TiER
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, and R-ZZ-_TF—F—H ZZT=-ZTF
31 December 2021 +ZA=+—BRZZT=—%F
+=—A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
Number
of shares Equivalent to
g = HER
HK$’'000 RMB’000
BT ARBT T
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
At 1 January 2020 and R=F=FF—H—H
31 December 2020 and —E-_FF+_A=+—HEK
31 December 2021 —E-—F+-A=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132
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32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 32. B —EREAE

As at 31 December 2020, Nanjing Jinsheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jinsheng”) was 19%
indirectly held by the Group, and remaining were held by
Changzhou Road King Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
and Nanjing Midea Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., the
independent third parties to the Group. Nanjing Jinsheng
was accounted for as a joint venture as the decision making
process about the operating, investing and financing activities
of Nanjing Jinsheng requires unanimous consent pursuant to
the signed agreements.

Pursuant to the revised memorandum and articles of
association dated 8 March 2021, aggregate indirect equity
interest in Nanjing Jinsheng was increased from 19% to 40%
after the capital injection by the Group and non-controlling
interests. Upon the completion on 16 March 2021, the Group
has the power to cast the majority of votes at the shareholders’
meetings of Nanjing Jinsheng, which was able to exercise
control over Nanjing Jinsheng and accordingly Nanjing
Jinsheng became a subsidiary of the Group.

Pursuant to the revised memorandum and articles of
association dated 8 March 2021, the Group further
acquired 21% equity interest of Nanjing Jinsheng at a cash
consideration of RMB208,200,000, the aggregate indirect
equity interest in Nanjing Jinsheng was increased from 19%
to 40% after the capital injection by the Group and non-
controlling interests. Upon the completion on 16 March 2021,
the Group has the power to cast the majority of votes at the
shareholders’ meetings of Nanjing Jinsheng, which was able
to exercise control over Nanjing Jinsheng and accordingly
Nanjing Jinsheng became a subsidiary of the Group.

RZZEZZEF+_A=+—H ERIYE
EPHERZBEAERAR([ERYE])BAE
EREFF1%ER  ESBAEEB L
% = 75 Changzhou Road King Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. R REM F HiE R
BRAFFE - ARERIBRNLE  REK
HEERHNRRAEFTERBEDEZN0RE
F—HRE  AERSRARINGEERE -

BEARA-_T-—F=/\BNRKETA
ERAEANAR - EAEERIEEREREE
% FRSIERAEEREBRER19%IEE40% ©
REZFE=Z—F=A+A%KE  AEEERE
FYBRANBRRAS HEGRFEIRER W
HEREITEEGE - EERSEK AR
SENHBAR -

BIEEHA—T——F=F \BHNKETHLE
ERANARME  AEEE—PRERE RS
R HI21% M5 - IR &R E AR AR 208,200,000
T EASERIEERERTER  RERY
B P A AR R 19% I8 540% c R T ——
FZA+A"BEKE  NEEBERAEHK
RAS LHEARFLEIREE A HERSE
TEEGIRE - AR SBRKAREENKE

AR -
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32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

32. WEE—EME AR

RMB’'000
ARBTF T
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at RURE B EAPTIEE 2 BE MR Z BIE -
the date of acquisition:
Other receivables H b fE R IE 61,179
Properties for sale ARt HEYE 829,331
Bank balances and cash IRTTREB RS 7,676
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R H A FE R (502,933)
Other payables H At FE T FRIE (17,631)
377,622
Carrying amount of interest in a joint venture as REZZE=Z—F=ANEBREELEZ
at 8 March 2021 2 R E 79,775
Add: Non-controlling interest I IR 297,847
Less: Net assets acquired B T 2 BEFE (377,622)
Analysis of inflow of cash and cash equivalents in WE—FERBARI R e RERRELIEE
respect of acquisition of a subsidiary: RADHT
Bank balances and cash acquired BERERITER LTS 7,676
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION

(0

Acquisition of Guangzhou Baosu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Baosu”)

On 16 December 2020, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
with Guangdong Poly Urban Development Co., Ltd.,
an independent third party, to acquire the 50% equity
interest of Guangzhou Baosu, at a total consideration of
RMB2,000,000,000. Upon completion on 25 August 2021,
Guangzhou Baosu became a subsidiary of the Company
as the Company has the power to cast the majority of
votes at the board of directors meetings and the power to
affect the returns.

Guangzhou Baosu is principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Guangzhou Baosu has not carried out any
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS
3 and concluded that the property under development
for sale held by Guangzhou Baosu is considered a single
identifiable asset. The acquisition has been accounted for
by the Group as acquisition of assets.

I3WEMBLARLARIIEEEWE

WEEMNRBEZER QA (TEMKR
1)
RZZE-_ZTF+_A+"H ' AQRIEE
2EWB AR EMNBEEESFRA 7] H
BUYFE=ZFERRAATEREREBR A A
RIS A 1B EE - LAURKEE B MR TR 2 50% A%
¥ - 8RB A ARY?2,000,000,0007T ° K
ZE—FNAZTHEAREKE - ARA
NRRBRRESEEE I RAZHERE
EFERR  WEMREEKRAERA AN
{IESNGTIS

BEMRBEBRTBEREMERMBER
MEERBEER  BRiFE —EARFELLR
o BIMNRBEBETERNEREBR
2 o REBERIBFEW RS LR EINR
BEETHENSDERR  ABHES
RREMRAEHA 2AHEEERTYE
R—HEAUHRREE - WBCHAKENE
EWEAR
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION (continued)

(0

Acquisition of Guangzhou Baosu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Baosu”) (continued)

IWEBHE QAR ARIMEEEWES

(%)

(1)

WEEMNFRBEXER QA ([EIMNF
A€

RMB’000

ARBT T

Bank balances and cash RITRB RIS 591,529
Other receivables H fth & W sk IE 3,167
Deferred tax assets RIER TR & A 471
Right-of-use assets REEE 284
Property under development for sale A EERERYE 4,925,020
Bank and other borrowing RITREMBEE (888,000)
Other payables H e 5T FRIE (632,188)
Lease liabilities HEARE (283)
4,000,000

Consideration - deposits paid in previous year RE—BEFEZNONES 2,000,000
Non-controlling interests e 2,000,000
4,000,000

Cash inflow arising on acquisition WEELENESR

Bank balances and cash acquired BEWBRITER LIRS 591,529

(1) Acquisition of Guangzhou Yueshang Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Yueshang”)

On 3 September 2021, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a capital increase
agreement with Excellent Real Estate Group (Dongguan)
Co., Ltd., an independent third party, to acquire the
50% equity interest of Guangzhou Yueshang, at a total
consideration of RMB500,000,000. Since the Company
has the power to cast the majority of votes at the board
of directors meetings and the power to affect the returns,
Guangzhou Yueshang became a subsidiary of the
Company.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33 WM B AL ARIEEERE

ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS (%)

ACQUISITION (continued)

(Il Acquisition of Guangzhou Yueshang Real Estate (I WEEMMIEEEHERERRA A
Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Yueshang”) (TEMEE D (&)
(continued)
Guangzhou Yueshang is principally engaged in property BN EERNR B SR EEL
development business in the PRC and up to the date of MEZWEEH @ FRiFE BRI
acquisition, Guangzhou Yueshang has not carried out any Sh - BN A METEMERERR
significant business transaction except for holding a piece 5 o REEERBEBNIBEHREELFEINR
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the BEETAENSETEANR  WELHAR
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3 RRBEMNEERHFE A HEERREPYE
and concluded that the property under development for R—IEAHREE - WEEHASENUE
sale held by Guangzhou Yueshang is considered a single EWREARK -

identifiable asset. The acquisition has been accounted for
by the Group as acquisition of assets.

RMB’'000
AR¥TT
Bank balances and cash RITRB RIS 428,928
Other receivables Hh e R IE 8,663
Property under development for sale HERRBYME 2,109,673
Bank and other borrowing RITREMEE (400,000)
Other payables H At T FRIE (1,147,264)
1,000,000
Cash paid [EENEEA 500,000
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M A 500,000
1,000,000

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of assets HEBURENBRARZEERBELEZ

through acquisition of subsidiary: WEm i FHE

Cash consideration paid in current year REELINZEENRE (500,000)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B BB IRITESBR IR S 428,928
Net cash outflow IR R (71,072)
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33 WM B AR ARIIEEEIWEE
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ()
ACQUISITION (continued)

(I} Acquisition of Nanjing Chuangma Investment

Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Chuangma”)

On 14 September 2020, Nanjing Zhaochuang
Technology Innovation Service Co., Ltd., an indirectly
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a cooperation agreement with Nanjing Longma
Technology Development Co., Ltd., an independent
third party, to acquire the 100% equity interest of Nanjing
Chuangma, at a total consideration of RMB130,572,000.

) WERRAISREXESRAR(E
V-

R_E-_ZFTFNA+MA @ KAFREEIE
2 &K B A P =B8] BT Al RS A IR
AEEBYE =T ERESRERERER
RNRIFIS A e - Uk = AIF100%
Rk - BAREAARE130,572,0007T °
RERER  BREIEKALARANEE
[{hgEENG]

Upon completion on the same date, Nanjing Chuangma
became a subsidiary of the Company.

MRAISEERTERENRHAERS
ERBER  BREEEARFEMBIR
CERESYEETENEREBR
5 o ARBEERBE BV RS EAEIR
ETEENEPEAR  XEHERRBR
MRAIGEHEZAHEERRTMER—
BAHREE - KECHASEEAEER
BARK -

Nanjing Chuangma is principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Nanjing Chuangma has not carried out any A
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
and concluded that the property under development for
sale held by Nanjing Chuangma is considered a single
identifiable asset. The acquisition has been accounted for
by the Group as acquisition of assets.

RMB’000

ARBFT

Bank balances and cash RITEBRKEIRE 18,710
Property under development for sale FEERPYE 111,862
130,572

Cash paid EffRE (130,572)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B EWEBRITASRERIR® 18,710
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WEEEA 2 IR &R F5 (111,862)
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33.WNEMB AT ARINIEEE NE
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS ()
ACQUISITION (continued)

(IV) Acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao Real Estate Co., (V) WERMNmEREERR QR ([E

Ltd. (“Guangzhou Junyao”)

On 1 July 2019, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Ltd. (“Guangzhou Merchants”), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a cooperation agreement with Guangzhou
Juntang Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Juntang”),
an independent third party, to acquire the 50.1% equity
interest of Guangzhou Junyao, at a total consideration
of RMB325,650,000. The acquisition was completed on
15 May 2020. Upon completion, Guangzhou Junyao
became a subsidiary of the Company as the Company has
the power to cast the majority of votes at the board of
directors meetings and the power to affect the returns.

Guangzhou Junyao is principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Guangzhou Junyao has not carried out any
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
Business Combinations and concluded that the property
under development for sale held by Guangzhou Junyao is
considered a single identifiable asset. The acquisition has
been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.

MNER])

RZE—NFLA—H ' ARFEEEE
MiEB AR EMBREEHESRRZA R ([EM
B EBYE=FENTEERHES
RAFI(TEMNEBEDIZAEDRZR - Wk
BEMEBERS01%mEE  BREAAR
#5325,650,0007T - WHIEER == FH
ATHAZRK - REKE - BERARQFHE
EREZC SR L RAZEERGRYE
Bl - MEMNERBEKAERRRNHER
aj o

EMNBRIBRTBEREMEMBEER
MEERBER  BRiFF —EARFELLR
Sh o EMERY BETEMNEREBLR
2 o REBEERIBEEU RS LR EINR
EBAMHETERNETRAR A7
EwRSEMNERFAEZAHKERRST
MER—BAHREE - WECHAKHE
NEEWEARR
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33.

34.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION (continued)

(IV) Acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Junyao”) (continued)

33 WBME A RLARIEEERE
(#)

) WERMNTEREHEGRA
JNERR ) ()

Al ([ &

RMB’000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB K& 107
Other receivables H i R UK IR 31,394
Property under development for sale BEEEPME 1,639,450
Bank balances and cash RITHER RIS 23,169
Other payables H P ROE (1,046,848)
647,272
Consideration - deposit paid in previous year RE—BEFEZNNES 325,650
Non-controlling interest JEPE IS RE 321,622
647,272

Cash inflow arising from acquisition WEEE £ ME N
Bank balances and cash acquired BB RITER RS 23,169
PARTIAL DISPOSAL AND DEEMED 34. 35 Hj%&%m’ﬁtlj’éwm* DA

DISPOSAL OF INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

On 24 July 2019, Foshan Merchants Property Development
Co., Ltd. ("Foshan Merchants”), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperation
agreement with Foshan Jinteng Property Development Co.,
Ltd. ("Foshan Jinteng”), pursuant to which among other
things, Foshan Jinteng subscribed for 10% of the paid-up
capital of Foshan Merchants Luhu Property Development
Co., Ltd. ("Foshan Luhu”) at a cash consideration of
RMB94,906,000. The equity interest transfer was completed on
22 April 2020. Upon completion of the equity interest transfer,
Foshan Jinteng holds directly 10% of equity interest in Foshan
Luhu and the Group holds, directly 90% of the equity interest
in Foshan Luhu. As the Group remains its control over Foshan
Luhu, Foshan Luhu remains as a subsidiary of the Company
after the transaction which is then accounted for as an equity
transaction. The difference between the fair value of the
portion of consideration paid by Foshan Jinteng, to the extent
of interest not related to the Group, and 10% of net assets in
Foshan Luhu amounted to approximately RMB2,206,000 was
recognised by the Group in equity transaction reserve.
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35. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL 35. NEBREIMER N HEME A A

INTEREST AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 17 April 2020, China Merchants Land (Shenzhen) Company
Limited and Happy City Investments Limited, indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company entered into an
equity interest transfer agreement with China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holding Co., Ltd., a non-controlling
shareholder of Nanjing Xinsheng Commercial Management
Co., Ltd. (“"Nanjing Xinsheng"”), to further acquire the
remaining 49% equity interest of Nanjing Xinsheng, at a
cash consideration of RMB389,053,000. The acquisition was
completed on 30 June 2020. Upon completion, the Group
holds 100% equity interest in Nanjing Xinsheng.

Subsequently on 14 October 2020, the Group completed the
disposal of the entire investment of 100% equity interests in
Nanjing Xinsheng, with an independent third party Nanjing
Chengsheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd., at a
consideration of RMB793,985,100. The equity interest transfer
was completed on 14 October 2020. Nanjing Xinsheng ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Company upon and after the disposal.

R-ZE_ZTFWNA+tAH - BaREOFY)
BERAREARRIHEEEZEMNBARLERE
ERATHEBHREO TXRZERKROHERA
A AEREREEEEARAR([EREE])
ZIEPEARAR SR ) BT S AR IE S R ek - DAE— 2P UK
B R SR NA9%kE  HERERARK
389,053,000 - WEBER —_Z_ZTF A=+
HIERk ° Rk - AEBRAERE&100%
[ HE o

RZBEZTFF+ATHAR  AEEERE—FF
VEZFHERBABREEETEAGRAAZEMA L
EMRERNEZIRERE  REAARKE
793,985,1007C - RiEEFEER =TT F 1+ A
AN REEZREZE  BRESRT
BARNARIZKIB AR

T 5% HERBMABRATE 245



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

CREE N

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE—F—

—F+=A=+—HIFE

35. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTEREST AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of disposal of

35. WEBRERIMERE R HERB LR (8)

HERMRERERRILERNEERABEN

Nanjing Xinsheng were as follows: =
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Bank balances and cash IRITHEER IR & 50,254
Trade and other receivables 75 N HoAth R U 5k 0E 9.144
Investment properties wEME 678,206
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE KRR 57
Trade and other payables T R H A FE T FRIA (24,966)
Tax payables JERT IR (287)
712,408
Less: Consideration o RE (793,985)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — PR B8 2 7] 2 as (81,577)
Consideration received by cash LAZR & B (B 793,985
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of W BEREZRITERER S (50,254)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZRERAFE 743,731

36.RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(i)

Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.

Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.
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37.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EcRABER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from non-
controlling interests and an intermediate holding company,
bond payable and bank borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity, comprising share capital, share
premium, various reserves and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as the issue of
new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

Group entities which were established in the PRC maintained
RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance of these
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC government.

AEEEEREES  MERASEZERBKE
WARERE T ANEE  RAFTEBERTE
BEBERAR 2 KERRT SRR FRNKAE
o REERBRBELFRFTE -

AEEZEARBRIEFZRED RERIER
REIER  ENEFARRITEES - MR
RERBREEBE A RER (BRERA - K
B BRFmRIFERER) -

ARAREEFEHRA BENERE o ERRT A
ERBLEERZBEAABZAR - BRAR
REZEZHBER  AKEREHTHR K
NERBARBEITHEXNEERBEY  FEHE
BREXRLGRE -

RPBRIZAREERFERNARKEFEZ
RITHEH - BPBEIERZEFRBETHER
T B i [ 5 R o
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting

period was as follows:

37. B¢ EkK
AEMARERELE R EABELEMT -

BE @)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Debt (Note i) &5 (H1ati) 36,536,844 19,492,774
Bank balances and cash IRTTEHR KRS (14,423,276) (9,718,815)
Net debt FER 22,113,568 9,773,959
Equity (Note ii) Wz (K i) 33,850,597 31,266,834
Net debt to equity ratio SFETS E X 0.65 0.31
Notes: HfaE -
(i) Debt is defined as loans from non-controlling interests and an (i) BRTIER AIFERER REEERATER - EE
intermediate holding company, bond payable and bank borrowings. HFUARRITEE -
(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling (i) HRBEANEEMAERKFEEHANIHERER -
interests.
38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.emT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) ERMTESER
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Financial assets SREE
Financial asset at FVTPL BATETABRNSREE 117,836 106,899
Financial assets at amortised cost R ATTEZ S MEE
(including bank balances and cash) (BREBRITHEBERS) 39,210,300 40,293,289
Financial liabilities =8N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost TREHEK AT EZ SR B E 69,859,341 48,241,597
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial
asset at FVTPL, loans from non-controlling interests
and an intermediate holding company, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bond
payable. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated other
receivables, bank balances, bank borrowings, loans
from non-controlling interests and other payables,
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
management has closely monitored foreign exchange
exposure and will undertake necessary procedures to

mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

the end of the reporting period are as follows:

3. €M I E®)
(b) MISEREIEE EREBGE

AEETZ2ERTABREBREMER
PIE - RITEBRNRE - RAFERFAR
HNEMEE  FERERSREEER
RAER B REMENKIEA - |RITE
E HEARBEREMNES EBMTAZH
B AR RE BT TR

ZEemTAAERREREm SRR (T
RigkMERER) - FERRIRBE R
@ ARNAREZ SRR ZBRER T
X BEEEBEELERZEFRAR - AR
RS BRERA EEE

L7

B e

REB 2z B EUIA « IRITHEH - ]RIT
fEE - JEERREE B AR E MR 5RIA
ASNEEHE - ERASEmHINER R
EREEVERINERAR - WHRIVEE
EFEMEEER -

AEBEINESHEZ BB EERER AR
R EHRAE R ZREEWNT

Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2021 2020 2021 2020

—B--% C—T-TF BT ZT-TF

RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT AR¥TR ARETE

HK$ B 1,095,753 644,036 4,480,223 417,165

us$ ETT 1,338,069 331,213 350,211 853,496
Inter-group balances SERRHEARS

HK$ B 1,991,809 1,253,519 200,909 37,082

us$ ETT 526,088 539,101 60 62
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

3. €M I E®)
(b) HIEEBEIEEIERBEE)

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk from
assets and liabilities denominated in HK$ and US$.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
(2020: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional
currency of respective group entities, against US$ and
HK$ which represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rate.
The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding US$ and
HK$ denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2020: 5%) change in foreign currency rate. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit
where RMB strengthens 5% (2020: 5%) against US$ and
HK$ and vice versa.

ISR ()
AEBET2AZERE LT ENEE
REBEEREALR -

TRALAEERARE(HHEEEER
RS KR KRB B THERIZES% (=
T_TF 5%)ZBRE  ZBREREDE
BEHIINEERARELR AR EE 25T
il > BUREDTBIBATX T BB EZ
AEHEERHEE  URHKEHHEERZ
INESTER 2 5% (— T _FF :5%) S BHE
HE - LTEHBRREARBLEZTR
B EA5%(ZBZFF 5%) BT
MZIBMEFE - RZIFA °

2021 2020
=®¥=—&F _T_¥F
RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

Profit for the year F A Al

Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest bearing
bank balances, bank borrowings and loans from an
intermediate holding company. The directors of the
Company considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is limited due to their short maturities.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
its fixed-rate loans from lease liabilities, non-controlling
interests, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from joint ventures, bank borrowings and bond payable.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

38. ﬁ%ﬁlﬂ(fé}
) MBEBREE B ERBE(E)

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure on an on-
going basis and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China and HIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest bearing
liabilities and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would decrease/
increase by RMB52,928,000 (2020: decrease/increase by
RMB26,835,000) (excluding the effect for borrowing costs
capitalised).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of each
reporting period; and

e  the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 42.

mIEEE ()

FEm R (&)
AEERBYEFBAAFENXRER LT
EmEMEER 2 EREHBE - AW
ZK%@EE@F%%% SN - AR

FR2REEHAEATN AR

AEERERENERELEBEHRF
ARBRITREZ ARBEEERFNXRE
ABIRTTRIRIFRA R 2 KB AR

HIBEDT

N TEREDMIDBRRNBERHEER
ZHERBRESHMIANBFRERENR
o AMAEEETIRAB RSN EEARE
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2021, approximately 33%
(2020: 26%) of the bank balances were deposited at CMB.
Except for approximately 11% (2020: 20%) of the bank
balances deposited at Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
and approximately 10% (2020: 4%) of the bank balances
deposited at Agricultural Bank of China, deposits in other
banks are individually less than 10% of total bank deposits
and bank balances. The credit risk of these liquid funds
is limited because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee. In order to minimise
the credit risk on these amounts, the management of
the Group continuously monitors the credit quality and
financial conditions of intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee of the Group and the level
of exposure to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Based on the assessment on
the market condition and current budget of property
development projects held by the relevant joint
ventures, associates and an investee of the Group, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk in respect of these balances is insignificant
except for an amount due from a joint venture located
in Guangzhou. Due to a decrease in the actual and
expected selling price of that joint venture's property
development project, the directors of the Company
have recognised an impairment loss of RMB262,073,000
(2020: RMB187,294,000) in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2021 on the gross carrying amount
of the amount due from the joint venture amounting to
RMB1,082,310,000 (2020: RMB1,471,973,000) according to
its internal credit rating assessment.

252 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2021

3. €M I E®)
(b) SRR EIEBEREE (&)

EERk(E)
REBZRITEHRBEERBRERIBER °
R-ZBE-—F+=-A=+—8 - R17&&%
#33%(Z T =T F : 26%) F N B R
17 o BERITAESBD11%(—E-ZFF :20%)
FA10%( Z T =FF : 4% ) F R REIR
TROBRAR R EEEETIH - @5
HiR1T R D RIRITERRIRITE SR
B 210% > HRR SEF AR FE 2 E
BRTKAESEETRZRT SR
FECZEERBRAR o

AEERERMEZER AR - FEEERE
m ARMBAR  BEQR - AEME
k—2REHE 2 FEPEEERRBREF
BR - BBLERBZEERBEER
K AKEEEEREEEASERMEER
BEAF] - FEIERRAERS C RRMBE AR - B
BAT - AR CENURKREURZEE
EERFBEARD AR RBERAKF - FERERER
IR eI B R ERE S o BN TISARLE
TEARANEBEESERE  BEAR
MR AR REENEMERNZEER 2 8 A
BE  ARREERA AEEEBEZE
HEHRHNEERBRI NEX - HEEK B
REMZ & EEERERIBRI - ARZE
EhENYERLBEECERLEHRE
BRL RAREFRBEAIEEFAT
it EREECERBZREREAR
#1,082,310,000C(— T -ZT4F : AR
1,471,973,00070 ) REBEZT = —F + =
B=+—HIEFEZBRSRNERREEE
AR#262,073,000t(ZE_FF : AR
#187,294,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

38. ﬁ%ﬁlﬂ(fé}
) MBEBREE B ERBE(E)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of properties operation income
receivables from customers. The Group monitors the
outstanding balances on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are performed by the management before
properties operation agreements are entered into
with counterparties. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk on trade
receivables is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

In determining the credit risk on other receivables,
the directors of the Company have taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking
information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding other
receivables is insignificant.

FERR(E)

EEEWSE
XERKRFBEBREBKREFZMEEER
A AEBRBEEREERKERGR
B HHFRINFEH L E A 0 EHEE
BETEEFE - I AEEREEH
EEBEREAREBREFRETERR
EFHE - BT © AARERRR A
SEREHERFETENEERBRAR
R e

EL 1t JEN K IR
RETHEMREFBNEERRE - AR
AEFDERELEZOLBRIATELEER
(@) - BVRERREERR I ERE
EEM - ARELEE - ERENELN
HRBAEIER  BAR/AKEEMAREEERK
REBEENEERRILTERX -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection
with certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans
to finance their purchase of the Group’s properties. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the period of guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to repossess
the properties for resale. Therefore, the management
of the Group considers it would likely recover any loss
incurred arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties occurred
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group also provides guarantees to banks in
connection with borrowings of certain joint ventures
and associates. The maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
RMB1,603,415,000 (2020: RMB1,965,493,000) as at 31
December 2021. At the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that these has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
of the financial guarantee contracts.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

38. ﬁ%ﬁlﬂ(fé}

) MEERERE B R LK (&)

FEREE)

AR B RER

Rl

B=iE

l:l,\

B ARG A BREIAT

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables other items
HittemEE
AR EE TR b ESY 6] HiER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
default and does not have any impaired
past-due amounts
BRI HFFNELNRRRE  BEUEEMEORE 2HEHRGEEEE- 1208 AREEERE
REERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - not credit-  12m ECL
but usually settles in full impaired
BEaE BEBARERIBEARET  HEBFE2HFE 2HRAGEBR- 12 AFE SR
RMEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL - not credit-  Lifetime ECL - not credit-
in credit risk since initial recognition impaired impaired
through information developed
internally
2= WEHIFTMENBEREERRBIRERRE 2HRHBEEEE - EHEHESRHE -
PNl REERE AMEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
the asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired
e BRBRARECEERE EHEHEEEHE - EHEHESEHE -
FERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
MisH A& F%Eﬂfii&/\ﬁﬁ\ﬁéﬁﬁxliﬁ WaHA B 50R MisH B BTRIA

A S E YR @ KR AT =
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

3. €M I E®)
(b) BIFEREIE B REE (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

FERR(E)

TRALAEENEBEE(DARRZEAS

FEERBRFE)NEERRBKO

Internal External 12-month or Gross
credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL carrying amount
12f8A% 25
RBEETR  HMIEETER RAGERE REEE
2021 2020
“E--F —Z-TF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
faF AR®T R ARET T
Amounts due from related parties 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 22,586,177 28,713,585
FE U R 5 7R0E B zE NER EABHEEHE
Amounts due from related parties 23 Loss N/A Lifetime ECL - 1,082,310 1,471,973
credit-impaired
Uk BB 7 A B NiEfA 2HEHEEEE -
EERE
Bank balances 24 N/A Prime 1- 12m ECL 14,423,276 9.718,815
Prime 2
RITHER NEHR E-EREE 12EAARHREEEE
“ER
Other receivables 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 1,093,117 470,684
H o EIRGRIA itz NiEf EARREERE
Trade receivables 23 Lowrisk N/A Lifetime ECL 25,419 105,526
B/ 36O KRR NER 2HRHEEEE

Note: For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, there is no significant increase in credit risk of the

amounts as the amounts are not past due.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for amount due from a joint

venture.

3. €M I E®)
(b) AR EIEBERIEE (&)

ERER(E)
TRITHEL ML B ERARRE
HEEREEOLD -

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
RHEMEE
BE-(FE
RAE)
RMB'000
AR®BTR
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE_ZTF—HF—H =
Changes due to financial instruments recognised RZE-_ZF—F—HEZNH
as at 1 January 2020: CRMTAGHMWES
— Impairment losses recognised - BRRR(EEE 187,294
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE-EE+-_A=+—H 187,294
Changes due to financial instruments recognised RZZE=—F— A —BHERN
as at 1 January 2021: SR T BEHNE
— Impairment losses recognised - BHRRERR 262,073
As at 31 December 2021 NZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—H 449,367

Liquidity risk

TENE £ E R

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and
issue of new debts. The directors of the Company
closely monitor the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the Group's
projects and operations.

AEENBERERBEBERERRETHE
% BRREERDELNES ZHELER
BEARMEZHNTE  AAREETIER
mEESMN - LFAREETEE S HIR
AR A B HIE R R 25E o
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting

38.

eI E®)
(b) HIEEBEIEEIERBEE)

REBESER(E)
TRALAREFTES BB EOEE
BRANIEMBR - ZRBEBEAREATRE
RXMEITEERABBEZRFARERR
2o URREBABZIAMARESTE -
ZREBEMNERAZRERE ° EFER
ERFPMNERE - REeEREAERAR
RAIRERRTYR B FRARAR o

period.
Weighted  On demand Total
average  or within 61to 181to 1-2 2-3 Over undiscounted ~ Carrying
interest rate 60days  180days  365days years years 3years  cash flows amount
nE  BExY FERRE
PORE  ReOBA 611808  181Z365A 1528 BE BEE RESR i
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR  ARETn  ARETR
At31December 2021 W=B=-£
t2A=t-8
Trade and other payables  ERREHE[ZE - 3332497 - - - - - 3332491 33322497
Lease liabilties HEAE 4.70% 9,039 18078 2787 57812 50248 285577 4865 428486
Loans from non-controlling 3 2HEREZ
interests 4.97% 5189 2,013 510,418 56,179 70,782 - 666,581 635,507
Loans from an intermediate EE2RAR S5
holding company 4.72% 194,414 480,303 2184141 767,600 16,627,274 - 20253732 18,166,203
Bank borrowings RiilE
-fixed rate -E8 4.62% 5,853 9,140 54,090 265,940 133,358 211,342 619,723 601,283
- variable rate -8 21% 1032865 2921757 2041086 2400603 9,189,646 674489 18,260,426 17,133,851
34569857 3453291 4817586 3548134 26,071,308 1,171,408 73,631,584 70,287,827
Financial quarantee HBERRN
contracts 6,561,657 - - - - - 6,561,657 -
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38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

38.&MITE#)
(b) ISR SR B IE RS (S

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average orvithin 6110 1810 1-2 2-3 Over  undiscounted Carying
interest rate 60 days 180cays  365deys years years 3years  cash flows amount
Mg RERE MRS
THE  RMOBR GIEI00E  181E365H 152F VEK X | L
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR
At31 December 2020  R-E-%%
+ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables % REMERFE - 28748823 - - - - - 28748823 28,748,823
Lease liabiities HEeE 485% 8938 16,95 2814 %33 53457 437999 598,099 4919
Loans from non-controlling  JEERER &30
interests 5.32% 30,845 00490 1745383 753972 31831 - 6881 2488150
Loans from an intermediate. BEARATER
holding company 475% 1,798,385 312 4815 209500 - - 201583 19683
Bank borrowings BkE
- fixed rate -8 4% 8877 1016422 - - - - 1025299 1,000,000
- variable rate -8 465% 690682 2473213 2424064 5719365 82,117 805365 12994866 12,107,800
Bond payable EfifEs 4.6% - 43700 1943700 - - - 1987400 1900000
31286550 3613563 6144T% 6131173 3405 1243364 L999%8791 48684516
Financial quarantes AEReN
contracts 9,567 473 - - - - - 54T -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
the counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee, which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties that are
guaranteed by the Group suffer any credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value (continued)

3. €M I E®)

The below tables summarised the financial instruments

measured at fair value:

(c)

NFEE)
TREDRAHEFENSRTA :

Fair value Fair value Valuation techniques and
Financial instrument as at 31 December hierarchy significant key or unobservable inputs
AFE
$RIA R+=A=+—H AFEER FEFEREATERFAEEHNARE
2021 2020
—B--F C—T-FTF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Financial asset at FVTPL 117,836 106,899 Level 3 2021
Assets based approach. The value of assets
are estimated based on the replacement
costs and rebuilding costs.
2020
Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
are estimated based on expected return,
and the contracted investment costs,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
internal rate of return of the underlying
investments.
BRAFEF ABZR E=/ T —F
EREE BELAMRE BEEEERBEEENARER

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the

years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

34
1E

FRAMEE

—TETF

AR EME - R\ MEHIRETREE
HAGET - MAKIRERARN TR REAEEIRE
A6 B R R A b R ETT AR o

BT FRZFETF+_A=+—H
FE - WESASEBHE=L -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
financial asset

3. €M I E®)
(©) ATEEE)

BAFEF=FENSREELK

RMB$'000

AR¥TT

Balance at 1 January 2020 RZT_FTF— A — AWM 104,492
Unrealised fair value change recognised in RERERANRER A TEEZH

profit or loss 2,407

Balance at 31 December 2020 pr s i-}— H +— B4 106,899
Unrealised fair value change recognised in Nz N EZE)

profit or loss 10,937

Balance at 31 December 2021 R-ZTE-—F+-A=+—HBHWHEH 117,836

Valuation processes

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement are
determined by the directors of the Company.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation when considered necessary. The directors of
the Company work closely with the independent qualified
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The directors of the Company
review the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the assets
and liabilities semi-annually.
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39.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

39. MEEE 2B EHR

TERANAKERMELRD cAEZS  BER
ERIFRCED RETDELZABEIEE
EE%//ILE_‘Z*XIE?E\/}%JE\ ;VT\/\EE%/ML%%:P
PRARERPREREZALE -

1 January Financing Exchange
2021 cashflow  adjustment

= S8 B
-R-H REhE EiAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT KRBT

Non-cash changes
E3EY L)
Non-cash
Finance New lease Dividend transactions 31 December
costs incurred entered declared (Note 46) 2021
FEEM FRERE  -B--f

MERA  TINNEE  CERRS (Hite) t=R=1-R
RMBOOO ~  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR

Amounts due tointermediate R EBIERAT

holding companies B 11034540  (4,036,460) -
Amounts due tonon-controlling e ff3EiE IRz 208

interests 2,325,799 (1,095,300) (36,432)
Amounts due to fellow ERRZIBAR

subsidiaries B 2,466,999 980,759 -

Amounts due tojoint ventures  [ERFAS M LR 1,454,728 527,465 -
Amounts due to associates [EBEAREIAE 2,237,287 624,025 -
Loans from non-controlling 3R E 2

- - - (1,339,443) 5,658,637

: ; - 2474515 3,868,582

- o - (204,125) 3,243,633
- = - 114,780 2,096,973
- = - (321,480) 2,539,832

interests 2,488,151 892,406 (2,475) - - - (2,742,575) 635,507
Loans from anintermediate BRI SR
holding company 1,996,823 16,169,380 - - - - - 18,166,203
Bank borrowings BiikER 13,107,800 2,836,401 - - - - 1790933 17735134
Bond payable (1% 1,900,000 (1,900,000) = - - - - -
Lease liabilities AEeE 442919 (125,146) - 15,350 95,080 - 3 428,486
Interest payables (included in R8T ALK
trade and other payebles) REMEMZE) 32,784 (1,225,006) - 1,337,847 - - - 145,625
Dividend payable (includedin ~ E[IRE (GrA%H
trade end otherpayebles) R4 20A) 962,035 (553,498) = = = 553,498 - 962,035
40,449,865 13,095,026 (38907) 1,353,197 95,080 553,498 (27112) 55,480,647
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39.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(continued)

30. MEEBH A BEHER®

Non-cash changes

#3588
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance Newlease Dividend ~ transactions 31 December
2020 cashflow  adjustment  costsincurred entered declared (Note 4¢) 200
23 HE i 22 HERS  ZFITE
-A-A Réng Ei3% BERA FuMHEE  BERRE (fritas) T=A=+-R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETn  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
Amounts due tointermediate  FERFSEIEIRAF]
holding companies HE 15158714 951866 = = = = - 11034540
Amounts due to non-controlling fEIEERIER 2B
interests 2,052,694 344,208 (71.103) = = = = 2325799
Amounts due to fellow ERRZKBAR
subsicaries 58 1640% 2302903 - - - - -2
Amounts due tojoint ventures  [ERAEMNEHE 1,107,320 347,408 - - - - - 1,454,728
Amounts due to associates [EBENFZIE 883,599 1,353,688 = = - - - 2,231,281
Loans from non-controlling ~ 3EBRER &S
interests 399,186 (1,269,022 (45417) - - - (196,5%) 2,488,151
Loans from an intermediate  FEERA RS
holding company 3,298,298 (1,301,479) - - - - - 1,996,823
Bank borrowings HfEE 12,763 548 344,252 - - - - - 13,107,800
Bond payable EftE% 1,900,000 - - - - - - 1,900,000
Lease liabilities HERE 277,334 (A5,477) = 16,649 194,413 = = 442919
Interest payables (included in [ F| & (GF A £
trade and otherpeyebles) R ZA) - (1169489) = 1202273 = = = 30784
Dividend payable (includedin  FEffR & (5t A 27
trade and otherpayables)  pEE[zA) 1452031 (1311734 - - - 821,738 - 962,035
29,413,980 9113928 (116,520) 1218922 194413 821,738 (1965%) 40449865
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40.0PERATING LEASES
The Group as a lessor

A number of the investment properties held have committed
tenants for the next one to twelve years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

408 EHE
AEEEREAA

A2 ZHRENEZHPARRNT —F&E

T FHMEER -

EREENREREFENT :

2021 2020

—E-—F e S S

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR%T AR®ET T

Minimum lease payments receivable on B E R HIEBEFRIBAT

leases are as follows:

Within one year —FE R 155,510 151,632

In the second year F-FERN 132,754 120,809

In the third year F=FN 94,401 102,276

In the fourth year FOMER 70,659 65,417

In the fifth year EFRFNA 49,368 51,167

After five years AF% 219,604 255,586

722,296 746,887

41. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following commitments contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of:

41, EiE

RBEREEER  AEEEHATEAEA
WA RN E M B HREB B 2 ATEOT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-EF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBFT

Construction of properties under BEEAHEERRPME
development for sale 8,006,036 10,984,363
Leasehold improvements HEMEEE 13,003 45,610
Capital injection to joint ventures AeETETE 3,300 1,666,310
Property, plant and equipment acquisition M BEREZEEE 275 -
8,022,614 12,696,283
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42.FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

42 BIEEREN

2021 2020
—B-—F —ECTF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
(Restated)
(7&&751)
Guarantee given to banks in connection with AT R ZBE MG TIRITZER
facilities granted to customers (Note i) (B1ati) 4,109,483 3,601,980
Guarantee given to banks in connection with METEECEREE AR ZBEM
facilities granted to joint ventures and i T IRIT 2 AR (Hatii)
associates (Note ii) 2,452,174 1,965,493

Notes:

(i) The Group acted as the guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to
certain purchasers of the Group's properties and agreed to repay the
outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default
the repayment of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The
directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition is not significant.

(ii) The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee at the initial date of providing this guarantee is insignificant.
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43.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

Related party transactions

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties:

A3 BEEATIHE
(&) BEALRS

BRREM B RREMEAREEI -
AEBHEEBEALHEANTRS

2021 2020
—9-—-F —ECRF
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction MG RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
An associate of BEER ARz Asset management BEEERY 18,934 18,074
an intermediate NG| service
holding company
Fellow subsidiaries R ZHKIE A A Sales of properties for sale 5% 7] i & )3 501,905 -
Property management MEEBESH 110,009 138,496
fee expenses
Construction service fee  Ti2fR#&E A 41,412 38,612
Operational support BEIRFRBKRA 3,557 -
service income
Rental income e WA 1,972 7,662
Other expenses Hi& R 20,896 5773
Repayment of lease BEAEARE 5,498 =
liabilities
Interest expenses arising HEBEBEELZ 5,629 -
from lease liabilities FERAX
An associate of R ATz Finance costs BMERA 52,549 139,902
ultimate holding it YN Bank interest income RITASHA 36,577 35,840
company Rental income M WA 1,555 4,817
(b) Related party balances (b) Rz AL %E‘?
Details of the Group’s balances with related parties are NEFBEEEA T 2 ERFBERERNGE

disclosed in notes 23, 25, 27, 28 and 29.

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances of approximately
RMB4,757,002,000 (2020: RMB2,564,207,000) were
deposited at CMB, an associate of the ultimate holding
company.

As at 31 December 2021, right of use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately RMB116,259,000 and
RMB123,697,000 (2020: Nil) was arisen from the lease
agreement with a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

232527~ 2829

M-ZE——F+-A=+—08 - RITEH
4 AN R #4,757,002,0007C( —F — T4 ¢
AR #2,564,207,0007 ) 15 B 1B & R 17
(ARRERARZEENT])

RZFZ-—FFTZA=1+—H OAR
# 116,259,000 7 & A & # 123,697,000 7T
(2020%F : E)WEREERERBERET
EXBRAKE-RRAAMNBEARNEER
1k °
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43.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) Asat31 December 2021, bank borrowings of approximately
RMB2,101,710,000 (2020: RMB2,158,186,000) were
guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

A3 FAENTHE #)

() R=FE=-_—F+=-_A=+—"H HAR
#2,101,710,000 (= =T F : AR
2,158,186,0007T) MR {TE E Ty B A &
BHELR ©

(d) T2EEABZME

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRET ARETRT

Short-term employee benefits Lﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬂ 14,145 12,701
Post-employment benefits RINGER 456 274
14,601 12,975

(e) Transactions with other government-related entities
in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government.
In addition, the Group operates in an economic
environment currently pre-denominated by entities
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“PRC government-related
entities”). Apart from the transactions with the related
parties as set out in (a) and (b) above, the Group also
conducts businesses with other PRC government-related
entities in the ordinary course of business. The Group’s
bank deposits and bank borrowings are entered into with
certain banks which are PRC government-related entities
in its ordinary course of business. In addition, the Group
entered into various transactions, including purchases
of land use rights, construction of properties and other
operating expenses with other PRC government-related
entities in the ordinary course of business. In view of
the nature of those transactions, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that separate disclosures
would not be meaningful.

(f)  Management services

The Group's activities were planned, directed and
controlled by the management of China Merchants
Shekou, which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 X AFIMB AR 2518
THE COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 RZBE-_—FR_T_TF+_A=+—8 "
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: AR EZMBARZFFBEHOT
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR, BERTRESRE ERAMEERAEE
WEAR AR B 3t B AR A G Endedll] TEXK
2021 2020
= b S 32
% %
Directly owned
ERER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100 100 Investment holding
EEERAR & 7%#10,0007T REAZR
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited ~ The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
REREBRAF RBRIHE  100ET REZR
Harvest Allied Investments Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
ERRERRAF B 751%10,0007T REER
Indirectly owned
BEEE
China Merchants Land The PRC RMB1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Shenzhen)* (Note i)
RERER(RINERAR (ML) T AR#1,000,0007C RERR
China West Premier Housing The PRC US$533,960,015 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
EEREENHEERAT i 533,960,015% 7T VB
(Hstikiv)
China Merchants Land Asset Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 100 100 Real Estate Investment Trust
Management Co., Ltd management
RARENEERRAR &g 711,500,007 BUHERARETERE
Cheuk Tat Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HKD2 100 100 Property investment
(Note i)
EEBERERAR (M) &b BT NERE
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

44 RAFMB AR 2B @)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BERTRESRES AREFERERAERE
WEAR MR B L3t B EIES TEzR L fl TEEK
2021 2020
B e 2
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Chongaing China Merchants Yi Yun  The PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
EERHKERMESRAR 0 AE20,000,0007T MEER
(Hiatiii)
Chongging Central Park Company ~ The PRC RMB3,666,249,600 50 50  Property development
Limited* (Notes i and iv)
ERRENERRAA i AR3,666,249,6007C B
(HiatiRiv)
Chongaing Merchants Yi Cheng The PRC RMB759,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
ERRBKHERERZARAR + AR759,000,0007C B
(Hiitiii)
Chongaing Yizhi Business The PRC US$200,000 50 50  Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
EERERFEEARAA i 200,000% 7T B
(HiatiRiv)
Coming Wealth Limited (Note i) Hong Kong HKD2 100 100 Property investment
EREEARAR (M) B 2T NERE
Chongging Merchants Jinshan Yi Ku The PRC RMB10,000,000 40 40 Property development
Business Management Co., Ltd.*
(Note i and iv)
EEFAACIUEEREXERERAR RE AE#10,000,0007C NEER

(Bistii Riv)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 X AFIMB AR 2B #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMRL, BRARBHRE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B3t B HTEN TE s Lk fil TEEK
2021 2020
“E=-F S 22
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEER(£)
Chongaing Merchants Yi Gang The PRC RMB1,050,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EEFRHEBRMEREERAR & AE#1,050,000,0007 NEER
(Hiétiii)
Converge Holdings Limited The BVI Us$10 100 100 Investment holding
ERZRAR A RBRIEE 10T REZER
Cosmo City Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50 50 Investment holding
SHERAR (K i) BR 7%4,640,010,0007C RERR
Cyber Light Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Investment holding
KERERRRAF &8 BH1007T REZER
Foshan Merchants Wharf Property ~ The PRC US$109,898,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
BILRBNERFHEARAR  + 109,898,000% 7 S
(HiEtiRiv)
Foshan Xin Jie Property The PRC US$250,123,443 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
BILEREREERAR (M Zikiv) F 250,123,443% 7T S
Foshan Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB3,640,000,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Yi Yun")
(Notes iii and iv)
HILEEEBERRAR & AR #3,640,000,0007C S

([RIERE ) (B aziii Riv)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 X RFIMB AR 2R #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR, BERTRESRE AREMEERAERE
WEARAR B L 3t B TR A TEzR L fl TEEH
2021 2020
= = —Z-%F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BERE (&)
Foshan Merchants Property The PRC RMB948,030,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BILREESERBR AR (ML) AR#948,030,0007T NEER
Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment ~ The PRC RMB507,100,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BIUTIERREERAERAR  F AR#507,100,0007C NEREE
(Hiitiii)
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property ~ The PRC RMB 10,000,000 55 55 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
FILEEFRFEHEERAR FE AR#10,000,00070 VS
(Hrztiii)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan Property The PRC RMB10,500,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
FILEE LREBEERAR FE AR#10,500,00070 VS
(Hiztiii Ziv)
Foshan Merchants Luhu Property ~ The PRC RMB948,030,000 90 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
FILRESHEREERAR & AR #948,030,0007 VS
(Hiztiii Ziv)
Foshan Merchants Hanlin Property ~ The PRC RMB192,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Limited*
(Note iii)
FILREAREREERAR & AR #192,000,0007T VS
(Hrztiii)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

Issued and fully

44 RAFIMB AR 2 # 1B @)

Proportion effective

incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B L 4 B HTEN TE s Lk fil TEEK
2021 2020
= —FFE
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEER(£)
Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan The PRC RMB1,614,000,000 50 50  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Zhonghuan”)
(Notes iii and iv)
FILRBTREREERAA FE AR#1,614,000,0007C VB
(TBRIL R ) (Byatiii Koiv)
Foshan Merchants Guolin Property ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BLREREEEFRD A H AR #50,000,0007 NEER
(Hiétiii)
Foshan Merchants Brilliant Property  The PRC RMB2,016,000,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Foshan Brilliant")
(Notes iii and iv)
BILEE R ERERRAR HE AEH2,016,000,0007 MEER
(TBRILSEEE ) (Bratiii Keiv)
Foshan Yi Yun Xiao De Property The PRC US$172,500,000 40 40 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
BILEKEZEEBERR LA H 172,500,000 7 MEER
(Hstikiv)
Foshan Yi Yuan Guan Yuan Property The PRC RMB100,000,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
FGESEENERRAR H AE#100,000,0007T MEER

(Bt:tiiiKiv)
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

44 RN BB AR 215 &)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BERTRESRE AREMEERAERE
WEARAR B L 3t B TR A TEzR L fl TEEK
2021 2020
B e 2
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Guangzhou Junyao (Notes iii) The PRC RMB650,000,000 50.1 50.1  Property development
RINEB(HT i) i AR #650,000,0007C B
Guangzhou Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB 100,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
BEMEEEBEBRAR (M Zi) + AR #100,000,0007C B
Happy City Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Investment holding
RERERRAF BB BH1007T REER
Harpen Company Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$10,000 50 50  Investment holding
eBEnERRBRAR M) & #110,0007T REZK
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., The PRC RMB148,380,817 51 51 Property development
Ltd.* ("Merchants Nanjing")
(Note i)
AEBHEFR)ERAF FE AR#148,380,8177C NEER
(THBmi R ) (i)
Merchants Property Development ~ The PRC RMB200,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Guangzhou) Limited* (Note ii)
BEMRERREBR AR (Hi) + AE#200,000,0007T MEER
Nanjing Shengtong Property The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Shengtong”) (Note ii)
HRRBENEREARAA H AE#1,500,000,0007C MEER
(T3 ) (hriti)
Nanjing Chuangma (Note iii) The PRC RMB 100,000,000 60 60 Property development
B (W) i AR 100,000,007 B
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

44 RAFIMB AR 2 # 1B @)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B L 4 B HTEN TE s Lk fil TEEK
2021 2020
= —FFE
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEER(£)
Nanjing Zhaochuang Technology ~ The PRC RMB53,000,000 60 60  Property development
Innovation Service Co., Ltd.
(Note iii)
HRREIRmEFREAR AR B AR #53,000,0007 NEER
(Hiétiii)
Nanjing DJZ Trading* The PRC RMB891,000,000 31 31 Property development
(Notes iii and iv)
AR T REBE (Htiikiv) H AR #891,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing Zhaorong Property The PRC RMB1,200,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
AR RREHERZERAR e AR #1,200,000,0007C NEERE
(Htitiii)
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng The PRC US$205,000,000 51 51 Property development
Property Development Limited*
(Note i)
AR AEREESERRAR & 205,000,000 7T NEER
(Hfati)
Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 51 Investment holding
Investment Limited* (Note iii)
ARRENBRERRDA (K itii) TE AR #100,000,0007C BAZR
Nanjing Merchants Zhaosheng The PRC RMB400,000,000 51 51 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
HRABEAREERRAR H AE#400,000,0007T MEER
(Hiétiii)

T —FF% HERBMABRATF 275



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

44 RN BB AR 215 &)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BERTRESRE AREMEERAERE
WEARAR B L 3t B TR A TEzR L fl TEEK
2021 2020
B e 2
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Pride Qasis Limited (“Pride Oasis”)  The BVI US$599,095,420 50 50 Investment holding
(Note iv)
HRARAD(ER])(Htiv)  RBEIESE  599,095420%T REER
Poly Field International Investments Hong Kong RMB500,500,400 60 60 Investment holding
Limited
BEERRAARAA BB AR #500,500,4007C RERR
Runray Holdings Limited The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
B ARER AR AR EBEARS  100ET REER
Sino Action Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$500 100 100 Investment holding
EHREBRAF &b HH5007T REZK
Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property The PRC RMB500,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Limited*
("Tian Jiao") (Note i)
AR(EM)BHEREBRAR & AR #500,000,0007C VS
(TR (Hriti)
Xi'an Mao On Property The PRC US$172,000,000 100 100 Property development
Development Company
Limited* (Note i)
AERZEREBRAR(MZE) + 172,000,000 70 VS
Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property The PRC US$29,900,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i)
HTNEEWERBBR AR (MZ) + 29,900,000 7T NEER
Torch Investment Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
NEREBRATF &b #110,0007T REZK
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 44 X AFIMB AR 2B #)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL BRARBHRE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B3t B HTEN TE s Lk fil TEEK
2021 2020
= —FFE
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEER(£)
Xi'an Zhao Ping Property The PRC RMB1,860,800,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
AR AT FHEBRAR Miti) =+ AR #1,860,800,0007C B
Xi'an China Merchants Jiashi The PRC RMB980,392,157 51 100 Property development
Property Development
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
AL AEERFLERRAF FE AR#980,392,1577C B
(Hi&tiii)
Chongging Zhaoke Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB 10,000,000 51 51 Property development
(Note iii)
ERRMERBRORAMN i) F AR #10,000,00070 NEERE
Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise The PRC US$100,000 51 51 Property management
Management Consulting
Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
LEARERERFNERAR  PE 100,0005 7T nxEE
(Hiztiii)
Guangzhou Baosu (Note iv) The PRC RMB4,000,000 50 - Property management
BEMRE(Hativ) H AR #4,000,0007C NEER
Guangzhou Yueshang (Note iv) The PRC RMB1,000,000 50 - Property management
BMBAE (Hativ) & AR %1,000,0007T nEEE
Nanjing Jinsheng (Note iv) The PRC RMB720,000,000 40 - Property management
HRYE (W) H AE#720,000,0007 NEER
& The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity & R ETEERB - BB EXBBRARX -

is in Chinese.
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44 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note i: The entity is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise.
Note ii: The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture.
Note iii: ~ The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

Note iv:  The entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite
the Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the
equity interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity,
which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

44 RN BB AR 215 &)

Hiati : BRRBINEBELE -
Hiatii - HEATIAEDE -
Btetiii . ERRENAMNE-

Hagiv: ZEBREAARAZMBAR  BAXAFTE
E&Fﬁ&%—rﬁ‘%%E@TﬂEA F R BARRA
RZERBZESEE %%ﬁﬁ;@ﬁ(&f%& © U
Exaﬁ”Z@#&ﬁ%&%

RBERR - ARRBEMEAEET S TE
BEROMBERTE - ZEHBRARKFORHE
BIE o

ZEME A RIE EEEBEHMNT

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FTEXK TEEEMR MEARHA
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
Property development The PRC 30 19
MR HE
Property management The PRC 1 2
MEER h
Hong Kong 3 1
BB
Cruise The PRC 1 1
HAm R
Investment holding Hong Kong 2 2
B EIR B
The BVI 12 3
KBRS
49 28

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the year or at any time during the year which is
held by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED ASBBEARFERED2AEEIE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT BB ARFE
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRENEEEAFIERER 2 AEEHIEE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling (il PNEIEES
interests:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

and principal Voting rights held by  Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entity place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ML/ KL HR PEFFERES 2R
EREE TEEENY FERERZFHRER (B#8) EGEZANT £
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—B--§ T ZB--F —T-TF ZB--§ C—IT-ITH
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR%®TT AR¥Tr ARETx
Shengtong The PRC 49% 49% 285,080 177,933 452,285 892,405
235 H
Guangzhou Baosu The PRC 50% = (1,463) - 1,998,537 =
BMRE H
Pride Oasis The BVI 50% 50% 543,193 677,092 5,604,169 5,251,541
N H
Merchants Nanjing The PRC 49% 49% 131,510 11,426 7,843,286 7,790,793
AEER H

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

BAFERER EHNTEBER

63,977 (54,266) 8,213,858 7,831,169

HBAR
1,022,297 812,185 24,112,135 21,765,908
Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of HEREESAFERER AN EEERE 24
each of the Group's entities that has material non-controlling SUBEMNMEHNTX - TXEEHBER
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated MEREEANLLHFEAN 2R -

financial information below represents amounts before intra-

group eliminations.
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BE—_F_—F+_-FA=+—HIFE

45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 45. iﬁﬁik#ﬁﬂﬁifg¥22ﬁ;‘%#é
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT == PNGIES ST )
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: Hfat
2021 2020
—B-—fF e S8
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Shengtong 23]
Non-current assets FERBEE 301 375
Current assets RBAE 1,826,498 5,995,956
Current liabilities RBAE 903,769 3,869,696
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - 305,400
Equity attributable to owners of the Company BN PN SEL £ 470,745 928,830
Non-controlling interests AR 2 452,285 892,405
Revenue Hezs 3,806,964 2,670,735
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to ARAVEA ANEMEEN R
owners of the Company FEEAE 296,715 185,196
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to TR AR o FE A A
.
non-controlling interests SEBARE 285,080 177,933
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RERRN R EERALE 581,795 363,129
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEER R S - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities R RS RANFE 314,788 4,108,085
Net cash outflow from investing activities RAXBZREREFE (52) (107)
Net cash outflow from financing activities ARG 2 R im b F 8 (1,248,105) (3,354,087)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Re (RE)RAFR (933,369) 753,891
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45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

EMBARFB @

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Htet - (%)

AS BEB E RIEERER

ZAEEFE

2021
—_B2——F
RMB’000
ARMT T

Guangzhou Baosu BMRE
Non-current assets JEMEEE 2,138
Current assets B A E 6,542,647
Current liabilities RBARE 1,705,382
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 842,329
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARAFHEA NG 1,998,537
Non-controlling interests AR RS 1,998,537
Revenue Was -
Loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable to ARAEEAREBERREEMXAE

owners of the Company (1,463)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable to R SRR AR AR

non-controlling interests (1,463)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year AFEBRREEFZERE (2,926)
Net cash inflow from operating activities BERB2RERNFE 1,151,617
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEXBZBRERNFERE 265,936
Net cash inflow RERAFR 1,417,553
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45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 45. iﬁﬁik#ﬁﬂﬁifg¥22ﬁ;‘%#é
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT EMEB R RS ®)

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&)
2021 2020
—E=-—F b ke 3
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Pride Oasis X5
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,295,744 1,275,940
Current assets RBAE 16,707,000 16,356,901
Current liabilities RBAE 5,847,798 6,009,372
Non-current liabilities FRBAIE 946,608 1,120,387
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARAFHRA AL 5,604,169 5,251,541
Non-controlling interests AR 2 5,604,169 5,251,541
Revenue Hezs 5,927,236 4,670,038
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to ARFHRA AEEEF RZEBABE
owners of the Company 543,193 677,092
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to TRy AR R FE i A R 2 EIRA R
non-controlling interests 543,193 677,092
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RERRN R EERALE 1,086,386 1,354,184
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEER R S 190,565 -
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEBZ R RANFR 1,383,613 87,431
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities KEFBZ2RERACRL)FE 1,770,670 (64,471)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEXB 2 REREFE (3,158,099) (214,6006)
Net cash outflow R (3,816) (191,646)
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BE_F_—F+-_A=1—HIFE

45.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Htet - (%)

AS BB EARFERERZAEBHE
EMBARFB @

2021 2020
—E-—F e £3
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARETTT
Merchants Nanjing BEER
Non-current assets FEnBEE 7,620,456 4,715,447
Current assets REVEE 36,814,639 28,967,511
Current liabilities REBAR 24,879,618 19,837,652
Non-current liabilities FRBEHE 6,219,957 666,149
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARFIEA NEEHELS 5,492,234 5,388,364
Non-controlling interests FEEERAE RS 7,843,286 7,790,793
Revenue L& 2,159,820 1,358,476
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to ARFHA ARG REEBARE
owners of the Company 95,241 29,497
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to TR R AR o B AR A R 2 EI AR AR
non-controlling interests 131,510 11,426
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RERRNREEKALE 226,751 40,923
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EENE 2T £a1i 858 - 349,987
Net cash inflow from operating activities REXBZRERAFHR 2,981,811 293,148
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities BAXBZRERA (R L) /FHE 1,647,563 (3,764,476)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BBEXRB 2R (R RAFE (3,994,041) 5,020,790
Net cash inflow RERAFR 635,333 1,549,462

— = —

—= =
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46.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered
into several new lease agreements for the use of office
ranged from 1 to 20 years (2020: 2 to 20 years). On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised RMB95,080,000 (2020:
RMB194,413,000) of right-of-use assets and RMB95,080,000
(2020: RMB194,413,000) of lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets
amounted to RMB142,010,000 (2020: Nil) was transferred to
investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amount due to
associates amounted to RMB323,000,000 (2020: Nil) have been
settled by dividend declared by the associates. Also, capital
injection in associates and joint ventures of RMB1,520,000
(2020: Nil) and RMB114,780,000 (2020: Nil) respectively have
settled through amount due to associates and joint ventures.
Besides, amount due from associates and joint ventures of
RMB1,406,573,000 (2020: Nil) and RMB977,770,000 (2020: Nil)
respectively have been capitalized as registered capital in
the associates and joint ventures. Accordingly, there was no
contractual cash outflow to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, bank and other
borrowings of RMB1,790,933,000 (2020: Nil) and lease liabilities
of RMB283,000 (2020: Nil) were arose from the acquisition of
subsidiaries during the year (details as disclosed in notes 32
and 33). Accordingly, there was no contractual cash inflow to
the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, loans from non-
controlling interests of RMB68,060,000 (2020: RMB196,596,000)
have been capitalised as the registered share capital in the
Group's non-wholly owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, the
capital injection results in no contractual cash inflow to the
Group.
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46. EXFRERS

HE-T-—F+-A=+—HLFE ' ~&
EREARAZRAY AN 12205 (=%
ZEF2FE0F)METOHHEERE - R
HERKBRN  AEERREAREEARYE
95,080,0007T( ZF=F4F : ARK¥194,413,000
T MEEAEARK5080,00T(ZE-F
& AR#194,413,0007T) °

HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HBLEE FH
HEEANRK142,010,000( —E -84 : M)
EEBEEREYE -

BE_T_—F+_A=1tT"BLFE

< Bt & X B 30IB A R #6323,000,0007T (= F =
THF: E)Eﬁﬂmf%'& ERMKREER -
A RBERRRGERFHTEDFIA

Eﬁﬁszoooom_?_?i EIRARE
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BE—F_—F+_-F=+—HIFE

46.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, loans from
non-controlling interests of RMB2,674,515,000 have been
transferred to amount due to non-controlling interests.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the

Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amount
due to intermediate holding companies and fellow
subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,339,443,000 (2020: Nil)
and RMB204,125,000 (2020: Nil) have been settled through
amounts due from intermediate holding companies and
fellow subsidiaries, respectively. Accordingly, there was no

contractual cash outflow to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, loan from a non-
controlling interest of RMB508,796,000 was arose from the
acquisition of Guangzhou Junyao (details as disclosed in note
33). Accordingly, there was no contractual cash inflow to the

Group.

46. ERIBER G (&)

BHE-_T-—S+-_A=+—HILEE - k=
AR E R ARY2,674,515,00070 2 8 A & fF
IR B - At - WEANREREAR
e

HE-_S-—F+-A=+—HItEE ' Eff
FEER AR KRR B AR RED B ARE
1,339,443,000 L (ZZE =T 4F : E)RHAEAE
AR#204,125,000 T(ZZE-FF : E)EEB
FEWEEERARERRXHNBARFIELE -
Hit  WESHBESREAEE -

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—BIFE gk
BEMER(GEERM I E ) EE IR IERR e
HERARK508,796,0007C © HIt » WES L
HERAREH -
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47.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 47. EBAQ BBz Z2ER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE k& 43 804
Investments in subsidiaries KRB REIZKE 10,017 17
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL BT B A B 5K TE 17,582,949 12,399,648
17,593,009 12,400,469
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBAFRIE RS K H b E U R IE 14,464 1,514
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG B 426 2,900,776
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries G ES NG S 548,937 344,357
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS 1,722,719 119,482
2,286,546 3,366,129
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H i fE 5T RRE K e R B 30,807 25,508
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EPNGIE 4,428,601 2,719,615
Amount due to an intermediate holding company <t R 1 f% A =) 7108 573,315 1,440,593
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NI ES GIENGI B 1,680,299 141
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,350,000 3,877,500
Bond payable FERT &S = 1,900,000
10,063,022 9,963,357
Net current liabilities REBEEREE (7,776,476) (6,597,228)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABERE 9,816,533 5,803,241
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITIEE 8,462,550 3,350,000
Net assets EERE 1,353,983 2,453,241
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital N 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note) R (HaE) 1,314,851 2,414,109
Total equity k) 1,353,983 2,453,241
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47.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 47. BBZAQA BB R AT 2ER (#)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Note: Reserves

i . s
Share Translation  Contributed Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
BR4GEE E 5 s F-ON -1 RitEE REARE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFIT AREFT ARMBFIT ARBFIT
At 1 January 2020 RZZT=_TF—HA—H 5,179,352 8,076 46,004 (942,246) 4,291,186
Loss and total comprehensive & RAEE N 2 458
expense for the year - - - (1,251,873) (1,251,873)
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (625,204) - - = (625,204)
At 31 December 2020 RZT_ZTF+=-_A=+—8H 4,554,148 8,076 46,004 (2,194,119) 2,414,109
Loss and total comprehensive  ERX 8 K 2 E R 4%
expense for the year - - - (812,614) (812,614)
Dividend declared 2B RIS (286,644) - - - (286,644)
At 31 December 2021 R-—ZE-_—%+-A=+—H 4,267,504 8,076 46,004 (3,006,733) 1,314,851

T 5% HERBABRATF 287



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LTEUHERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the A THIAEEBERETRERE 2 ZEUNEE R
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEHE @ DHEEEHEE-T—tF —FT—N\F -
published audited financial statements for the year ended 31 Z—Z—NF —Z-_ZFK-_"ZFT-—F+_A=+—

December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 as below. HILFE 2B TS EEZIBHRE
RESULTS 4| Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E--F —Z-TF “TNF —T— N\ S
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T ARET T ARETT ARETTT

REVENUE Wz 25,921,416 18,956,418 19,453,295 11,955,899 17,310,562

PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A& A 3,530,869 3,605,146 5,752,671 3,796,321 5,301,478

Income tax Fii3%: (1,948,003) (2,091,701) (3,052,935) (1,590,809 (2,362,495)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 1,582,866 1,513,445 2,699,736 2,205,512 2,938,983
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER As at 31 December

WRt=A=t-H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

—E--f e Sk 323 ZTNF 2\ “T—tF

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T ARETT ARETT ARETTT

TOTAL ASSETS EEAE 138,727,655 111,025,883 88,421,911 71,270,665 57,817,312
TOTAL LIABILITIES BELE 104,877,058 79,759,049 59,592,344 47,473,637 36,046,086
Net assets BERE 33,850,597 31,266,834 28,829,567 23,797,028 21,771,226
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